
 

 
 
 

 

Agenda 
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 
 

Tuesday, 28 June 2022 at 6.00 pm 
At Council Chamber - Sandwell Council House, Oldbury 

 
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as 

required by Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 

Regulations 2012. 
 

 
1   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

2   Declarations of Interest 
 
Members to declare any interests in matters to be 
discussed at the meeting. 
 

 

3   Minutes 
 
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 17th 
March 2022 as a correct record. 
 

7 - 16 

4   Urgent Business 
 
To consider any urgent business.  
 

 

5   Strategic Risk Register Update Report 
 
To note and comment on the Strategic Risk 
Register Update Report.  
 
 

17 - 42 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

6   Council Improvement Plan 
 
To receive the Improvement Plan and the 
accompanying risk register.  
 

43 - 220 

7   Improvement Plan Risk Register 
 
To receive a report on the Improvement Plan Risk 
Register.  
 

221 - 230 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



 

Kim Bromley-Derry CBE DL 
Managing Director Commissioner 
Sandwell Council House 
Freeth Street 
Oldbury 
West Midlands 
 
Distribution 
Councillor Preece (Chair) 
Councillors Ager, Anandou, Choudhry, L Giles, Hinchliff, Khatun, Melia and 
Hussain 
 
Contact: democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk


 

Information about meetings in Sandwell 
 

 
 

If you are attending the meeting and require assistance to 
access the venue, please contact Democratic Services 
(democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk). 
 

 
 

If the fire alarm sounds, please follow the instructions of the 
officers present and leave the building by the nearest exit. 
 

 
 

Only people invited to speak at a meeting may do so.  
Everyone at the meeting is expected to be respectful and listen 
to the discussion. 

 
 

Agendas with reports with exempt information should be 
treated as private and confidential.  It is your responsibility to 
ensure that any such reports are kept secure.  After the 
meeting confidential papers should be disposed of in a secure 
way. 
 

 
 

This meeting may be recorded and broadcast on the Internet.  
If this is the case, it will be confirmed at the meeting and 
further information will be provided.  
 
 

 
 

You are allowed to use devices for the purposes of recording 
or reporting during the public session of the meeting.  When 
using your devices they must not disrupt the meeting – please 
ensure they are set to silent. 
 

 
 

Members who cannot attend the meeting should submit 
apologies by contacting Democratic Services 
(democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk) 
 

 

All agenda, reports, minutes for Sandwell Council’s meetings, 
councillor details and more are available from our website 

Page 4

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk
mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

 
 
 

 
Minutes of 
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 

 
Thursday 17 March 2022 at 5.00 pm 

at Council Chamber, Sandwell Council House 
 
Present:  Councillor M Gill (Chair) 

Councillors Akpoteni, Allen, Anandou, Z Hussain and O 
Jones. 
Mr Ager (Independent Member). 

 
Also present: Mark Stocks (Audit Manager - Grant Thornton). 
 
Officers: Simone Hines (Director of Finance), Surjit Tour (Director of 

Law and Governance and Monitoring Officer),  
 Elaine Newsome (Service Manager – Democracy), Peter 

Farrow (Audit Services Manager), Narinder Phagura 
(Business Partner – Audit, Fraud, Risk and Insurance), 
Oliver Knight (Counter Fraud Lead). 

 
 
11/22  Apologies for Absence 
 

Apologies were received from Independent Member J Hussain. 
 
 
12/22  Declarations of Interest 
  
  There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
13/22  Minutes 

 
The Committee received the minutes of the meeting held on 11 
January 2022.   
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 
 

In reference to Minute No. 10/22, members requested that the 
word “staff” in the first paragraph, be changed to “individuals”.  
 
Members queried the accuracy of Minute No. 9/22.  Members were 
of the view that a recommendation that the Cabinet commission an 
independent review was missing from the resolution.   
 
The Senior Democratic Services Officer advised that her 
contemporaneous notes showed that, whilst there was a 
discussion around such, no specific motion had actually been 
moved recommending the Cabinet to commission an independent 
review.  In response to a suggestion by the Committee, she also 
advised that, as the discussion had taken place in private session, 
there was no recording available to refer to.   
 
The Director of Law and Governance advised that it was the 
Committee’s role to determine the accuracy of the minutes and the 
Senior Democratic Services Officer’s notes was the most 
contemporaneous record available to support the accuracy of the 
draft minutes now presented.  
 

Resolved that the minutes of the meeting held on 11 
January 2022 are approved as a correct record, subject to 
replacement of the word ‘staff’ with ‘individuals’ in paragraph 
one of Minute No.10/22. 

 
 
14/22 Urgent Business 
 

The Chair agreed that the matter referred to at Minute No. 23/22, 
(Update on the Implementation of Resolutions of 18 March 2021 
(Audit and Governance Assessment Panel Update)) be considered 
as an urgent additional item of business.  
 
The Chair felt that the matter was urgent because this was the final 
scheduled meeting of the 2021/22 municipal year and it was 
possible that the membership of the Committee could change in 
2022/23, so it was important that resolution of outstanding actions 
could be discussed at this meeting.  

 
  

Page 6



 
 

 
15/22 External Audit Report – Value for Money Governance Review 

and Improvement Plan  
 

The Committee noted the contents of the Value for Money 
Governance Review, issued by Grant Thornton on 3 December 
2021.  The report contained three statutory recommendations that 
the Council was legally required to respond to.  The Council had 
therefore received the report at its meeting on 18 January 2022 
and approved an Improvement Plan, which set out how the 
Council would respond to the recommendations (Minute No. 9/22 
of the Council refers).  
 
The external auditor noted that, since the publication of the report, 
the Government had announced that it was considering whether 
intervention was necessary. 
 
A key concern identified by external auditors was the poor 
relationship between officers and members.  A breakdown of trust 
had led to a lack of focus on a number of governance issues and 
an inability to move forward.  It was recognised that progress had 
been made towards resolving matters, particularly since the 
appointments of the current Interim Chief Executive and the new 
Leader of the Council.  However, it was highlighted that the focus 
needed to shift from past issues on to embedding sustainable 
change and service improvement, which would take time.  
 
The Improvement Plan was a living document that mapped out 
actions that were already in place and new actions to address any 
emerging gaps. The Council had also recently undergone an LGA 
Peer Review and a financial management review by the Chartered 
Institute for Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).  The 
findings of all three reviews would be incorporated into a single 
improvement plan, which would be reported to this Committee and 
the Council as appropriate.   
 
If Government decided to intervene, then Grant Thornton would 
discuss with Government what actions needed to be undertaken 
and the frequency of monitoring activity. 

  

Page 7



 
 

 
The Director of Finance reported that a corporate performance 
management framework was being developed, which would 
include a comprehensive set of key performance indicators to 
monitor performance and improvement, and  would be reported 
and monitored through the appropriate committees. 

 
 
16/22 External Audit Annual Audit Letter 
 

The Committee received the annual letter from the Council’s 
external auditors, Grant Thornton, for the financial year ending 31 
March 2020. 
 
The letter had only been issued recently due to delays in finalising 
the 2019/20 financial statements.  It set out the issues 
encountered in finalising the 2019/20 accounts. The external 
auditors had issued a qualified value for money conclusion, mainly 
due to uncertain position with regards to Sandwell Children’s Trust.   
 

 
17/22  Internal Audit Progress Report 

 
The Committee considered an internal audit progress report, which 
detailed matters arising from internal audit work undertaken 
between April 2021 and January 2022 outlining the progress made 
against the delivery of the 2021/22 Internal Audit Plan. 
 
The Committee noted the audits carried out and the level of 
assurance given.  A number of reviews were still underway and 
would be reported upon to a future meeting. 
 
Most reviews of key financial systems had resulted in reasonable 
assurance being given.  However, a review of Capital Accounting 
systems had resulted in no assurance, because of the delay in the 
finalisation and sign off of the 2020/21 accounts, the Council not 
yet having received any of the valuations for 2021/22, and with 
work still being in progress regarding the revaluation of assets, in 
year disposals and capital spend.  Therefore, the planned Capital 
Accounting review was unable to be undertaken.  
 

Page 8



 
 

It had been noted however, that the Council was at present, 
looking to procure a new system that would provide a more 
integrated asset management system that would help to provide 
relevant information to both Finance and Strategic Asset 
Management. 
 
The 2021/22 audit of the Council’s accounts receivable module 
had highlighted that that recommendations made in the previous 
year had still to be fully implemented and this would continue to be 
monitored. 
 
Members were advised that the Strategic Risk Register was the 
appropriate place to document risks in relation to the impact of the 
increase in utility costs, on both council buildings and residents.   
 

 
18/22  Internal Audit Plan 2022/23 

 
The Committee received the Internal Audit Plan for 2022/23 for 
consideration.   
 
The Plan was based on, amongst other criteria, management’s risk 
priorities, as set out in the Council’s own risk analysis/assessment.  
The plan had been designed to, wherever possible, provide 
assurance against those areas assessed with the highest need, 
which determined the frequency of audits. This ensured that key 
themes and areas were looked at on a frequent basis.   
 
The Plan included a high-level review of Procurement and 
contracts, as previously recommended by the Committee.  
 
Also, as previously requested by the Committee (Minute No. 5/22 
of 11 January 2022), representatives from Riverside Housing 
Association would be asked to attend the next meeting to discuss 
the implementation of recommendations arising from recent audits.  
 
Following the pandemic, it was proposed to recommence the 
cyclical review of the governance and financial procedures for 
council maintained schools. However, this would be subject to 
government guidance around the continued management of covid-
19.  
 

Page 9



 
 

The Audit Services and Risk Management Manager, undertook to 
review the way narrative summaries  were presented to 
Committee, in order to incorporate reference to the Three Lines of 
Defence Model wherever appropriate.    
 

Resolved that the Internal Audit Plan 2022/23 is approved. 
 
 
19/22  Counter Fraud Update 

 
The Committee noted an update on the activities of the Counter 
Fraud Team.   
 
The Council continued to take part in the National Fraud Initiative 
programme, which was a two-yearly data matching exercise led by 
the Cabinet Office.   
 
It also referenced to pre-and post-payment checks undertaken in 
relation to covid-19 grant and support payments. This had 
identified £65,000 in overpaid grants which were now the subject 
of recovery action, and a further £530,000 worth of ineligible or 
potentially fraudulent claims had been prevented.   
 
Some of the work carried out by the Counter Fraud Unit had been 
recently featured on the BBC One TV series, Fraud Squad.   
 
A fraud awareness bulletin had been issued to all schools to 
provide them with knowledge and advice from the lessons that had 
been learnt from a previous fraud investigation conducted by the 
council, as well as serving as a reminder for general good 
practices to avoid fraud and misuse of school funds. 

  

Page 10



 
 

 
20/22  Strategic Risk Register Update 

 
The Committee was updated on the profile of the key risks 
currently faced by the Council, and any new risks which had 
emerged since the risk register was last reported in November 
2021. 
 
The risk register was a live document and reflected the Council’s 
risk profile at the time of writing in February 2022. The risks were 
subject to ongoing review to ensure they remained appropriate and 
were correctly assessed in order to aid informed decision making 
and resource allocation. 
 
The register currently contained 21 strategic risks, 11 of which 
were rated Red, six Amber and four Green.  
 
Risk 55 (Implementation of External Review) and Risk 59 
(Corporate Governance) had been consolidated into a new risk 
59a (Improvement Plan) to reflect the consolidation of 
recommendations from the Grant Thornton Value for Money 
Governance Review, the CIPFA review of Financial Management, 
and the LGA Peer Review.  
 
The assessment of Risk 56 (Towns Fund) had reduced from Red 
to Amber, as a result of the work done in developing and 
progressing the business cases for the 16 projects which were all 
on track for submission to government by the deadline of 24 March 
2022.   
 
The rating of Risk 60 (Health and Safety) had been reduced from 
Amber to Green, due to the embedment of the ongoing measures 
in place to manage this risk.   
 
In addition to Risk 59a, two further risks had been added to the 
register – Risk 62 (Climate Change) and Risk 63 (Interim and 
Future Management of Nine of the Council’s Leisure centres).   
 
The Committee noted the measures in place to mitigate risks.  
 
In relation to Risk 21a, which related to compliance with data 
protection legislation, the Director of Law and Governance assured 

Page 11



 
 

members that the Council was compliant, however, application of 
the Data Retention Policy approved by Cabinet in February 2022 
was taking place and robust processes were being developed to 
ensure that the Council only held historical data where there was 
justification.  The risk therefore remained red in recognition of the 
ongoing work.  The Director Law and Governance undertook to 
report to a future meeting on how the Council was carrying out its 
obligations under data protection legislation.  
 
In relation to Risk 4 (Children’s Social Care) it was reported that 
the covid-19 pandemic meant that the full OFSTED inspection 
which was expected in 2020 did not take place as a result of all 
Ofsted inspections being suspended. There had therefore been a 
variation to the contract with the Trust, which now required a 
“Requires Improvement” rating by 2022 (as opposed to 2020).  
Consequently, the target date to be rated OFSTED “Good” had 
also been moved to 2024.   
 
Preparation for a full review of the Service Delivery Contract 
between the Council and the Trust in 2023 was also in hand. This 
was being led by the Director of Children’s Services and involved 
the whole leadership team as well as the Trust.  It was also noted 
that a report was due to presented to the Cabinet on a proposed 
way forward for the recruitment and retention of social work staff, 
in light of national pressures.  
 
In relation to Risk 42a (Cyber Security) members were assured 
that progress was being made to mitigate this risk on an ongoing 
basis, however, it remained Red on the register due to the ongoing 
need to review the measures in place to ensure any new threats 
were being addressed.  
 
 

21/22  Cabinet Forward Plan 
 
The Committee noted the Cabinet’s Forward Plan, which set out 
he key decisions that the Cabinet was due to take at forthcoming 
meetings.   The Plan was presented for information and to give the 
Committee an opportunity to contribution to any items or raise any 
issues with the Executive.  

 
 

Page 12



 
 

22/22  Exclusion of the Public and Press 
 

Resolved that the public and press be excluded from the 
rest of the meeting to avoid the possible disclosure of 
exempt information under Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act, 1972, as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 
relating to information which is likely to reveal the identity of 
an individual. 

 
 
23/22  Update on Implementation of Previous Recommendations  

 
The Committee received an update on the implementation of the 
resolutions made at its meetings held on 18 March 2021 
(reconvened on 18 May 2021) (Minute No 21/21 refers) and 24 
June 2021 (Minute No 25/21 refers).   
 
In respect of resolution (3) of Minute No. 25/21 (of 24 June 2021) 
the Director Law and Governance reported that it had not been 
possible to agree a suitable date with the Chair for the additional 
meeting to take place. 
 
The Committee received an update on the matter. 
 

Resolved that, in reference to Minute No. 21/21(3) of the 
meeting held on 18 March 2021, (reconvened on 18 May 
2021), the Committee feels that it has come to an impasse 
with officers in relation to this matter, which is preventing 
further progress; and therefore recommends that the 
Executive commissions an external review into the matters 
raised in relation to alleged racism and whether it is 
appropriate for the Council to issue an apology to the 
individuals concerned. 
 

Meeting ended at 7.22 pm. 
 
Contact: democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk  
 

Page 13

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

 

Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 
 

28 June 2022 
 
Subject: Strategic Risk Register Update Report  
Director: Director of Finance 

Simone Hines 
Contact Officer: Audit Services Business Partner 

Narinder Phagura 
Narinder_phagura@sandwell.gov.uk 

 
1 Recommendations 

 
1.1 To note and comment on the strategic risks. 
 
2 Reasons for Recommendations  
 
2.1 Effective risk management is a key element of good corporate 

governance, as noted in the council’s Code of Corporate Governance, 
and is essential to the overall performance of the council in meeting its 
corporate plan objectives. Good risk management will ensure that 
resources are used efficiently and effectively and that assets and 
resources are protected against risk in the most efficient way. 

 
2.2 The role of the ARAC is to provide assurance to the Council that it has a 

system of governance, risk management and internal control in place 
and that the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements 
continue to inform decision making throughout the emergency and 
recovery period. 

 
 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5

https://www.proceduresonline.com/sandwell/cs/user_controlled_lcms_area/uploaded_files/TX387%20Code%20of%20Corporate%20Governance%202017.pdf


 

3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  
 

 

Best start in life for children and young people 
People live well and age well 
Strong resilient communities 
Quality homes in thriving neighbourhoods 
A strong and inclusive economy 
A connected and accessible Sandwell  
 
The report details the key strategic risks that need to be 
manged to ensure that they do not negatively impact on the 
delivery of the Corporate Plan objectives. 

 

 

 

 

 
 
4 Context and Key Issues 
 
4.1 This report updates the Committee on the profile of the key risks 

currently faced by the Council since they were last reported in March 
2022.  

 
4.2 The risk register is a live document and reflects the Council’s risk profile 

at the time of preparing this report in June 2022.The risks undergo 
ongoing review to ensure they remain appropriate and are assessed in 
order to aid informed decision making and resource allocation.  
 

4.3 The Strategic risk register does not include all of the risks faced by the 
Council. Other risks are captured within directorate, programme and 
project risk registers in line with the Council’s risk management 
framework. 
 

4.4 The review and assessment of each strategic risk, has been discussed 
with the risk owners and discussed with the Leadership Team and 
Cabinet Members. A summary of the strategic risk register is included at 
appendix A. The following changes are noted since the last update to the 
Committee: 

Page 16



 

 
• Risk 6b- Business Continuity Management has increased due to 

the further actions required as a result of the learning from the 
recent incident within the ICT room which resulted in the temporary 
loss of access to council systems and in particular to SBS. 
 

• Risk 56 – Towns Fund Programme- this risk reflected the risk of 
not meeting the deadline for the submission of full business cases 
for all of the projects within the programme by the due date in 
March 2022. Following the timely submission of all business cases, 
this risk is being closed. A new risk to reflect the next phase of the 
programme will be considered once ministerial decisions have 
been made and funding secured. 

 
• Risk 59a – Council’s Improvement Plan has reduced as a result of 

the requirement being met (as set out in the Directions from the 
Secretary of State for levelling Up, Housing and Communities) for 
the development and implementation of an improvement plan by 
22 June 2022 and the appointment of two Commissioners. 

 
• Risk 63 – Interim and Future Management of Nine of the Council’s 

Leisure Centres – this risk has reduced from red to green as a 
result of an agreement being reached between the council and 
Sandwell Leisure Trust in respect of the provision of services 
during the interim period, while arrangements are put in place to 
secure the delivery of a sustainable future leisure model.   

 
4.5 An update on these risks, including the measures in place to mitigate 

them are included within appendix A. 
  

5 Alternative Options 
 
5.1 Whilst this report does not require a decision and therefore, alternative 

options do not need to be considered, when measures are being 
considered for the mitigation of each of the strategic risks, this takes into 
account any alternative options available. 

 
6 Implications 
 

Page 17



 

Resources: The authority’s budget planning process incorporates 
financial and other resources required to manage the 
authority’s risks and deliver the priorities within the 
corporate plan. 

Legal and 
Governance: 

There are numerous standards applicable to the 
management of risk within the local authority sector. 
Included amongst these is guidance from 
CIPFA/Solace, the British Standards Institute (BSI) 
and a set of joint standards published by the Institute 
of Risk Management (IRM), Alarm (The public sector 
risk management association) and AIRMIC 
(Association of Risk Managers in Industry and 
Commerce). Evidence that robust management of the 
authority’s strategic risks is being undertaken 
demonstrates compliance with these standards. 

Risk: The report itself is an update of the key risks facing 
the Council. 

Equality: As a decision is not being sought in this report, it is 
not necessary to undertake an Equality Impact 
Assessment.  
However, when measures and decisions are being 
considered for the mitigation of risks, risk owners 
must take into account any equalities impact and 
whether an equalities impact assessment is required. 
The Council recognises that its workforce is 
instrumental in assisting the organisation in managing 
the strategic risks noted within this report (as set out 
in Appendix A) and thereby delivering the Council’s 
priorities. As such, the Council must ensure that 
equalities implications and how they affect the 
workforce as well as the wider community are 
considered and underpin all decisions and risk 
mitigating actions.   

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

The management of risk takes into account where 
appropriate, the implications on health and wellbeing 
of our communities. 

Social Value The actions and decisions that are being considered 
for the mitigation of the strategic risks, will take into 
account the meeting of the Council’s social value 
commitments. 

Page 18



 

 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Strategic risk register summary as at June 2022 
 

8. Background Papers 
 
 None 
 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Strategic Risk Register Summary @ May 2022      

Appendix 1 

 

 

 

 
1. Best start in 
life for children 

and young 
people 

     
2. People live 
well and age 

well 

3. Strong resilient 
communities 

4. Quality homes in 
thriving 

neighbourhoods 

5. A strong and 
inclusive 
economy 

6. A connected 
and accessible 

Sandwell 

      

Page 21



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

4 
07/12 

Children’s Social Care 
If the Council does not put in 
place robust arrangements and 
receive appropriate assurances 
to ensure that the Sandwell 
Children’s Trust (SCT) 
addresses the areas of poor or 
inconsistent performance, as 
outlined by Ofsted (and as 
required by the Statutory 
Direction served on the Council 
on 6 October 2016), with rigour 
and pace, then the Council will 
fail in its responsibilities to: 
• Safeguard vulnerable 

children 
• Promote and improve the 

outcomes of children in its 
care 

• Manage any adverse 
financial consequences 
arising from the failure to 
create favourable outcomes 
for children within the 
resources available to it  

• Improve the continued 
adverse affect on the 
Council’s reputation. 

Risk Area – Children’s Services 
Risk Owners – Director of 
Children and Education 
Objectives impacted: 1 and 3 

12 
(red) 

 

 12 
(red) 

 
 

8 
(amber) 

 
Requires 

Improvement  
Outcome of 

ILACS inspection 
July 2022 

 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Performance against KPIs and the improvement 

plan has been good with areas continuing to 
improve. 

• The most recent Ofsted inspection of the 
Fostering service, rated all areas as ‘Good’, 
demonstrating a positive direction of travel. 

• Completion of case file audits and learning from 
the audit and the resultant activity is used to 
ensure practice improvement.  

• Ongoing measured to improve staffing levels 
and recruitment.  

• Contract review commenced in April 2022. 
• The Inspection of Local Authority Children’s 

Services (ILACS) took place in May 2022 and 
the findings will be reported in July 2022 which 
will inform future risk assessments. 

Further actions 
• Action continue to be taken to recruit and retain 

social workers to fill vacant positions. 
• Implementation of actions in respect of SCT, 

arising from the recent Grant Thornton- Value 
for Money Governance Review 2021, including 
continuation of robust governance arrangements 
and joint working on areas such as Early Help 
and Corporate Parenting. 

• Review of the KPIs with a view to updating them 
in line with recent Ofsted inspections, monitoring 
and focussed visits and areas of improvement 
identified through data analysis. 

Operational 
Partnership and 
Strategic 
Partnership 
Boards 
Key 
Performance 
Indicators 
Ofsted 
monitoring visits 
Improvement 
Board 
Sandwell Local 
Safeguarding 
Children’s Board 
Annual Report 
Grant Thornton 
– Value for 
Money 
Governance 
Review 2021 
Reports to 
Scrutiny  
ILACS Ofsted 
inspection July  
2022 
 

P
age 22



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

6a 
10/07 

Emergency Planning 
If the Council does not put in 
place effective arrangements to 
plan and mitigate against 
national, regional or local 
emergencies as defined by 
Part 1 of the Civil 
Contingencies Act 2004 (CCA) 
then this will result in:   
• Actual or anticipated failure 

to adequately protect 
vulnerable persons 

• Failure to support the 
emergency services 

• Loss of public confidence 
in the Council 

• Failure to fulfil Civil 
Contingencies Act 
responsibilities 

 
Risk Area – Neighbourhoods 
and Communities 
Risk owner – Director of 
Borough Economy 
Objectives impacted: All 

8  
(amber) 

 8  
(amber) 

4 
(green) 

 
September 

2022 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Continued governance arrangements and 

regular communications in place to oversee and 
support the Council’s response to managing 
transmission of Covid-19  

• Participation in the West Midlands Local 
Resilience Forum (LRF). 

• Contribution to the Community Risk Register 
(CRR) via the Risk Assessment Working Group. 
The CCR which is approved by the LRF, informs 
the capabilities and plans required of partners. 

• Emergency plans in place including the 
Sandwell Emergency Plan; Rest Centre Plan; 
Humanitarian Assistance Centre Plan; Sandwell 
Flood Plan; Reservoir Plan; Extreme Weather 
Plan; Black Country Excess Deaths Plan; 
Sandwell Borough Evacuation Plan; and the 
Emergency Transport Plan. 

• Emergency plans under review including Media 
Crisis Plan; Recovery Management Plan and 
Local Emergency Mortuary arrangements.  

• A training, testing and exercising programme 
has been approved by the Leadership Team and 
has been delivered to the Leadership team in 
recent weeks. 

Further actions 
• An update on emergency preparedness will be 

offered to Scrutiny and Cabinet with a testing 
and exercise programme also being offered to 
the new Cabinet in 2022/23.  
 
 
 

Community Risk 
Register 
Risk 
assessments 
Emergency 
Committee 
Post incident 
reports 
Test exercises 

P
age 23



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

 6b 
04/18 

Business Continuity 
Management (BCM) 
If the Council does not 
develop, review, monitor and 
test plans and capabilities that 
seek to maintain the continuity 
of key functions in the event of 
an unplanned disruptive 
incident, then it will be unable 
to perform critical business 
functions which will impact the 
provision of Council services 
and result in potential financial 
loss and loss of public 
confidence in the Council. 
 

Risk Area – All Council services 
Risk owner – Director of 
Borough Economy 
Objectives impacted: All  

9 
(amber) 

 

 12 
(red) 

 
 
 

6 
(green) 

 
Dependent 
upon the 

actions required 
following the 

lessons learned 
report 

 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Business continuity plans are in place to mitigate 

the denial of; staff (e.g. illness, industrial action), 
ICT (e.g. software failure, cyber attack), facilities 
(e.g. building closure), stakeholders (e.g. 
suppliers, partners). These plans identify the 
criticality of each council service and the 
arrangements in place to restore services in the 
event of an unplanned incident.  

• The pandemic has continued to provide some 
assurances around the robustness and 
effectiveness of the continuity of key functions 
over the last 18-24 months, through a shift to 
working remotely. 

• Following an incident in the ICT suite in May 
2022 (as a result of which the risk assessment 
has increased to red), the council is revisiting its 
resilience arrangements- in particular in relation 
to its Oracle business system, to ensure robust 
measures are in place to reduce both the 
likelihood and impact of a similar risk 
materialising in the future. This also includes a 
review of the arrangements in place in respect of 
the management and supervision of the 
council’s contractors. 

Further actions 
• A lessons learned report will be prepared 

following the May 2022 ICT incident and will be 
shared with Leadership Team. A set of actions 
including consideration of an offsite server) will 
be agreed to mitigate this risk further.  

• All directorate business plans need to reviewed 
and updated as appropriate to reflect any 
learning from the recent incident. 

Emergency 
Committee 
Resilience team 
reports to 
Leadership 
Team 
Post incident 
reports 
Test exercises 
including cyber 
exercise  

P
age 24



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

21a 
06/15 

Compliance with the Data 
Protection Act 2018 (DPA 
2018), the General Data 
Protection Regulations 
(GDPR) and Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 (FOIA)  
If the Council does not ensure it 
has a robust framework in place 
to comply with the DPA 2018 
(which includes GDPR) or FOIA 
then it faces significant external 
action from the Information 
Commissioner’s Office for failing 
to undertake its statutory 
duty.  Further, failing to comply 
will result in negative public 
reaction and reputational 
damage, significant monetary 
penalties, loss of confidential 
data and potentially legal action. 
 
Risk Area – Legal & 
Governance  
Risk Owner- Director of Law 
and Governance 
Objectives impacted: 3 

12 
(red) 

 

 12 
(red) 

 
 

8 
(amber) 

 
March 2023 

(officers) 
 

June 2023 
(members) 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• The Information Governance Board which is 

chaired by the Senior Information Risk Owner 
(SIRO) meets monthly to monitor progress of the 
information governance (IG) workplan. 

• IG framework sets out the Council’s policies, 
requirements, standards and best practice that 
apply to the handling of information. 

• Information Asset Registers capture the 
information held by the Council service areas. 

• Information champions disseminate, feedback, 
facilitate and co-ordinate IG activity.  

• Annual completion of and compliance with the 
NHS self- assessment toolkit -NHS Digital which 
demonstrates the Council processes in place to 
meet the requirements of the NHS’s data 
protection standards and sharing arrangements. 

• Annual data protection and cyber security 
training for all staff. 

• The Council’s data retention policy has been 
reviewed and updated and was approved by 
Cabinet on 23 February 2022. A programme of 
work to ensure compliance with the approved 
policy and Information Governance Framework 
has commenced across all directorates and 
should be completed by March 2023. 

Further actions 
• A further programme of work to ensure 

compliance by elected members will also 
commence in due course which will be 
completed over the next 12 months.  

• Ensure continued improvement in response 
times of FOI requests. 

Information 
Governance 
Board 
Information 
asset registers 
Information 
Commissioner’s 
Office 
Internal Audit 
review 2019/20 
Information 
incident log 
Cabinet Report 
and Resolutions 

P
age 25



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

27 
06/09 

Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP) and Resource 
Allocation 
Local Government continues to 
operate in an uncertain financial 
environment arising from 
reducing central government 
funding, increasing demand for 
services and Covid-19. If the 
Council is unable to identify 
sufficient savings and put in 
place the necessary policies, 
processes and actions to 
manage pressures and manage 
its plans, then this will impact on 
the Council’s ability to 
effectively discharge its 
statutory responsibility to set a 
balanced budget for future 
years. 
  
Risk Area – Finance & 
Resources  
Risk owner- Director of Finance 
Objectives impacted: All 

12 
(red) 

 

 12 
(red) 

 
 

8 
(amber) 

 
Dependent 

upon 
announcements 

of 
Comprehensive 

Spending 
Review 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Local government settlement announced for one 

year only. 
• A balanced budget for 2022/23 was approved by 

Council on 1 March 2022 and includes savings 
totalling £14.6m for implementation in 2022/23. 

• Directorate and service business plans in place. 
• The recent review by CIPFA on the Council’s 

financial management and governance 
arrangements, noted that the Council is a 
progressive two-star (out of five) authority. The 
review also looked at financial resilience and 
concluded that the Council is financially stable 
and in recent years has been able to contribute 
towards reserves through achieving a balanced 
budget or an underspend.  

• A fundamental review of the MTFP (in line with 
the CIPFA recommendations), is being 
undertaken to ensure the council understands 
the challenges ahead and to ensure that the 
MTFP matches the ambitions of the corporate 
plan and regeneration plans for Sandwell. 

• The review will also include an assessment of 
the impact the high levels of inflation currently 
being experienced, are having on the MTFP. 

• The MTFP will be presented for approval by 
Cabinet in early summer. This will also form the 
basis for the 2023/24 budget and the 
transformation work required for the council’s 
improvement journey. 

Further actions 
• Further details on central government’s 

proposed funding reform and consultations are 
awaited and this, alongside the impact of 

Budget and 
Corporate 
Scrutiny Board 
External Audit 
CIPFA financial 
management 
review 

P
age 26



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

inflation will be considered in 2022/23 to assess 
the impact on the MTFP. 

• Finalisation and implementation of the action 
plan developed following the CIPFA review. 

27a 
06/21 

Future Government Policies 
and Funding Sources 
If the government does not 
provide local authorities clarity 
over the future plans for health 
and social care reforms, the 
public health grant, Better Care 
Fund, future years funding and 
continuing, with one year 
funding settlements then this 
inhibits local authorities to 
effectively manage medium 
term/ three year plans and put 
in place the necessary 
processes and actions to 
manage future pressures. This 
will impact on the Council’s 
ability to deliver sustainable 
services to the people of 
Sandwell and effectively 
discharge its statutory 
responsibility to set a balanced 
budget for future years 
 
Risk Area – Finance   
Risk owner- Interim Chief 
Executive 

Objectives impacted: All 

16 
(red) 

 

 16 
(red) 

 
 
 

8 
(amber) 

 
Dependent 
upon future 
government 

announcements 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
This risk was identified as a consolidation of previous 
risks within the strategic risk register and the Covid-
19 risk register in respect of a national funding 
solution for children’s social care; risks around the 
government only providing local authorities with one 
year settlements, the health and social care reforms; 
government funding for school place planning and 
future funding for public health and the Better Care 
Fund. 
Due to the uncertainties that are currently prevalent 
around all of these funding sources, the risk is 
regularly monitored and continues to be assessed 
as very high. 
Further actions 
The Council continues to horizon scan and consider 
the impacts of potential government initiatives and 
policies on future funding sources and demand for 
council services.  
The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC) is expected to consult on 
reforms to Local Government in Spring/ Summer 
2022 and this will inform the review of the MTFP and 
budget setting process for 2022/23. 

 

P
age 27



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

27b 
10/21 

Budget Monitoring and 
Management 2021/22 
If the Council does not put in 
place effective arrangements to 
monitor and manage the current 
year’s budget to ensure that 
planned savings are achieved 
and efficiencies realised, then it 
will result in overspends and the 
resilience of the Council’s 
finances. 

 
Risk Area – Finance & 
Resources  
Risk owner- Director of Finance 
Objectives impacted: All 

9  
(amber) 

 8 
(amber) 

 

6 
(green) 

 
September 

2022 
 
 
 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• The financial management and monthly 

budgetary control processes in place 
• Regular reporting of financial performance to 

Budget Board, Scrutiny and Cabinet. 
• The year end 2021/22 position was expected to 

report an underspend after adjusting for 
reserves, corporate resources and the 
application of the centrally held Covid -19 grant. 
Whilst this would have informed a reduction in 
the current assessment to green, the 
underspend was higher than expected and as 
such, further work needs to be carried out to 
understand the reason for this and to consider 
any improvements that maybe required to the 
monthly budget monitoring process.  

• As noted above, a review by CIPFA on the 
Council’s financial management and governance 
arrangements was recently completed and an 
action plan is being developed to address the 
recommendations made. 

Further actions 
• The budgetary position for 2022/23 is now the 

focus for budget management and will inform 
the risk assessment going forward.  

• Implementation of the action plan developed 
following the CIPFA review. This will include a 
review of budget monitoring processes and 
reporting and is being supported by an Interim 
Finance Improvement Manager to provide 
additional capacity to progress the action plan. 
 
 

Budget and 
Corporate 
Scrutiny Board 
CIPFA financial 
management 
review 
External Audit 
Annual Internal 
Audit review- 
budgetary 
control 

P
age 28



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

42a 
02/17 

Cyber Security 
If the Council does not have a 
co-ordinated approach and 
understanding of its existing 
cyber security controls or those 
available to it, together with an 
analysis of identifiable gaps, 
then this could expose the 
Council to cyber-attack resulting 
in: 
• The inability of the Council 

to deliver services, 
particularly critical 
services for a significant 
period of time 

• The loss of corporate and 
sensitive personal data 
(including bank details)  

• Enforcement action 
• Significant financial loss 

and 
• Reputational damage 

 

Risk Area – Information 
Governance and ICT 

Risk Owner – Director of 
Business Strategy and Change 

Objectives impacted: All 

12 
(red) 

 

 12 
(red) 

 
 

8 
(amber) 

 
July 2022 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Cyber Board in place which monitors progress 

against the cyber improvement plan.  
• Quarterly updates on all work undertaken to the 

Leadership Team and Corporate Scrutiny Board. 
• Training for all staff through the implementation 

of the meta-compliance annual training  
• Regular communications continue to be sent to 

employees around the risks of remote working, 
password security, etc. 

• Attendance at national C-TAG forum, DLUHC 
cyber clinics and West Midlands Warning, 
Advice and Reporting Point (WARP) where 
members can receive and share up-to-date 
advice on information security threats, incidents 
and solutions. 

• Adoption of the Active Cyber Defence tools 
provided by the National Cyber Security Centre 

• Modern technology is in place to assist in the 
mitigation of this risk 

Further actions 
• Refreshing and replacing technology as it 

reaches end of vendor support 
• Development of a second data centre to 

enhance business resilience. 
• Procurement of new contact centre telephony to 

replace unsupported hardware and software. 
• Certification of the Public Services Network 

which remains in deferred status at present. 
• Working with Leadership Team to develop 

business cases to enable risk based decisions 
to be made in respect of the purchase and 
implementation of further protective technologies 

• Developing and signing off a council wide Cyber 
Security Improvement Programme to enhance 
all elements of cyber security – Identification, 

Cyber Board 
LGA Cyber 
Assessment  

NHS Digital 

PSN certification 

 

P
age 29



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

Protection, Detection, Response and Recover 
phases 

• Expanding the current cyber team in ICT to 
provide additional workforce capacity and skills 
to manage cyber security 

• Utilising our Local Digital Cyber Fund capital 
award to address high priority improvements 
across the ICT infrastructure 

• Supporting Resilience Team to improve all 
service area business continuity plans  

Submission of the financial business cases over the 
coming months will enable these to be built into the 
budget planning for 2023/24 and as such a target 
date of July 2022 is appropriate.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

50 
01/18 

Sandwell Aquatic Centre 
If the Council fails to deliver this 
project to scope, timescales and 
cost, then this will result in 
significant reputational damage 
to the Council. 

 

Risk Area – Regeneration 
Risk Owner – Director of 
Regeneration and Growth 
 

8 
(amber) 

 

 8 
(amber) 

 
 

4 
(green) 

 
Summer 2023 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Project governance and management 

arrangements in place 
• Work on site continues to progress well with 

handover of the site to the Council from the main 
contractor Wates completed in April 2022. 

• The Aquatics Facility has been delivered on time 
and on budget 100 days before the 
Commonwealth Games starts. Two successful 
test events have been conducted in the facility. 
The Council and its partners have received 
positive media coverage of this achievement. 

Project Board 
Commonwealth 
Games 
Organising 
Committee 

P
age 30



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

Objectives impacted: 2, 5 and 
6 

• A Venue Use Agreement, which is the contract 
between the Council and the Organising 
Committee has also been finalised. This sets out 
the obligations of both parties on the use of the 
facility during the period of the agreement. 

• A ‘Prep the Pool’ test event was held by 
Birmingham 2022 Commonwealth Games in 
May. The event tested some elements of the 
local area traffic and parking plan proposed for 
the Games.  

Further actions 
• The Legacy Phase of construction which starts 

after the Commonwealth Games finish is to 
provide the local leisure facilities for Sandwell 
residents and will complete in Summer 2023. 
Given current market pressures in the 
construction industry the risk of this project 
remains Amber. 

53 
04/18 

Oracle e-Business Suite 
(previously Business 
Management System) 
If the appropriate project 
governance arrangements are 
not put in place to ensure that 
the project is delivered to time, 
scope and budget, then this 
may result in: 

• The Council’s business 
system being unsupported 

• Inability to transform 
services that would enable 
processes to be more 
efficient  

12 
(red) 

 12 
(red) 

8 
(amber) 

 
April 2023 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• The project has been temporarily paused to 

enable the council to take stock and have a 
clearer understanding of where the project is at 
and to enable it to have the appropriate focus 
and resource for it to be implemented 
successfully.  

• Project management and governance 
arrangements continue to be in place including a 
Project Board, team and a project sponsor.  

• The project has experienced significant delays 
as well as significant cost overruns and a 
number of issues have been highlighted in the 
Grant Thornton governance review. 

• At its meeting on 13 April 2022, Cabinet 
approved renewal of the existing contract for 

Project Board  
Grant Thornton 
– Value for 
Money 
Governance 
Review 2021 

P
age 31



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

• Non compliance/ 
misalignment with other 
Council policies and 
projects such as 
Organisational 
development, the digital 
strategy, Work Place Vision 
and the IT transformation 
programme.  

 

Risk Area – Finance & 
Resources  

Risk Owners – Director of 
Finance   

Objectives impacted: All 

Oracle business suite software until 30 April 
2023. 

Further actions 
• Implementation of the actions agreed from the 

Value for Money Governance Review for this 
project.  

• Completion of the project review prior to 
restarting in July 2022.  
 

 

54 
05/21 

Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities (SEND) 
If the Council is not able to 
appropriately support children 
with Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities within the 
budget available, the impact on 
their life chances will be 
affected, the Council will likely 
be subject to increased 
Tribunals, and the Council’s 
reputation will be adversely 
impacted. 
 
Risk Area – Children’s Services 

Risk Owners –– Director of 
Children and Education 
Objectives impacted: 1 and 3 

12 
(red) 

 12 
(red) 

8 
(amber) 

 
September 

2022 
 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Programme Board and project team established 

to deliver the new framework to ensure new 
SEND Transport contracts are in place for 
September 2022 

• The new framework encompasses 
recommendations from Children’s Services and 
Education Scrutiny Board review and Grant 
Thornton’s, Value for Money Governance review 
ensuring the focus remains on quality of 
provision for children and their families but 
builds in financial and service resilience.  

• An action plan is in place and is monitored to 
ensure it delivers on the outcomes required.  

• The procurement tender exercise for a new 
contract(s) to commence in September 2022 
was launched in May 2022. 

SEND Strategic 
and Operational 
Groups 
SEND Transport 
Working Group 
Scrutiny Board 
Audit and Risk 
Assurance 
Committee 
Internal Audit 
Review 
Grant Thornton 
– Value for 
Money 
Governance 
Review 2021 

P
age 32



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

• The Council’s Children’s Services and Education 
Scrutiny Board carried out a review into SEND 
transport which was considered by the Board. 
Recommendations were made to Cabinet and 
responses have been received covering the 
commissioning of SEND Transport for the end of 
the current extended contract period, matters 
relating to the longer-term delivery of SEND 
Transport and other, more general, 
recommendations on the topic. 

• Reviews into the procurement process for SEND 
transport have also been conducted by the 
Council’s Internal Audit service and also by the 
Council’s, Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 
(ARAC). The Council’s external auditors Grant 
Thornton also considered this as part of their 
recent Value for Money Governance Review. 

56 
04/21 

Towns Fund Programme 
If the Council fails to get submit 
timely business cases for the 
towns fund programme by 
identifying suitable projects, 
preparing robust full business 
cases then this will result in the 
inability to regenerate our town 
centres, create sustainable 
economic growth and create 
long term economic prosperity, 
and also reputational harm to 
the Council. 
 

Risk area- Regeneration and 
Growth 

Risk owner – Director of 
Regeneration and Growth 

8 
(amber) 

 Green 
 

Closed 

n/a Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Robust governance in place to oversee the 

programme including a Town Deal Board 
(superboard) and three Local Boards aligning to 
the town deal areas.  

• The Council is the Accountable Body for the 
Town Deal funding. The Director of 
Regeneration and Growth chairs a Towns Fund 
Accountable Body Officers Group (which is also 
attended by the Director of Finance and officers 
from procurement and legal as well as all project 
leads) to review risks and provide a forum for 
resolution of issues, as well as seeking 
assurances on the management of risk.  

• Regular engagement with advisors from DLUHC 
• Programme management arrangements in place 

including appointment of a permanent 
programme manager, programme risk register 

Town Deal 
Board 
Department Of 
Levelling Up, 
Housing and 
Communities 
(DLUHC) 
Audit and Risk 
Assurance 
Committee 
Deep Dive Jan 
2022 
Scrutiny 
Reviews 
Towns Fund 
Assurance 
Panel 
 

P
age 33



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

Objectives impacted – 2, 3, 4, 
5 and 6 

and project risk registers for agreed business 
cases. 

• Towns Fund Assurance Panel in place 
• All 16 business cases were submitted by the 

due date of 24 March 2022 and an outcome on 
each case is now awaited. 

Further actions 
• Following approval of the business cases, the 

programme will move into a new phase and a 
new programme risk (risk 56a) will be identified 
for the next phase of the programme. 
 

 
 

57 
06/21 

New Operating Model 
If the Council does not put in 
place effective arrangements to 
support new working styles for 
employees this could result in a 
detrimental impact on the 
health, well-being and 
motivation of employees as well 
as having a negative impact on 
the productivity and attendance 
of the workforce and effective 
delivery of key frontline 
services.  
 

Risk area- Transformation 

Risk owner – Director of 
Business Strategy and Change 

Objectives impacted - All 

6 
(green) 

 6 
(green) 

6 
(green) 

 
Achieved 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Staff, Managers and Trade Unions actively 

engaged and contributing to the new operating 
model.  

• Regular communication and engagement with 
all stakeholders is ongoing. 

• Existing HR policies and procedures are in place 
that provide the safety net and guidance, and 
where appropriate, a review of corporate policies 
in relation to working from home with 
amendments made as appropriate to ensure the 
right support is available to employees in the 
new operating model, is also underway. 

• Clear and managed health and safety policies 
and practices and risk assessments being in 
place. 

• The employee engagement survey was 
circulated to all employees in February 2022. 
Analysis of the employee responses is currently 
underway. 

Further actions 

Work Place 
Vision Board 
Employee 
Engagement 
Survey 2022 

P
age 34



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

• Once the analysis is completed, the results will 
be reported to Leadership Team, directors and 
service managers and action plans will be 
drafted to implement any areas for improvement. 

• Consideration of a corporate solution and 
policies to support ongoing working from home. 

58 
06/21 

Equalities 
If the Council fails to meet its 
legal obligations in respect of 
the Equality Act 2010 and the 
Public Sector Equality Duty 
ensuring fairness is adhered to 
and is unable to demonstrate 
and evidence compliance with 
its obligations, then this will 
result in potential legal 
consequences for non 
compliance, reputational harm 
to the Council as well as 
potential impact on recruitment 
and retention. 

Risk area- Legal 

Risk owner – Director of Law 
and Governance 

Objectives impacted - 5 

 

9 
(amber) 

 9 
(amber) 

6 
(green) 

 
March 2023 

 

Current, Ongoing Controls and Further actions 
• An Equalities Commission has been set up with 

agreed Terms of Reference and Chair. 
• The Commission will report to the Leader of the 

Council and the interim Chief Executive. 
• Three Stakeholder Groups, also with Terms of 

Reference have been set up including an Ethnic 
group; LGBT+ group and a Disabilities 
stakeholder group. A fourth group in respect of 
Women has also now been set up. 

• Funding has been secured for six posts and the 
recruitment process is underway, with five posts 
recruited to already.  

• A review of the Equality policy will be carried out 
and will include the development of an equality 
strategy. 

• An action plan has been developed based on 
feedback provided by employees across the 
Council along with gaps identified in the 
workforce diversity data as well as best practice 
put forward by other public-sector organisations.  

Employee 
Engagement 
Survey 2022 
Equalities 
Commission 

P
age 35



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

• A robust governance framework to help monitor 
and review the objectives and actions in the plan 
are also in place. 

• An Equalities Calendar has been developed and 
implemented that details many EDI events to 
raise awareness of the agenda. 

• Various events such as Black History Month, 
LGBTQ+ History Month have been successfully 
delivered leading to improved awareness and 
understanding. 

• The council is engaging with WMCA in relation 
to its Race Equalities taskforce. 

59a 
02/22 

Council’s Improvement Plan 
If the Council does not put in 
place and successfully 
implement an improvement plan  
to address the concerns raised  
by the Secretary of State in 
respect of the Council’s best 
value duty and the 
recommendations made by the 
recent external reviews carried 
out by the Council’s external 
auditors, Grant Thornton, 
CIPFA and the LGA Peer 
Review then this may result in a 
loss of confidence in the 
Council’s corporate governance 
arrangements, government 
intervention, future audits 
providing a qualified opinion, a 
lack of trust in the Council’s 
ability to deliver its corporate 
priorities and reputational harm 
to the Council.  

12 
(red) 

 8  
(amber) 

 

8 
(amber) 

 
June 2022 

 
4 

(green) 
 

tbc once phase 
2 of the 

improvement 
plan agreed 

Current Controls  
This risk reflects and consolidates the government 
intervention as well as the findings and 
recommendations arising from recent reviews 
including the Grant Thornton – Audit Findings 
Report 2019/20, Grant Thornton - Value for Money 
Governance Review 2021, CIPFA Financial 
Management review and the LGA Peer review. 
• Two Commissioners have been appointed to 

oversee the improvement journey and to 
address the longstanding issues identified by the 
Grant Thornton review. The Commissioners will 
report directly to the Secretary of State on the 
improvement progress, with the first report to be 
submitted within three months.  

• A new performance management framework 
was approved by the council in April 2022 to 
help monitor performance and track progress on 
the delivery of the strategic outcomes in the 
Corporate Plan.  

• A high level improvement action plan has been 
approved by full council on 7 June 2022. 

Grant Thornton- 
Audit Findings 
Report 2019/20 
Grant Thornton 
– Value for 
Money 
Governance 
Review 2021 
CIPFA Financial 
Management 
and Governance 
Review 2021 
LGA Peer 
Review 2022 
Audit and Risk 
Assurance 
Committee 

P
age 36



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

Risk area- All services 

Risk owner – Managing Director 

Objectives impacted - All 

Funding to implement the actions and deliver the 
improvement plan has been set aside.  

The above measures have resulted in the reduction 
of the assessment of this risk. 
Further actions 
• A further detailed report on the progress against 

the improvement plan to be submitted to the 
Secretary of State. 

• Implementation and monitoring of the progress 
made against the plans. 

60 
04/20 

Health and Safety 
If the Council does not allocate 
resources and put effective 
arrangements in place to 
support, protect its residents 
and workforce and the people 
they come into contact with then 
there is a potential risk to 
health, wellbeing and life, 
resulting in negative 
reputational impact and also 
potential for future litigation 
claims against the Council. 

Risk Area – Human Resources 

Risk Owner – Director of 
Business Strategy and Change 
Objectives impacted: All 

4 
(green) 

 4 
(green) 

4 
(green) 

 
Achieved 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Monitoring through staff surveys and manager 

briefings the levels of wellbeing in the workforce 
and the borough. 

• A suite of preventative measures which include 
the wellbeing hub for employees with 
information and assistance on various matters 
including mindfulness, stress management, 
physical activities, etc. 

• Support measures the Council has put in place 
to ensure that people are signposted to 
pathways to seek self help and therapy as 
required. This includes existing mental health 
strategies such as CAMHS, providing capacity 
and funding through grants to the voluntary 
community sector to ensure local provision is 
available for all. 

• A corporate Health and Safety Management 
Board has been established to provide 
leadership team a clear oversight of 
organisational performance on Health and 
Safety and the actions being taken to promotion 
of health and safety in the workplace. 

 

Staff surveys 
Team briefs 
HR data 
Scrutiny Mental 
Health Services 
review 

P
age 37



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

61 
10/21 

Partner Organisations / 
Contractors Service Delivery 
The Council works closely with 
partners and contractors to 
provide services to its residents 
and businesses. 
In the event Partner 
organisations or contractors do 
not provide the required level of 
service to the public this may 
result in: 
• Efficient / good value for 

money / high quality 
services not being 
delivered  

• Enforcement action 
• Significant financial loss 

and 
• Reputational damage 

 

Risk Area – All Services 

Risk Owner – Interim Chief 
Executive and Leadership Team 
Objectives impacted: All 

12 
(red) 

 12 
(red) 

8 
(amber) 

 
Sept 2022 

Current Controls  
• Leadership Team is progressing a reporting 

structure for the Council’s key contracts and 
partnership arrangements  

• Arrangements for scrutiny consideration of the 
Council’s key contracts is in progress. 

Further Actions 
• Identification of the Council’s key partners and 

contracts through the Council’s procurement 
system. 

• Establishment of consistent contract 
management for both significant capital and 
service contracts. 

• Review of the current arrangements in place for 
each key contractor to ensure they remain fit for 
purpose and that the partnership objectives are 
aligned to the refreshed corporate plan. 

• Annual review and update of contract significant 
contract key performance indicators. 

• Implementation of the recommendations from 
the Economy, Skills, Transport And Environment 
Scrutiny Board review of the performance and 
management of the waste partnership contract - 
11 February 2022, which were reported to 
Cabinet on 23 February 2022. 

 
 
 

Grant Thornton 
– Value for 
Money 
Governance 
Review 2021 
CIPFA Financial 
Management 
and Governance 
Review 2021 
LGA Peer 
Review 2022 
Economy, Skills, 
Transport And 
Environment 
Scrutiny Board 
review of the 
performance 
and 
management of 
the waste 
partnership 
contract - 11 
February 2022 

P
age 38



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

62 
01/22 

Climate Change 
Failure to achieve the Council’s 
commitments in relation to 
Climate Change, including the 
pledge to make Council 
activities (corporate buildings 
(excluding housing and 
commercial estate), fleet, 
schools and street lighting) net-
zero carbon by 2030 may result 
in: 
• reputational damage 
• financial impact 
• increased demand for 

Council resources (in the 
event of extreme weather) 
and 

• a loss in public confidence. 
In addition, managing the 
effects of climate change will 
also have significant financial 
impact which the Council will 
need to address. 
 
Risk Area – All Services 

Risk Owner – Director of 
Regeneration and Growth 
Objectives impacted: All 

12 
(red) 

 12 
(red) 

8 
(amber) 

 
2023/24 

 

Current Controls  
• Climate Change strategy 2020- 2041 in place 

which sets out the 2030 target for the Council.  
• Member steering group in place to oversee 

implementation of the climate change action 
plan. 

• Climate change champions in place (officer 
level) and a Cabinet Member and member 
advisor champions in place.   

• An action plan for implementing the strategy was 
approved by Cabinet on 23 March 2022.  

• Establishment of programme governance 
arrangements, including the Cabinet approval to 
the appointment of cross party membership to 
the Climate Change Committee to monitor the 
implementation of the action plan, A Climate 
Change Programme Board (represented by 
service managers from across the Council) will 
lead on measures within the action plan.  

Further Actions 
• Gap analysis to be conducted to assess the 

councils’ ability to implement the action plan, 
followed by a report on available options which 
will be addressed in 2023/24. 

• The delivery of the action plan is the key 
measure that determines the current risk 
assessment. The deliverability of the Plan is 
heavily dependent upon future government 

Climate Change 
Programme 
Board 
Member 
Steering Group 
Economy, Skills, 
Transport And 
Environment 
Scrutiny Board 
review – Climate 
Change 
Implementation- 
March 2021 

P
age 39



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
risk 

score 
(Feb 
2022) 

Movement 
in risk 
score 

Current 
risk score 

(June 
2022) 

Target risk 
score and date 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions t be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

initiatives and the availability of financial 
resources which will be the key driver in 
achieving the Council’s 2030 target. 

 
 

63 
02/22 

Interim and Future 
Management of Nine of the 
Council’s Leisure Centres  
The Council works closely with 
its partner Sandwell Leisure 
Trust and has terminated its 
management agreement 
governing this delivery through 
a Cabinet report, and notice 
served on 18th February 
2022.  There is a risk of service 
loss during the transitional 
period while a new operational 
model is established, along with 
the risks below: 
• value for money / high 

quality services not being 
delivered   

• Significant financial loss 
and 

• Reputational damage  
 
Risk Area – Leisure and Sport 

Risk Owner – Director of 
Borough Economy and 
Leadership Team 
Objectives impacted: All 

12 
(red) 

 4 
(green) 

4 
(green) 

 
Achieved and 

closed 
 

Current Controls   
• SLT has agreed to continue to deliver services 

during the termination period and as such the 
risk is now closed. 

• The Council is reporting the options for leisure 
management of this portfolio of 9 leisure 
centres.  The progress of this work is contained 
within the Council’s single improvement plan. 

• Partnership working with SLT around 
communications and transition planning have 
removed the need to consider step in 
arrangements and have resulted in the reduction 
of the risk assessment and closure of the risk.  

• A series of workshops for Cabinet have taken 
place to progress an options report with a view 
to Cabinet selecting the preferred option in June 
2022.  

• Retained consultant support around legal and 
leisure support.  

 
Further Actions  
• Implement project plan of preferred option. 
• Progress transition planning and 

communications with SLT. 
• Prepare full transition plan with inclusion of all 

data requirements from SLT. 

Grant Thornton 
– Value for 
Money 
Governance 
Review 2021  
CIPFA Financial 
Management 
and Governance 
Review 2021  
LGA peer 
Review 2022  

 

P
age 40



 

 
 

 
 
Report to Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee 
 
 

28 June 2022 
 
 
Subject: Improvement Plan 
Director: Managing Director 

Kim Bromley-Derry 
Contact Officer: Strategic Lead – Service Improvement 

Kate Ashley 
Kate1_ashley@sandwell.gov.uk 
 
Senior Lead – Service Improvement 
Rebecca Jenkins 
rebecca_jenkins@sandwell.gov.uk 
 

 
1. Recommendations 

 
1.1. That Audit and Risk Assurance Committee receive the Improvement 

Plan agreed by Council on 7 June 2022 and the accompanying risk 
register as a basis for work planning during 2022-23. 

 
2. Reasons for Recommendations  
 
2.1 On 22 March 2022 the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and 

Communities announced an intervention package and a set of 
Directions to ensure the council was able to comply with its best value 
duty under Part 1 of the Local Government Act 1999. These Directions 
were in-part influenced by the Grant Thornton report following their 
Value for Money Governance Review of December 2021. 
 

Page 41

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Kate1_ashley@sandwell.gov.uk
mailto:rebecca_jenkins@sandwell.gov.uk


 

2.2 On 7 June 2022 Council approved an Improvement Plan that combines 
the actions to address not only the Grant Thornton Review, but also the 
findings of the CIPFA Financial Management Review (January 2022) 
and the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge (March 2022). The 
Improvement Plan provides the organisation with a clear direction for its 
improvement journey that will enable the continued delivery of the 
strategic priorities in the Corporate Plan 2021-2025. As the 
Improvement Plan is a response to the statutory direction of the 
Secretary of State, it is the responsibility of Council to formally approve 
the Plan.  

 
2.3 The Improvement Plan includes mechanisms for governance and 

assurance. These mechanisms will enable senior officers and members 
to manage the successful delivery of the Improvement Plan, whilst also 
providing all staff, members, the public and other stakeholders with 
assurance on the progress of our improvement journey. It is recognised 
that the Improvement Plan will be a living document, one that will need 
to evolve over time to respond to emerging intelligence and situations.  

 
3. How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan? 
 
3.1. Sandwell Council’s Improvement Plan focuses on the governance 

arrangements of the council and areas of improvement across the 
organisation. The underpinning objective of the Improvement Plan is to 
ensure that the council is able to deliver on the aims and priorities as 
set out in the Corporate Plan. The deliverables set out in this 
Improvement Plan will achieve long-term sustainable improvements in 
how the council operates and is able to make effective decisions 
focused on improving outcomes for residents and experiences of 
service users. Therefore, this impacts on the council’s ability to deliver 
all the objectives in the Corporate Plan.  

 
 

 

Best start in life for children and young people 

 

People live well and age well 

Page 42



 

 

Strong resilient communities 

 

Quality homes in thriving neighbourhoods 

 

A strong and inclusive economy 

 

A connected and accessible Sandwell  

 
4. Context and Key Issues 
 
4.1. Background 
 
4.1.1. For a number of years, the council has experienced ongoing 

governance issues that have hindered the organisation from both 
moving forward and seizing opportunities, despite the desire and 
ambition to do so. 

 
4.1.2. As well as successfully responding to the COVID-19 pandemic to 

support our residents and businesses, the council has continued to 
deliver high quality services over the period leading up to the Grant 
Thornton Value for Money Governance Review and beyond. Significant 
progress has been made on delivery the strategic priorities set out in 
the Corporate Plan, as reported to Cabinet on 23 March 2022.  
 

4.1.3. Since May 2021, a number of key changes have moved the council 
forward on its improvement journey including the refresh of the strategic 
framework in the light of the pandemic, the appointment of an interim 
Chief Executive in August 2021, and a new Leader in November 2021. 
The new permanent leadership team structure is now resulting in 
tangible strides forward and greater stability which was recognised in all 
of the external reviews.  

 

4.2 Value for Money Governance Review 
 

4.2.1 The council’s external auditor Grant Thornton conducted a Value for 
Money Review into the council’s governance arrangements over the 

Page 43



 

period August to October 2021 and reported their findings to Full Council 
in January 2022. The report is attached at Appendix 1. 
 

4.2.2 Grant Thornton recognised that over the preceding few months, the 
council has made progress towards resolving matters and improving the 
governance arrangements in place, and it is important that these 
changes are embedded.   
 

4.2.3 Grant Thornton identified three statutory and five key recommendations 
that relate to the overarching governance of the organisation. A further 
37 improvement recommendations were identified which related to the 
individual key lines of enquiry of the review.  
 

4.2.4 In response to the Grant Thornton review Council approved an 
Improvement Plan in January 2022 to address all 45 recommendations 
in the report as well as reporting mechanisms to ensure progress is 
managed effectively.  
 

4.2.5 The first quarterly progress report of the Governance Improvement Plan 
was made to Cabinet on 13 April 2022. This report demonstrated that 
the council had taken action to address the urgent issues highlighted in 
the Grant Thornton review, and were establishing the mechanisms to 
secure longer-term improvement.  
 

4.2.6 Since the publication of the Improvement Plan to address the 
recommendations of the Grant Thornton Value for Money Governance 
Review, the council has also received the findings of the CIPFA 
Financial Management Review (January 2022) and LGA Corporate Peer 
Challenge (March 2022). 

 

4.3 CIPFA Financial Management Review  
 

4.3.1 CIPFA were commissioned by the council to undertake a review of the 
financial management and governance arrangements using the 
Financial Management Model. The intention of the review was to 
contribute to the development of the council’s financial management 
operation and arrangements. It assessed the council’s financial 
management capability, its internal processes, and operations. It also 
examined how the council plans its future financial management. 
 

Page 44



 

4.3.2 The report from CIPFA (Appendix 2) set out that the council at present is 
financially stable and in recent years has been able to contribute towards 
reserves through achieving a balanced budget or an underspend, but 
that the authority has previously lacked ambition and innovation and has 
a very traditional approach to financial management. 
 

4.3.3 The scoring process generated an overall star rating between one and 
five, five being the highest. Sandwell achieved an overall rating of two 
stars and is considered to be a progressive two-star authority with an 
encouraging direction of travel. CIPFA made 14 recommendations which 
have been incorporated into the formation of the single Improvement 
Plan. 
 

4.4 LGA Corporate Peer Challenge 
 

4.4.1 The council invited the LGA to conduct a Corporate Peer Challenge in 
late January/early February, focused around five areas which are 
recognised as critical to councils’ performance and improvement: 

• Local priorities and outcomes 
• Organisational and place leadership 
• Governance and culture 
• Financial planning and management; and 
• Capacity for improvement 
 

4.4.2 The Peer Challenge Team also took an in-depth look at children’s 
services and the place agenda.  
 

4.4.3 The review found that there is much to be excited about in Sandwell. It 
recognised that our local operational relationships are well developed, 
and that these have been reinforced and strengthened during our 
response to the pandemic. The review also emphasised the positive 
changes that had already been achieved. 
 

4.4.4 The Peer Challenge report (Appendix 3) included nine 
recommendations, and raised a series of improvement points for longer 
term consideration. As with the recommendations of the other reviews, 
these have been incorporated into the development of the single 
Improvement Plan. 

 

Page 45



 

4.5 Government Intervention  
 

4.5.1 On 22 March 2022 the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities announced an intervention package and a set of Directions 
to ensure the council was able to comply with its best value duty under 
Part 1 of the Local Government Act 1999. The Directions and an 
explanatory memorandum are at Appendix 4 and 5 respectively.  
 

4.5.2 The intervention package included the requirement for the development 
and implementation of an Improvement Plan within the first three months 
following the Directions notice and the appointment of two 
Commissioners: 

• A Managing Director Commissioner, whose responsibilities 
include, but are not limited to, giving direction and leadership to the 
delivery of the improvements which the council is required to make; 
and 

• an Assistant Commissioner whose responsibilities include, but are 
not limited to, overseeing the cultural change necessary at the 
council.  
 

4.5.3 The Commissioners have powers to make sure that the council “has 
made sufficient improvement within the next two years to be able to 
comply with its best value duty on a sustainable basis”. The 
Commissioners will be providing six-monthly reports to the Secretary of 
State on the progress that the council is making. 

 

4.5.4 The government’s intervention package requires the preparation and 
agreement of an Improvement Plan that will: 

• deliver rapid and sustainable improvements in governance, 
leadership and culture in the council; 

• secure improvement in relation to the proper functioning of the 
scrutiny and associated audit functions; and 

• secure continuous improvement in all services. 

 

4.5.5 The Statutory Directions set out that the council may draw upon 
improvement plans that have been prepared before the date of 
intervention.  
 

Page 46



 

4.5.6 There are several factors that will inform any decision by the Secretary 
of State to end the period of government intervention at Sandwell 
Council, and this decision will be based on reports received from the 
Commissioners. Some of these factors include: 

• That the council can demonstrate sustainable improvements in 
governance and scrutiny of decision making; 

• That a permanent Chief Executive has been successfully appointed; 
and 

• The Council has reached a decision on whether to implement a four-
yearly election cycle. 

 

4.5.7 Actions to address these areas are incorporated within the Improvement 
Plan. 

 
4.6 Specific Recommendations from External Reviews relating to Audit  

 
4.6.1 The Statutory Directions set out that the Council must secure 

improvement in relation to the proper functioning of the scrutiny and 
associated audit functions. 
 

4.6.2 In the Value for Money Governance Review, Grant Thornton set out 
specific recommendations relating to audit as follows: 
 

• Key Recommendation 7: Members in key statutory roles, in 
particular in relation to Cabinet, scrutiny, standards and audit, need 
to be provided with effective development training and support. 
The Member development programme should be reviewed to 
ensure corporate governance forms part of the training for 
members with governance roles 

• Improvement Recommendation I4: Officer and Member 
Relationships – the forward plan of the Cabinet should be shared 
with the Audit Committee and Scrutiny Board to help structure their 
agenda planning 

• Improvement Recommendation I34: Audit Committee – now that 
the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee has agreed the action to 
bring this long-standing matter to resolution [review into the 
Wragge Report], it will be important that – as the Audit and 
Governance Panel recognised – the Council manages its position 

Page 47



 

so that the matter does not resurface, so that it can move on and 
focus on its corporate objectives 

 
4.6.3 The CIPFA Financial Management Review and LGA Corporate Peer 

Challenge did not make any direct recommendations around the role 
and function of audit.  

 
 
4.7 Development of the Improvement Plan  
 
4.7.1 The Improvement Plan attached at Appendix 6 has been built on:  

  
• the recommendations from all three external reviews set out in 
paragraphs 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4;  
• the actions already identified within the Governance Improvement 
Plan approved by Council in January 2022; and   
• the specific requirements set out in the statutory Directions to form 
a single Improvement Plan.   

  
4.7.2 Following a review of all the recommendations from the external reviews, 

key themes have been identified that set the focus for the council’s 
improvement journey:  
  

• Organisational Culture  
• Corporate Oversight  
• Strategic Direction  
• Decision Making  
• Procurement and Commercial  
• Partnerships and Relationships  

  
4.7.3 Each theme has a clear set of objectives, milestones, deliverables, and 

measures of success which will be used to track our progress against 
expected timescales and achievements.  
 

4.7.4 Supporting each theme is a detailed delivery plan setting out activity to 
achieve the deliverables, responsible officer and timescales. The 
delivery plan also sets out how specific actions address 
recommendations in the various external reviews, thereby enabling 
direct reporting for different audiences as required.  
 

Page 48



 

4.7.5 In recognition that there are elements of activity that require more design 
before confirming our approach, that there will be other issues arising 
that will feed into the Improvement Plan, and the need for more detailed 
engagement, a phased approach has been taken to developing the 
Improvement Plan:  
  

• The Phase One Improvement Plan - captures the known actions 
and deliverables to date and provides a foundation for the council’s 
improvement. This is the Improvement Plan that was submitted to 
Council and approved on 7 June 2022.  

  
• The Phase Two Improvement Plan – will build on the Phase One 
Plan and identify additional areas for improvement that arise. It will 
be informed by engagement with staff and members and include 
detailed deliverables and milestones to embed the desired 
organisational culture. The approach and timescales for this 
workstream is set out in the following section.  

   
4.8 Audit Actions within Improvement Plan 
 
4.8.1 The Improvement Plan contains a workstream focusing on the role and 

function of scrutiny and audit within the decision-making theme.  
 

4.8.2 In relation to audit, the Improvement Plan sets out actions around 
managing the position on historic issues through Officers working with 
the ARAC Chair, and the completion of ARAC recommendations in 
relation to governance issues raised around SEND Transport.  
 

4.8.3 A measure of success within the Improvement Plan is for there to be 
evidence that audit input is driving assurance and improvement across 
the Council.  

 
4.9 Governance and Assurance Mechanisms  
 
4.9.1 Effective programme management arrangements, robust monitoring 

processes, and clear roles and responsibilities will be key to Sandwell’s 
successful delivery of this Improvement Plan and achievement of 
sustainable change. A Programme Management Office has been 
established to manage the delivery of the programme on a day to day 
basis.  
 

Page 49



 

4.9.2 Progress will be monitored monthly by Leadership Team through 
considering progress of the actions and milestones within the delivery 
plan, and management of risks, issues, and dependencies. A focus on 
embedding sustainable improvement will be maintained through the 
ongoing capture of evidence of success.  
 

4.9.3 Members will have oversight of progress through formal reporting to 
Cabinet quarterly. This will continue until all actions within the plan have 
been completed and government intervention has been lifted.   
 

4.9.4 Existing member-led committees, such as the Governance and 
Constitution Review Committee, Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 
and Scrutiny Committees, will be used for decision making and 
maintaining oversight of the actions and implementation of the 
Improvement Plan.   
 

4.9.5 The Improvement Plan is intended to be a live document updated to take 
account of progress and relevant changes. These changes will be 
tracked through the programme management mechanisms and may 
include the addition of new workstreams or objectives, or the 
amendment of timescales for delivery of actions. Cabinet will retain 
oversight of these changes through the regular formal reporting of 
progress.   
 

4.9.6 External assurance will also play a part in our improvement journey. 
Grant Thornton, CIPFA and the LGA will be invited back in Autumn 2022 
to monitor our progress in addressing the recommendations in their 
reviews. Any recommendations from these checkpoint reviews will also 
offer a steer for the next phase in our improvement journey.  
 

4.9.7 A risk register will be maintained for the duration of the Improvement 
Plan which will underpin the council’s strategic risk relating to the 
council’s Improvement Plan (59a 02/22). This will be reported monthly to 
Leadership Team and quarterly to Cabinet. The current risk register is 
attached as Appendix 7 
 

4.9.8 The main risks are associated with: 
 

• Resources – for delivery of key components of the plan including 
the performance management framework, asset management 
system implementation and culture change programme. The 

Page 50



 

financial resources required have been identified and were 
approved by Council in June. 

• Organisational Culture – If the organisational culture doesn’t 
change, this will limit the improvements that can be made. A theme 
within the Improvement Plan focuses on organisational culture. It 
includes plans for a comprehensive engagement programme with 
staff and members to define a collectively owned culture. We will 
then embed the conditions for this culture to thrive. 

• Communication – to ensure everyone is aware of their respective 
roles and responsibilities. A detailed communication plan will be 
developed to ensure effective and timely communication with 
stakeholders 

• Governance Policies and Procedures – key corporate 
governance documents are being reviewed and once approved, 
will provide an important foundation for improvement. 

• Performance Management Framework – to ensure that we can 
effectively monitor progress and evidence improvement. Each 
theme includes an outline of how success will be evidenced. 
Processes for monitoring progress and evaluating evidence of 
improvement will be developed.  

• Historic Issues – if there is a continued focus on and resource 
directed towards historic issues this will hinder improvement. The 
improvement plan contains actions to bring historic issues to a 
conclusion and embed lessons learnt. 

• Progress Monitoring and Risk Management approach – if 
assessment of progress and risk assessment contains optimism-
bias, this will prevent an accurate and realistic view of progress. 
Assurance mechanisms will help manage this risk 

 
 
5 Implications 
 
Resources: Resources to deliver the Improvement Plan have 

been allocated from within existing commitments in 
the majority of cases. Where one-off funding is 
required to deliver improvements, this will either be 
funded from the Improvement and Capacity Fund or 
from earmarked reserves created from 2021/22 
underspend position. Where funding is required for 
longer-term change, this will be incorporated into the 
Medium-Term Financial Strategy.  

Page 51



 

  
There are no land or building implications associated 
with the Improvement Plan as a whole. 
 

Legal and 
Governance: 

On 22 March 2022, The Secretary of State for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities issued 
Directions under Section 15(5) and (6) of the Local 
Government Act 1999 (the 1999 Act) in order to 
ensure that the council can comply with the 
requirements of Part 1 of the 1999 Act. Failure to 
comply with these Directions may lead to further 
intervention measures for the council.   
  
The development and approval of this Improvement 
Plan will mean that the council has achieved one of 
the elements within the Directions within the specified 
timescales.  
  
The delivery of the Improvement Plan and 
achievement of the desired outcomes will meet the 
remainder of the Directions.  
  
Ultimately, the changes made through the 
Improvement Plan will enable the council to effectively 
deliver its strategic priorities and ensure it is delivering 
value for money for Sandwell.   
 

Risk: If the Council fails to take appropriate action to meet 
the requirements set out in the government Direction, 
or the Commissioners appointed by the Secretary of 
State do not have sufficient confidence that 
appropriate actions are being taken to implement and 
sustain the required improvements, then the council 
risks not having appropriate arrangements in place to 
comply with its best value duty under Part 1 of the 
1999 Act. This could lead to further government 
intervention, increased costs and damage to 
reputation.   
  
A risk register will be maintained for the duration of 
the Improvement Plan which will underpin the 
council’s strategic risk relating to the council’s 

Page 52



 

Improvement Plan (59a 02/22). This will be reported 
monthly to Leadership Team and quarterly to 
Cabinet.   
 

Equality: The successful delivery of this Improvement Plan will 
require the development and review of many of the 
council’s policies and procedures. These changes will 
build in consideration of the impact on equalities 
throughout the development and will include an 
Equality Impact Assessment where appropriate.   
 

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

The underpinning objective of the Improvement Plan 
is to ensure the council is able to achieve the strategic 
priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan. These 
priorities focus on improving the health and wellbeing 
of our residents and tackling health inequalities in a 
multi-faceted way. Therefore, any improvements to 
the council’s governance structures will strengthen the 
council’s ability to deliver services that will improve 
the health and wellbeing of Sandwell.  
 

Social Value Within the Improvement Plan, the council is 
committed to developing it Social Value Policy in 
conjunction with the refresh of the Procurement & 
Contract Procedure Rules. Through strengthening our 
asks of contractors through this Social Value Policy 
and linking them to the Corporate Plan objectives, the 
council will be able to maximise its social value return. 
 

 
6 Appendices 
 

1. Grant Thornton Value for Money Governance Review Report December 
2021  
2. CIPFA Financial Management Review Report January 2022  
3. LGA Corporate Peer Challenge March 2022  
4. Sandwell Directions under Section 15(5) and (6) of the Local 
Government Act 1999, 22 March 2022   
5. Sandwell Directions - Explanatory Memorandum   
6. Sandwell Council Improvement Plan  
7. Improvement Plan Risk Register June 2022 

 

Page 53



 

7. Background Papers 
 

Sandwell Council Governance Improvement Plan  
o Adopted January 2022  
o Quarterly Monitoring April 2022  

 
Sandwell Council Improvement Plan Report to Council 7 June 2022 
 

 
 

Page 54

https://sandwellintranet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=210
https://sandwellintranet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=233
https://sandwellintranet.moderngov.co.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=2309#mgDocuments


© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Sandwell Metropolitan Borough 

Council: Value for Money Governance 

Review 

Year ended 31 March 2021

3 December 2021 

P
age 55



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

2

Contents

Section Page

1. Introduction 3

2. Key Findings 6

3. Statutory and Key Recommendations 11

4. Detailed Findings 13

Appendix

A. Improvement Recommendations 51

B. The scope of the auditor’s work on value for money arrangements 57

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed for the purpose of completing

our work under the NAO Code and related guidance. Our audit is not designed to test all arrangements in respect of value for money. However, where, as part of our testing, we

identify significant weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose all irregularities, or to include all possible improvements in

arrangements that a more extensive special examination might identify. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting

on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members

is available from our registered office. Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant

Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents

of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

Your key Grant Thornton 

team members are:

Mark Stocks

Audit Partner

T: 0121 232 5437

E: mark.c.stocks@uk.gt.com

Guy Clifton

Director

020 7728 2903
E: guy.clifton@uk.gt.com

P
age 56



P
age 57



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

4

Under the NAO Code, we are required to consider whether the Council has put in place

proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of

resources. The auditor is no longer required to give a binary qualified / unqualified VfM

conclusion. Instead, auditors report in more detail on the Council’s overall

arrangements, as well as key recommendations on any significant weaknesses in

arrangements identified during the audit.

The purpose of this work has been to draw conclusions on the key lines of

enquiry (KLOEs) identified as part of our scope, and if necessary determine the extent

to which further action is required by the Council. This review, along with other VfM

related activity, has been undertaken in order for us to consider whether there are any

significant weaknesses in the Council's arrangements.

As already noted, our work is undertaken in accordance with the Local Audit and

Accountability Act 2014, sections 20 and 24 and may result in Statutory

Recommendations or a Public Interest Report.

Overview of the scope 

Determining how much work to undertake on arrangements to secure VfM is a matter of 

auditor judgement. The focus of our review has been on the effectiveness of the 

Council’s governance arrangements and how they are impacted  by the matters 

detailed above. 

We have identified  seventeen KLOEs to assess the Council’s governance 

arrangements, which are set out in the table below.

Whilst the focus of this review is on governance arrangements, where appropriate we 

will highlight findings in relation to the two other reporting areas set out in the Code.

Context to our VFM approach

Sections 20 and 21 of the Local Audit and Accountably Act 2014 (the Act)  require auditors 

to be satisfied that the Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as the Value for Money 

(VFM) conclusion. 

Our VfM work is carried out in line with the Code of Audit Practice (the Code) which is 

prepared  by the National Audit Office (NAO) under the Act, and its supporting statutory 

guidance: Auditor Guidance Note 3 (AGN 03).

A revised Code came into force on 1 April 2020, after being approved by Parliament. The 

Code requires auditors to structure their VfM commentary on arrangements under three 

specified reporting criteria: 

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the Council uses information 

about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its 

services;

• Governance: how the Council ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly 

manages its risks; and

• Financial sustainability: how the Council plans and manages its resources to ensure it 

can continue to deliver its services.

Background to this review

In our 2019/20 Audit Findings Report we noted that a number of governance issues had 

come to our attention during 2021. We considered that there was insufficient evidence to 

confirm that these matters impacted 2019/20 and as such noted that they will be dealt with 

as part of the 2020/21 audit.

We have continued to monitor Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council’s (the Council) 

ongoing governance arrangements, including member-officer relationships and have 

become increasingly concerned at the Council’s ability to look forward and manage the 

challenges and opportunities that all local authorities currently face.

There is an increasing perception of poor progress in resolving service and governance 

issues, a lack of trust between key individuals charged with governance, of a significant 

amount of time being spent responding to allegations and complaints, and of reviews being 

reopened, such as the reopening of previous standards reviews. We feel that until these 

significant issues are resolved that the Council is at risk of not having adequate 

governance arrangements in place to ensure that it can effectively discharge its statutory 

responsibilities and maintain its financial sustainability.

Context, background and scope of the review

SERVICES & MANAGEMENT

A1 The Children’s Trust

A2 Sandwell Leisure Trust  

A3 Providence Place

A4 Special Educational Needs Transport

A5 Sandwell Land and Property Company 

A6 MADE festival

A7 Waste service 

A8 Governance and legal support re DPH 

A9 Lion Farm

A10 Introduction of new ERP system (Oracle) 

P
age 58



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

5

.

Our approach
Overview of the scope (cont’d)

Our approach

Our work in relation to this review  was undertaken between August and October 2021.

Stage 1 – Review of key documents

We submitted an information request for key documents and then undertook a desk top 

review to reach an initial conclusion on the nature of further work required.

Stage 2 – Further Analysis and Clarifications

We then undertook interviews with key stakeholders in relation to each KLOE to clarity 

issues identified during stage one and to undertake more detailed analysis in relation to 

specific KLOEs. A total of 75 stakeholder interviews have been undertaken, representing a 

total of 122 discussions on individual KLOEs. 

Our approach is designed to assess:

• Governance arrangements in place in relation to our scope;

• Council performance against these arrangements; and

• Identify any significant weaknesses and risks.

CfGS Governance Risk and Resilience Framework

We have drawn on the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny’s (CfGS) Governance Risk and 

Resilience Framework, published in March 2021, to structure our work in relation to KLOE 

B4  - officer and member relationships. This Framework includes seven characteristics of 

good governance that have a particular focus on behaviours.

Acknowledgements

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the 

assistance provided by council officers, council members, and external 

stakeholders with whom we have engaged during the course of our review.

Additional VfM Code Work

As already noted, we have identified governance arrangements as an audit 

risk. This requires additional work to inform our auditor’s judgement on VfM. 

The work has been undertaken in line with the requirements of the Code and 

associated auditor guidance. This review helps us discharge our 

responsibilities under the Code and will include the reporting of any significant 

weaknesses in arrangements and other points for improvement identified 

during the review. Any fee variation is subject to approval from Public Sector 

Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) which is responsible for appointing auditors 

and setting audit fees for relevant authorities that have chosen to opt into its 

national scheme of auditor appointments.

MEETINGS, COMPLAINTS & RELATIONSHIPS

B1 Chief Officers

B2 Senior Leadership

B3 Complaints

B4 Officers and members relationships

B5 Standards Committee

B6 Audit Committee

B7 Financial Reporting  

P
age 59



P
age 60



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

7

Overview

Overview

The Council has seen deteriorating senior officer and senior member relationships over 

a number of years. This has resulted in a breakdown in trust, respect and confidence 

between those holding governance roles. This has limited the Council’s ability to look 

forward and manage the challenges and opportunities it faces. This breakdown in 

relationships between senior officers and senior members is central to the governance 

issues identified by this review.

There has been poor progress in resolving service and governance issues, with a 

significant amount of time being spent responding to internal allegations and complaints. 

There is evidence of reviews and issues being reopened. This has impacted on the 

Council's ability to focus on service improvement.

The Council has been insular and siloed. Its focus has been on responding to external 

service-based challenges as well as managing the fallout from previous decisions or 

investigations. Senior officers and senior members have historically been unable to 

make the changes required to move away from this organisational culture and focus.

We note that since the appointment of the interim Chief Executive in August 2021, 

working with the then new Leader of the Council, that many of these matters are being 

resolved. The Council’s senior leadership team, the majority of whom are recent external 

appointments, recognise the challenges and issues set out in this report and are 

supporting the interim Chief Executive on an improvement journey.

These 'green shoots' are positive and we have tried to reflect the improvements in this 

report. Without these changes we would have had concerns with regard to the Council's 

ability to manage and govern itself, and intervention by the Government may have been 

necessary.

Inevitably these changes are not yet embedded, and the Council will need to manage 

the transition to a permanent Chief Executive well, alongside maintaining continuity and 

stability of the wider leadership team, so that the new Chief Executive, working with the 

leadership team, continues to support the service and cultural changes that are being 

put in place and that momentum is maintained. 

Due to the issues identified we have determined that it is appropriate to raise the 

following statutory recommendations under Section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act:

Statutory recommendations

We have made a number of statutory and key recommendations which are set out page 

12. Other improvement recommendations are made throughout the detailed findings of 

this report and are summarised in the Appendix.

Our statutory recommendations are:

• It is imperative that senior officers and senior members take effective 

corporate grip of long-standing service issues highlighted by the findings in 

this report (including SLT, SCT, the waste service, the ERP system, and Lion 

Farm) and prioritise corporate effort in managing the issues identified, and 

embed the solutions into the Council.

• The Council must ensure that the learning in relation to commercial decisions, 

procurement and contract management highlighted in this report are 

understood through the organisation.

• Senior leadership, both officers and members,  must demonstrate that they 

can continue to work together effectively, that they operate in line with the 

Council’s values, codes, policies and procedures, and that there is zero 

tolerance to inappropriate behaviours.  This includes changing the 

organisational culture in relation to complaints so that they restore balance 

and proportionality.

P
age 61



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

8

Key findings

KEY FINDINGS

Corporate grip

Understandably COVID-19 has significantly impacted the leadership and 

organisational focus of all local authorities over the past eighteen months. Even taking 

account of this impact we consider that until recently the Council has failed to take an 

effective corporate grip on key issues facing the Council.

We note that it is hindered in taking a corporate grip by the lack of a clear 

performance management framework and agreed key corporate indicators, although we 

note recent progress has been made on this. This has impacted on the ability of the 

Leadership Team and Cabinet to have a single line of sight and single version of the 

truth. This has contributed to a culture of silo working, resulting in a lack of corporate 

ownership and accountability. This has, in turn, resulted in a lack of ownership and grip on 

key challenges and issues and an absence of intervention and decision making.

In failing to take ownership and seeking resolution, lessons have not been 

learned. This has resulted in a number of instances whereby the Council has repeated 

actions leading to similar outcomes. For example, the Wragge report continues to be an 

area of mistrust between members and between officers and members.

Procurement and commercial decision making

Our review has identified repeated instances where commercial decisions 

or procurement decisions have contributed to a number of key legacy challenges facing the 

Council, which have not been resolved.

These included legacy property related decisions such as those relating to 

Lion Farm, Providence Place and Sandwell Land and Property Company where there was 

either a lack of appropriate expertise and advice or failure to consider all appropriate 

options.

There are also more recent examples of poor procurement decisions relating 

to waste management and recycling, the Council’s enterprise and resource 

planning (ERP) system and SEND Transport. In each case the procurements have 

either been poorly specified, did not provide adequate timescales, or those responsible 

for decision making have not been fully aware of the context and detail.

These property transactions and procurement decisions have created future 

service or delivery challenges. In some cases, they have impacted negatively on 

the Council's reputation. In each instance, until recently, the decisions have not 

had effective corporate ownership to allow appropriate management or resolution.

Contract management

Our review identified a number of key contracts having been impacted by either poor 

specification during procurement, a lack of clear contract management responsibility, or 

poorly defined approaches to contract management. These related to Sandwell Leisure 

Trust (SLT) , Serco, Inoapps and Sandwell Children’s Trust (SCT) and we note that the 

interim Chief Executive has recently commenced more effective engagement with these 

key suppliers and partners.

At varying times relationships between the Council and these key partners have been 

fraught with the lack of senior leadership grip significantly contributing to a deterioration of 

these relationships. A lack of clear corporate ownership has meant that issues with these 

contracts have not been resolved in a timely manner. This is particularly the case for SLT, 

Serco and Inoapps.

We also note that some key contracts such as SLT and SCT, have not previously had key 

performance indicators reviewed since the contracts were let, whilst others have not had 

appropriate focus on service quality (such as SEND Transport) or outcomes (such as SLT 

and Serco).

OTHER THEMES

Lack of longer-term planning

The insularity and short-term focus previously noted has meant that the Council has not 

had the necessary time and space to consider the long-term. Recent changes to the 

Council’s leadership have seen a re-emphasis on longer-term planning, with time invested 

in a refresh of the Corporate Plan, which has now been approved by full Council. 

However, as mentioned earlier, the lack of a corporate performance framework has meant 

that the Council has not received management information on key corporate indicators. We 

also note that the Leadership Team had not been receiving regular monthly budget 

monitoring reports and have not been effectively engaged in the budget setting process or 

medium-term financial planning. We understand that processes are being put in place to 

resolve these issues.

P
age 62



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

9

Key findings (cont’d)

Officer empowerment and decision making

The scheme of delegation and the involvement of senior members in key decision making 

has resulted in a lack of empowerment of officers in decision making and the agility of the 

Council to make, where necessary, prompt decisions. An example of which is the delay to 

taking a decision in relation to the rescheduled MADE Festival, which had been due to take 

place in August 2021. We consider that this reflects the lack of trust between senior 

members and senior officers at the time.

Capacity, experience and skills

The prevalence of interim and acting up arrangements in senior officer roles has in some 

places not seen effective back-fill arrangements put in place, resulting in capacity 

challenges for some key officers and teams such as Finance. These temporary 

arrangements have contributed to confusion over some key roles and responsibilities, such 

as those in relation to SLT and Oracle Fusion, impacting on effective contract 

management.

More generally, the lack of corporate ownership, again already discussed, has left some 

officers exposed in managing key service challenges and relationships without appropriate 

senior officer support and direction.

The impact of changes to senior officers and members

The Council has been through a period of significant change to its leadership, both in terms 

of senior officers and senior members. Following the local elections in May 2021 a new 

Leader was elected, who appointed a new Cabinet with effect from June 2021. Many of 

these Cabinet members had not previously held a Cabinet role, and some were fairly new 

to the role of councillor.  There was a further change to the Council Leader in late 

November 2021, as we were finalising this report.

An interim Chief Executive has been in role since August 2021 and there has been 

significant changes to chief officers over the past year, with vacancies being filled by either 

external interims, or Council officers in acting up roles. These changes were driven in large 

part by a senior management review which concluded in October 2020, although we note 

that some chief officer departures were caused by unrelated circumstances.

Other than the Chief Executive there are currently ten chief officer roles, of these four are 

recent external appointments, and two other external appointments have been made with 

these officers starting in November 2021. Three officers remain from the previous 

leadership team, two in the same role and one appointed to one of the new roles created 

by the review.

Two roles remain vacant: the Chief Executive and the Deputy Chief Executive, with the 

recruitment of the former recently initiated. The Council has decided to not recruit the Deputy 

Chief Executive and to review the need for this role. In addition there is a Director of HR, 

which is not a permanent role and is being held by an external interim.

The impact of this recent period of change has been instability and uncertainty for the 

organisation. Whilst external interims are recognised positively for the experience they bring 

from working with other councils and having a “fresh pair of eyes” on some of the service 

challenges being faced, the wider organisation considers the use of interims as maintaining 

a holding pattern before permanent chief officers join. The Council will reach the position of 

having all roles filled by a permanent officers during November 2021, other than the two 

vacancies noted above.

The changes to key senior roles have led to a loss of corporate knowledge and history 

among senior officers and senior members. The has contributed to historic issues 

resurfacing and senior members making the initial decision to progress a major project or 

initiative not being the same group of members taking further decisions during the project’s 

implementation, such as the SEND Transport procurement.

The current position

The themes set out in this section illustrate how the Council’s recent behaviours and legacy 

issues impact on good governance and decision making.

The recent widespread changes at chief officer level and the election a new Leader and 

appointment of a new Cabinet, provide a significant opportunity for the Council to move 

away from this position. Indeed, there is a consensus that senior officers and members are 

in a much stronger, more effective and constructive position than in the recent past. There is 

also a clear desire to make the improvements required, and a greater understanding of roles 

and responsibilities.

The current Leader and interim Chief Executive have a positive working relationship and 

between them have introduced changes to manage some of the legacy issues noted above. 

These include the Leadership Team attending informal Cabinet, the introduction of “star 

chambers” as part of the budget setting process, enhancing the training programme for 

members, and a review of the Council’s constitution including the scheme of 

delegation. Other changes are planned.

P
age 63



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

10

Key findings (cont’d)

The current position (cont’d)

Many of these changes took place during the course of this review so it is too soon 

to judge if they are yet embedded. Key stakeholders we met during this review 

recognised that the Council is at the start of a necessary improvement journey.

Failure to maintain and embed current and planned changes will have a significant 

impact on the Council being able to realise its strategic ambitions and provide 

effective governance.

Whilst we recognise that recent changes have been positive, we remain concerned 

about the lack of trust across the wider organisation and continuing poor 

behaviours, for example, the leaking of the review into the Wragge report to local 

media in October 2021. It will take time for the wider organisation to regain trust in 

the senior leadership, see the stability required, and believe in the changes that 

have begun.

There was a change to the Council’s Leader as we were finalising this report. This 

has highlighted the need for stability and continuity. The new Leader must  use the 

platform for improvement which has been created to ensure a strong and positive 

working relationship both with the current Interim Chief Executive and the 

subsequent permanent Chief Executive.

The direction of travel is a necessary and positive one, but there is no quick fix for 

the challenges facing the Council. For these “green shoots” to deliver the 

widespread transformation and changes required, the Council’s leadership needs 

be relentless in its focus in delivering and embedding sustainable change, and use 

its past history as a reference point when focusing on improvement.

Recommendations and detailed findings

We now set out our statutory and key recommendations, followed by the detailed 

findings in relation to each individual KLOE.

We consider that these matters represent significant weaknesses in the Council's 

arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and properly manages 

its risks. We have also identified several improvement recommendations, which are 

summarised at Appendix A.  Further details on the types of recommendations we 

make are set out at Appendix B.

. 

P
age 64



P
age 65



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

12

Statutory and key recommendations

Improvement recommendations are made throughout this report and these are summarised in the Appendix.   Our statutory and key recommendations are summarised 

below. 

# Recommendation

Statutory recommendations

1. It is imperative that senior officers and senior members take effective corporate grip of long-standing service issues highlighted by the findings in this report: 

(including SLT, SCT, the waste service, the ERP system, and Lion Farm) and prioritise corporate effort in managing the issues identified, and embed the solutions 

into the Council.

2. The Council must ensure that the learning in relation to commercial decisions, procurement and contract management  highlighted in this report are understood 

through the organisation.

3. Senior leadership, both officers and members,  must demonstrate that they can continue to work together effectively, that they operate in line with the Council’s 

values, codes, policies and procedures, and that there is zero tolerance to inappropriate behaviours.  This includes changing the organisational culture in relation to 

complaints so that they restore balance and proportionality.

Key recommendations

4. The Council’s leadership needs be relentless in its focus in delivering and embedding sustainable change, and use its past history as a reference point when 

focusing on improvement. 

5. Critical to embedding the transformation and change required will be the appointment of the right permanent Chief Executive. The Council must ensure an effective 

recruitment process, including attracting a pool of appropriate candidates. 

6. The Council should ensure that a corporate performance framework is agreed so that the implementation of the Corporate Plan can be effectively monitored, and 

there is collective corporate responsibility rather than silo working.

7. Members in key statutory roles, in particular in relation to Cabinet, scrutiny, standards and audit, need to be provided with effective induction and ongoing 

development, training and support.  The member development programme should be reviewed to ensure corporate governance forms part of the training for 

members with governance roles.

8. The Council  should develop and agree an action plan in relation to the statutory, key and improvement recommendations included in this report, ensuring that they 

are specific, measurable, attainable, realistic and time-bound.

Management responses to these and the improvement recommendations are included in a separate Council report.

P
age 66



P
age 67



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

14

Introduction 

We have set out our findings in relation to this KLOE before any of the other KLOEs 

due to the overarching importance of senior officer and senior member relationships 

for the discharging of effective governance and decision making.

We have drawn on the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny’s (CfGS) Governance Risk 

and Resilience Framework, published in March 2021. The framework is designed to 

promote good governance practice and:

• recognises good governance is everyone’s responsibility, and whatever their role, 

officers and councillors are likely to carry out work that intersects with the Council’s 

governance framework every day;

• considers roles and responsibilities including those of the Council’s statutory 

officers and political leadership

• includes a focus on behaviours;

• sets out seven characteristics for considering governance risk and management, 

designed to reflect and supplement the broader CIPFA/SOLACE: "Delivering good 

governance in local government" framework (2016).

We have structured our findings by the seven characteristics, which are:

• The extent of recognition of individual and collective responsibility for good 

governance;

• Awareness of political dynamics;

• How the council looks to the future to set its decision-making priorities;

• Officer and councillor roles;

• How the Council’s real situation compares to its sense of itself;

• Quality of local / external relationships; and

• The state of member oversight through scrutiny and audit.

Twenty-five meetings were held with individual senior officers and senior members of 

the Council in relation to this KLOE, and our findings are based on our judgement of 

these key stakeholders’ observations.

KLOE B4: Officer and member relationships

The extent of recognition of individual and collective responsibility for good governance

The Council is coming out of a period where there has been a breakdown in the trust, 

confidence and respect between senior officers and senior members, which has been 

characterised by:

• a perceived blame culture contributing to the siloed approach to directorates, with senior 

officers protecting their areas of responsibility and a lack of peer challenge within the 

Leadership Team and a risk of not giving bad news to members.

• a lack of collective responsibility and accountability in the absence of a corporate focus on 

key performance indicators and risks, weak corporate involvement in strategic financial 

planning, budget monitoring, and transparency.

• a lack of clarity on roles and responsibilities between officers and members.

• an inconsistent approach to the Council’s scheme of delegation, including relatively low 

spending thresholds, and an overly bureaucratic approach to decision making, leading to 

unnecessary delays.

The characteristics set out above are a significant risk to good governance. However, we note 

that there have been recent improvements. We discuss these below.

The recent widespread changes at chief officer level and the election of a new Leader and 

appointment of a new Cabinet, provide a significant opportunity for the Council to move away 

from this position. Indeed, there is consensus that senior officers and members are in a much 

stronger, more effective and constructive position than in the recent past. There is a clear 

desire to make the improvements required, and greater understanding of roles and 

responsibilities.

The current officer and member leadership team have introduced changes to manage the 

legacy issues noted above, including the Leadership Team attending informal Cabinet, the 

introduction of “star chambers” as part of the budget setting process, enhancing the training 

programme for members, and a review of the Council’s constitution including the scheme of 

delegation. All of these are positive actions.

Embedding the changes that have been made and that are planned will be critical if the 

Council is to realise its strategic ambition and provide effective governance. Whilst early 

indications are positive, the test of whether these changes  become effectively embedded will 

be how the council’s senior leadership manage legacy issues should they surface, and that 

they continue the work of the interim Chief Executive through the appointment of a high quality 

permanent Chief Executive.

An enhancement of the induction programme to new members of Cabinet, including on 

local government finance and their governance roles is recommended.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider whether relationships between senior officers and senior members are appropriate in supporting good 

governance.

P
age 68



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

15

Awareness of political dynamics

The Council has recently updated its Code of Member Conduct, incorporating updates to the 

Local Government Association (LGA) Model Code of Conduct. A member development 

programme is ongoing in relation to the Code and related areas such as gifts and hospitality, 

and arrangements for dealing with complaints under the Code. The Council has also 

commissioned the LGA to provide a mentoring programme for senior members.

There was consensus from our interviews that senior officers fully understood the need to 

act with neutrality when operating in a political environment. However, the recent history of 

the Council means that some senior officers remain impacted by the blame culture which 

was perceived to be place. This, for example, has manifested itself in senior officers taking 

personally criticism of their service area, impacting on behaviours in meetings.

Whilst having in place effective codes, policies and procedures is good practice, it will be 

behaviours that determine whether the Council is able to successfully move away from its 

recent history. However, as already noted, the senior officers and members of the Council 

believe that there has been significant progress made in relation to how they operate and 

work together.

These changes in behaviour are recent and will need to be sustained to become embedded, 

so that the wider organisation - and external stakeholders - see and have confidence in this 

change.

The Council should consider how it provides appropriate support to those Chief Officers who 

were in role prior to the recent changes to senior officers, Leader and Cabinet. The Council 

should also ensure that corporate governance training is provided to members of the 

Cabinet and other members in governance related roles.

KLOE B4: Officer and member relationships (cont’d)

How the council looks to the future to set its decision-making priorities

There was consensus that the Council has not provided appropriate time and space to think 

clearly about the long-term, to horizon scan and undertake the strategic thinking required.

It was recognised that this was because the Council has spent recent years “fire-fighting” 

both in terms of managing day-to-day operational issues, as well as having an insular focus 

responding to internal allegations and complaints. There is also evidence of reviews and 

issues being reopened.

A Corporate Plan (Vision 2030) has been in place but there has been a lack of clarity about 

how the Plan’s ambitions, priorities and outcomes should be delivered. This has been 

recognised, and the Council has recently invested significant leadership time in a refresh of 

the Corporate Plan, including external consultation. More work needs to be done including 

the establishment of Directorate Plans and Service Plans which will set out how corporate 

priorities will be delivered, including KPIs. The Leader has recently restructured Cabinet 

portfolios to better reflect the updated Corporate Plan.

The Council should ensure that corporate KPIs are agreed so that the implementation 

of the Corporate Plan can be effectively monitored.

The forward plan of the Cabinet should be shared with the Audit Committee and 

Scrutiny Board to help structure their agenda planning.

There has been an ineffective approach to budget monitoring and budget setting with:

- monthly budget reports not being reported to the Cabinet or the Leadership Team, and

- Directors and Portfolio Holders not being effectively engaged in budget setting 

discussions.

This has been recognised and star chambers for Cabinet members and chief officers have 

been introduced to support the budget setting process. The Director of Finance has 

also introduced regular Cabinet briefings and monthly budget reporting to Cabinet.

The Leadership Team should agree key medium-term financial objectives and 

principles. There should be effective ownership of the principles that underpin the 

budget setting process, for example the Council’s approach to reserves, contingency 

and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).

P
age 69



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

16

Officer and councillor roles

As already noted there has been a breakdown in trust and mutual respect between senior 

officers and members in recent years, which is recognised by those in senior officer and 

senior member roles. However, in general, those in these roles felt that working 

relationships, including trust and respect, had improved in recent months and were 

currently no cause for concern. Nonetheless it was also recognised that a cultural shift 

needs to become firmly embedded, and that stability and continuity is required from those 

in these roles.

The Council has agreed the following values to define how people do things and are 

reflected in the way people behave: 

• Trust – show respect, make personal impact, being open and honest.

• Unity – focusing on customers, working with a team, communicating effectively.

• Progress – being open to change, focusing on performance, getting team results.

Senior officers and senior members must lead by example to ensure that the “tone 

from the top” consistently reflects these values and behaviours. This is critical in 

ensuring that the wider organisation recognises that changes have been made and 

that all people are confident in adopting these values and behaviours. This should 

build on recently introduced staff briefings to include a programme of staff 

engagement including “pulse” checks to benchmark and monitor progress on the 

organisation’s wellbeing.

As with all councils, it was recognised that members come from different backgrounds, 

bringing different skills and capabilities. A member development programme is in place, 

with the Council being supported by the Local Government Association (LGA) in its update 

and delivery, and member personal development plans have been introduced, which is 

good practice. 

The Council should ensure that the review of the member development programme 

is appropriate. In particular, thought should be given to how members with special 

responsibility roles are developed and supported. This should include succession 

planning for these roles.

KLOE B4: Officer and member relationships (cont’d)

How the council’s real situation compares to its sense of self 

It was felt that Members have a good understanding of their communities’ needs and what 

outcomes are required to meet these needs, particularly in relation to their wards. However,

it was recognised – as already mentioned – that the Council needs to ensure that these 

needs and outcomes are reflected in corporate priorities and outcomes and delivery is 

effectively monitored. Similarly, while improvements are being made in relation to public 

consultation on the Corporate Plan there remains no visible consultation on the Council’s 

budget setting priorities.

A key area of weakness is the lack of a performance management framework to manage 

corporate progress against key performance indicators. More also needs to be done 

to change the siloed approach to managing service delivery. We note that there has not 

been a structured or effective “early warning” system in place for the Council’s Leadership 

Team to identify key risks and issues.

This has been recognised and arrangements are being put in place so that the Leadership 

Team reviews strategic risks, budget monitoring and other performance data. However, 

further work is required to establish a formal performance management framework 

and agree a set of key corporate indicators for the Leadership Team to collectively 

manage,  receive appropriate management information to monitor progress, and set 

out clear lines of accountability, responsibility, and delegated authority. 

The Council has not had a consistent approach to financial benchmarking and so has had 

an absence of unit costs and financial trend data. The new Director of Finance has recently 

introduced financial benchmarking, which is good practice. This will need to be sustained 

to create a culture of curiosity in services in how nearest statistical neighbours are 

performing, to support savings identification and to drive improvements. 

The recent restructuring of Council departments has resulted in a lack of clarity as to which 

department some services sit in, with the architects of the restructuring no longer working for 

the Council. Finance and services are currently working through such service allocations, 

but until this work is completed, financial reporting will not be fully aligned to departmental 

structures.

More generally there is good evidence that many senior officers are engaged in their 

respective professional bodies, which includes sharing learning, and that the Council is 

corporately engaged with the LGA.

P
age 70



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

17

Quality of local / external relationships

The quality of local / external relationships is mixed. The Council works with a variety of 

local public, private and third sector bodies, and these relationships vary by service. It is 

recognised that the pandemic has enhanced relationships with some local public sector 

organisations, such as the NHS and police, and with local voluntary and community 

organisations, and that the Council should ensure that these gains are maintained.

However, the Council has had an insularity in recent years, which in particular has 

impacted its engagement with businesses, and sub-regional bodies such as the LEP and 

the West Midlands Combined Authority. This is recognised by the current political 

leadership of the Council and there are signs of a move to more active participation in key 

sub-regional bodies. Rebuilding these key strategic relationships will take time for the 

Council to realise any benefits and “punch at its weight” as the 34th largest council in 

England. It will be important that this more outward looking approach is sustained.

The insularity of the Council has also meant that its communications to external 

organisations has been weak, for example resulting in a lack of external clarity on the 

Council’s key strategic priorities. This is also reflected in a passive approach to 

communicating to local residents and businesses. This too has been recognised and the 

Council is investing in its central communications team and aims to be more proactive in 

managing the narrative on the Council, including greater communication of positive news 

stories.

When investing in the communications team, the Council should also use this as an 

opportunity to ensure more effective internal communications, including with back-

bench members. 

The Council has a number of key external partners for the delivery of services such as 

waste and recycling, children’s social care, and leisure. These relationships are covered in 

separate KLOEs.

KLOE B4: Officer and member relationships (cont’d)

The state of member oversight through scrutiny and audit

The role that scrutiny and audit should play in holding a council’s decision-makers to 

account makes these roles fundamentally important to the successful functioning of local 

democracy and good governance. Effective scrutiny helps secure the efficient delivery of 

public services and can drive improvements within the Council. Conversely, poor scrutiny 

can be indicative of wider governance, leadership and service failure.

The effectiveness of the Scrutiny Boards and the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee were 

viewed as needing improvement by those interviewed and, in particular, by senior officers.

The Labour Party has been in control of the Council since 1979 and for many years had not 

had an official opposition. The position changed at the May 2021 local elections when the 

Conservative Party gained nine seats (having previously held no seats). From a governance 

perspective this was welcomed by both the senior officers and senior members who we met 

during the course of our review.

However, whilst areas of effective activity were recognised, the long period of having no 

opposition has meant that the audit and scrutiny functions have not always effectively held 

key decision makers to account. This was a widely held view amongst officers we 

interviewed.

There is a need to ensure that members of scrutiny and audit committees are aware of 

their governance roles including how to interrogate reports and ask the right 

questions. This is recognised by the Council who are working with the LGA to develop and 

provide a member training programme for members with scrutiny and audit roles.

P
age 71



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

18

Background

Following an inadequate / requires improvement Ofsted inspection in June 2015, at its 

meeting on 19 October 2016, Cabinet was advised of the Government’s Statutory 

Direction (under Section 479A of the Education Act 1996) to set up a new arrangement 

in the form of a children’s trust to deliver children’s social care services. As a result, 

Sandwell Children’s Trust (SCT) started operating on 1 April 2018. Any alternative to 

the current arrangement must be agreed by the Secretary of State for Education.

A 10-year service delivery contract (SDC) between the Council and SCT commenced 1 

April 2018, setting out the requirements for the provision of children’s social care. The 

SDC obligation was to reach an Ofsted judgement of ‘Requires Improvement’ by 2020 

and to secure an Ofsted judgement of ‘Good’ by 2022. However, due to the impact of 

COVID-19 and the cessation of full inspections by Ofsted in 2020, a full Ofsted 

inspection may not take place in 2021 but is more likely to be in early 2022.

The Ofsted Inspection carried out in November 2017 and reported in January 2018 

noted that most of the recommendations from the Ofsted 2015 inspection had not been 

fully met and some services have declined in effectiveness.

Our Audit Findings Report for 2019/20 noted that we had completed a risk-based review 

of the Council’s value for money arrangements and concluded that the Council had 

proper arrangements in place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 

of resources except for its arrangements around children’s services which have been 

rated as ‘inadequate’ by Ofsted.

We concluded that there were weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements for delivering 

services for children in need of help and protection, children looked after and care 

leavers. These matters were considered evidence of weaknesses in proper 

arrangements for understanding and using appropriate and reliable financial and 

performance information to support informed decision making and performance 

management. This led to a qualified ‘except for’ value for money conclusion for 

2019/20.

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust

KEY FINDINGS

Governance arrangements

There is a robust governance framework in place for the Council and other stakeholders to 

monitor the performance of  SCT. 

The contract requires that the Director of Children’s Services, together with Council senior 

officers from finance and legal services, and the Chief Executive of the Trust meet on at 

least a monthly basis to consider performance and operational matters at an Operational 

Partnership Board (OPB).  The Council’s Lead Member for Children’s Services and the 

Chief Executive meet quarterly with the Chair of the Trust Board and the Chief Executive of 

the Trust, at a Strategic Partnership Board (SPB).

The contract also requires the Trust to provide a comprehensive annual review for 

consideration by the OPB and the SPB and then by the Cabinet. Progress against the 

performance indicators for the period 1 April to 31 March is set out in an Annual Review, 

together with information about financial, workforce, and other performance areas.

On behalf of the Council, the Trust has developed an Improvement Plan in response to the 

Ofsted inspection findings published in January 2018. This plan was presented to Cabinet 

in September 2018 and covered a three-year period. The Trust has undertaken a refresh of 

the Improvement Plan. The delivery of the improvement plan is overseen by an 

Improvement Board, which is independently chaired, with representatives from the Council, 

Trust and Department for Education attending.

DfE appoint the Chair of the SCT Board, carry out six-monthly monitoring visits, are invited 

to attend OPB and meet regularly with the Chair and CEO of the Trust. They also attend 

the Improvement Board and have provided approximately £7m of improvement funding to 

the Trust over the past three years, to address specific improvement areas. 

The Trust is required to report to the Council’s Scrutiny Board twice each year as part of 

the obligations set out in the SDC. At the meeting of 23 August 2021, reports in respect of 

the annual review, the improvement plan, the pandemic response and the adoption service 

were presented to the Children’s Services and Education Scrutiny Board. The Council’s 

Audit and Risk Assurance Committee and Cabinet also received reports on the Trust, and 

the Cabinet approves the Trust’s business plan.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider actions undertaken by the Council to secure improvement in children’s social care outcomes.P
age 72



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

19

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust (cont’d)

Governance arrangements (cont’d)

In addition to the above, SCT activity also features in wider children’s services governance 

arrangements, the Children’s Safeguarding Partnership and the Children and Young People 

Commissioning Partnership. 

In summary, there are comprehensive governance arrangements in place relating to 

SCT. Given the complexity of these governance arrangements we recommend a review to 

ensure that officers and members with roles on the various governance bodies are clear on 

their responsibilities, to avoid duplication and ensure effective communication between those 

holding governance roles and that there is a collective understanding of the performance of 

SCT and how risks and issues are being managed.

Contract management

The SDC includes a set of 15  Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) which are monitored by 

the Council. We have been advised that when the SDC initially went live that this KPIs were 

not agreed, rather they were agreed during the first quarter of the Trust’s operation. They 

have not been revised subsequently. 

An officer with formal responsibility for managing the SDC was not appointed until Spring 

2021, previously this role was spread across a number of different officers.

As part of contract management arrangements there is provision to negotiate the Council’s 

annual funding with SCT (the contract sum) which feeds into Council’s annual budget setting 

process. 

The SDC sets out the steps and timing of the negotiation of the contract sum, which includes 

reviews by OPB, SPB, and the Council’s Cabinet and Scrutiny Board.

The following contract sums have been agreed: 

• 2018/19: £58,229,695

• 2019/20: £64,043,000

• 2020/21: £65,828,000

• 2021/22: £68,028,000

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider actions undertaken by the Council to secure improvement in children’s social care outcomes.

A request for additional £500,000 has been made by SCT during this financial year, 

which the Cabinet has approved and is being funded via a COVID-19 reserve. This 

will form a contract variation to the 2021/22 contract sum.  

The Council has sought to reduce the contract sum since the creation of the Trust, 

seeking improvement and transformation from SCT. This has not happened and has 

negatively impacted on relationships during some annual contract sum negotiations. 

This was particularly the case during 2020 when the Council and SCT were unable 

to agree the contract sum. As a result, DfE became involved and the then Children’s 

Minister supported mediation. DfE funded specialist financial support to provide 

assurances to the Council that SCT’s contract sum request was reasonable. This led 

to the Council approving the contract sum. Such an impasse has not happened 

subsequently.

SCT financial performance

SCT has a track record of annual overspends and not achieving planned savings 

targets. The overspend in 2020/21 was approximately £2m, however one-off 

government COVID-19 funding resulted in the final outturn being an underspend. 

The Council has worked with SCT to re-profile the Trust’s underlying overspend over 

the three years of the Council’s current Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP).

Children’s social care has significant demand pressures nationally, which have been 

exacerbated by COVID-19, and SCT has seen increased costs such as for 

placements for looked after children. 

SCT did not deliver £250k of their planned savings target in 2020/21.  SCT has a 

savings target of £1.8m in 2021/22. We have been advised that £1.3m of the 

planned £1.8m savings are on target to be achieved, with plans in place to deliver 

the remaining £500k. The savings primarily relate to staffing and placement costs, 

with the latter sensitive to increased demand.  

SCT has Service Level Agreements (SLAs) to buy back services from the Council for 

specified back-office services. These SLAs total £2.1m for 2021/22 and represent an 

income to the Council. 

P
age 73



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

20

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust

Council management of financial risks

The Council’s main source of monitoring the financial performance of SCT is via SCT reports 

to monthly meetings of OPB and quarterly meetings of SPB. SCT provides updates on 

forecast overspends and mitigations. 

Given the financial pressures on SCT, the Council has set aside the following reserves and 

contingencies:

• High-cost placements reserve of £1m (£500k for 2022/23 and £500k for 2023/24) with 

SCT having to submit evidence should they claim for an additional contract sum.

• Earmarked COVID-19 reserve of £1.9m for 20201/22 which SCT claims against on a 

quarterly basis by demonstrating need. The additional £500k contract sum already 

mentioned was funded via this reserve.

• General contingency of £1.6m for 2021/22

Leadership and relationships

The CEO of SCT and the Council’s Director of Children’s Services (DCS) are key roles and 

their working relationship is critical to the effectiveness of SCT delivery. There had been 

stability in both roles until this year, with the Council’s DCS leaving in August and a change 

to the SCT CEO in March. Since the DCS left the Council in August, an officer is acting up in 

the role of DCS, supported by an external interim. A new, permanent DCS is due to start in 

November 2021. The working relationship of the CEO of SCT and the Council’s new 

permanent DCS will be critical going forward

This is particularly the case as the Council did not transfer all children’s services to SCT, 

retaining direct provision of services such as education, SEND transport and children’s 

centres. The Council is also responsible for other services such as housing and has a key 

role in supporting SCT in relation to early intervention and prevention, and in reducing 

demand for children’s social care. This includes how the Council and SCT work with children 

and families and other local agencies such as the police. We note that the Children and 

Young People Strategic Partnership has not yet agreed an early help plan and associated 

performance framework. The role of the DCS will be critical in collaborating with partner 

organisations to reach agreement on this plan.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider actions undertaken by the Council to secure improvement in children’s social care outcomes.

SCT workforce

There have been a number of changes to SCT senior management including the 

Finance Director role and a restructure which reduced the number of Directors from 

three to two. However, the key workforce issue for SCT relates to operational roles 

with significant recruitment and retention challenges with social workers. SCT has 

invested in a recruitment campaign called 12 reasons to work in Sandwell but this 

has not been effective in resolving recruitment and retention issues, which we note is 

an issue for the West Midlands and children’s social care nationally. The workforce 

are also initiative weary, which reflects the actions resulting from repeated Ofsted 

reviews.

Nonetheless, the use of agency staff to cover vacant roles, and staff sickness levels,  

pose a significant risk to the continuity and quality of service delivery, along with 

increasing costs for the Trust, which in turn is likely to impact on Council budgets.

Risk management

The Council has SCT on its strategic risk register, and updates on this are provided 

to the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee. SCT is also included in the Children’s 

Services departmental risk register.

SCT have adopted  a risk management framework and maintain a risk register which 

is reviewed quarterly and is reported to the Trust’s Audit Committee. SCT 

management report to OPB on key risks facing the trust such as those relating to 

financial, performance and quality risks. SCT management discuss key risks with 

Council management outside the monthly OPB meetings. However, SCT does not 

share its full risk register with the Council.

P
age 74



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

21

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust (cont’d)

Outcomes for children

Ofsted inspections were suspended during COVID-19. The most recent focused visit was 

undertaken by Ofsted was in March 2021 which was reported in May 2021, which noted:

• Both the Council and SCT have risen to the challenge of the COVID-19 pandemic.

• The impact of the third lockdown and rising COVID-19 rates have had a significant 

impact on staffing, with increased staff turnover and sickness.

• The Trust continues to have serious weaknesses in some areas identified in previous 

inspections. Decisions that help to secure the living arrangements of children on a long-

term basis are not timely, and placements are not always well matched. There is a lack 

of effective oversight and challenge to poor practice from team managers and 

independent reviewing officers. Support services to meet the mental health needs of care 

leavers are still not routinely in place.

• In some practice areas, not all managers have fully understood the full breadth of the 

issues, and this has impacted on the progress and pace of improvement. Many of the 

identified areas of weakness are longstanding and pre-date the pandemic. An 

understanding of practice deficits has not led to timely improvements and solutions for 

many children. The leadership team has plans in place to drive the required changes but 

has been slow to implement these successfully, and there is little evidence of impact.

During our review, in August 2021, Ofsted reviewed the fostering service which was rated 

Good.  This was the first Good rating received by SCT and indicates positive progress is 

being made in relation to this service area. It also provides SCT with an opportunity of 

moving the narrative on its improvement trajectory, for example in relation to recruitment and 

retention issues.

Conclusion and recommendations

Whilst the recent Ofsted rating of fostering services demonstrates some positive progress, it 

is clear from the March 2021 Ofsted focus visit that some areas of significant improvement 

are still required. Staff turnover and quality of practice remain a risk to safeguarding children 

and the quality of their outcomes.

It is positive that Ofsted have reported the success of SCT and the Council’s response to 

COVID-19, and we note that demand led pressures and recruitment and retention 

challenges are not unique to Sandwell.  

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider actions undertaken by the Council to secure improvement in children’s social care outcomes.

However, during its time of operation SCT has struggled to move away from day-to-

day firefighting and has not been able to invest in early intervention and prevention, 

or improve and transform to the extent required by the Council. Looked after children 

numbers and social worker caseloads, whilst both are reducing, remain high.

The statutory responsibly for children’s social care sits with the Council via the role of 

the DCS. As such there is joint accountability for the successful delivery of services 

and outcomes for children. Relationships between the Council and SCT have on 

occasion been an “us and them” culture with a lack of collaborative approach and 

joint accountability.

The Council’s senior leadership – both officer and member – should prioritise 

corporate effort and develop a clear strategy for working with SCT to ensure it 

remains on its improvement trajectory. This should include: 

• working with SCT to progress a multi-agency early intervention and 

prevention strategy.

• ensuring SCT has an appropriately resourced and skilled placements team 

in place to effectively manage the care market.

• conducting a review of KPIs to ensure they are effective for current 

circumstances. 

• undertaking financial benchmarking in relation to children’s social care, 

and take a realistic and pragmatic view on the level of funding required.

• reviewing the governance roles of officers and members in relation to SCT 

so that they are clear on their responsibilities, avoid duplication, ensure 

effective communication and that there is a collective understanding of the 

performance of SCT and how risks and issues are being managed.

P
age 75



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

22

Background

Sandwell Leisure Trust (SLT) was formed by the Council in 2004 due to underperformance 

of the in-house leisure service. SLT was contracted via a Management and Funding 

Agreement (MFA) for a 30-year period: 2004 to 2034, and SLT is currently in the 18th 

contract year (1 April 2021 – 30 March 2022). SLT manage all Council leisure facilities apart 

from one site, for which the Council has contracted with Places Leisure.

Funding for SLT was agreed for the first five years of the contract, which was extended in 

2009 and 2011. Thereafter the annual management fee paid to SLT has been based on the 

approval of a rolling three-year business plan. The Council remains responsible for 

maintaining and investing in the leisure assets managed by SLT.

When SLT was created Council staff transferred to the Trust under the Transfer of 

Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE). A deed of variation 

was agreed in 2013 which permitted SLT to implement a separate single status agreement 

and move their staff from council terms and conditions of employment.

A deed of variation was agreed in 2016 that in the event of a new leisure facility being built in 

Smethwick to replace existing Smethwick facilities, SLT would be the operator. To that end 

SLT have been working with the Council as the assumed operator of the forthcoming 

Sandwell Aquatics Centre, which is being constructed as a venue for the 2022 

Commonwealth Games.

OUR FINDINGS

Contract management

The MFA requires SLT to provide quarterly monitoring reports to the Council which is 

followed by a contract review meeting. The MFA sets out the KPIs for monitoring the 

contract. There have been attempts by the Council to update the KPIs during the delivery of 

the contract, for example to include outcomes such as contribution to the health outcomes in 

the borough, which has largely been unsuccessful. The key performance indicators are 

based on throughputs, such as the total number of visits, with a target to increase visits by 

1% each year of the contract.

The contract with SLT stipulates an authorised officer from the Council should manage the 

contract and make decisions relating to the delivery of the contract. The long-standing officer 

in this role was seconded in January 2018 and a more junior officer was seconded to the 

authorised officer role. This has led to confusion within the Council and with SLT as to who 

is in the authorised officer role, due to more senior officers supporting the officer in the 

authorised role. This in turn has impacted on the agility of decision making by the Council 

and its effective working relationship with SLT.

KLOE A2: Sandwell Leisure Trust 

SLT Business Plan

The MFA sets out that SLT should have at any one time a business plan agreed for a three-

year period, which the Council agrees on a rolling annual basis. The business plan for 

2021/22 has been agreed, but the Council has not yet agreed the business plan covering 

2022/23 to 2023/24, which should have been approved by end of March 2021.

If the Council and SLT fail to agree a business plan the contract resolution approach is 

instigated. The Council is currently seeking external legal advice to clarity the resolution 

process. If resolution can’t be reached either party can terminate the contract.

The current impasse has resulted from the Council wanting, over a number of years, to 

significantly reduce the management fee for the contract, in the context of ongoing funding 

reductions to the Council, and the Trust demonstrating progress towards achieving financial 

sustainability and less reliance on Council funding. The Council and SLT have not been 

able to agree the level of funding for 2022/23 and 2023/24.

As part of this process the Council has sought various clarifications on the draft business 

plan submitted by SLT and has engaged, via Sport England, a consultant to review the 

Trust’s financial position. A feature of recent business plan discussions has been the Council 

seeking details and clarifications from SLT relating to its financial position, such as the 

Trust’s financial and management accounts, and the Trust’s approach membership data and 

marketing plans. Both the Council and SLT feel there have been delays in the 

responsiveness from the other party during this period.

On 2 August 2021 SLT sent the Council an early warning letter highlighting financial 

concerns and a £750k worse than expected financial position for 2021/22 and 2022/23. SLT 

suggested that the impact of any changes were likely to increase the management fee 

requested for 2021/22.

The Council management met SLT management on 11 August 2021and the Council 

confirmed areas of outstanding information and clarification. The Trust advised that their 

audited 2020/21 accounts would be presented to the SLT Board on 14 September 2021, 

and thereafter be shared with the Council. SLT management also advised that by reprofiling 

their budgets the £750k was no longer being sought.

At the time of concluding this review the business plan and funding agreement for 2022/23 

and 2023/24 had not been approved. Typically, the process for negotiating the 2024/25 

business plan would have recently started, to conclude by the end of March 2022.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the contract with SLT and to understand the impact of recent industrial 

action.

P
age 76



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

23

Industrial relations 

SLT, in line with the 2013 deed of variation with the Council, went through a process of 

withdrawal from the National Joint Council (NJC) staff pay and conditions, which are those 

used by the Council, and which had transferred with staff when they TUPEd to SLT from the 

Council in 2014. 

This decision was taken in November 2020,  with staff needing to agree to the new terms 

and conditions. Council management have reported they felt they were not involved in this 

decision, whilst SLT management have advised the decision was taken to reduce costs, an 

issue which formed part of business plan negotiations. 

SLT management negotiated with trade unions and the Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration 

Service (ACAS) were brought in by SLT to help mediate. The trade unions sought industrial 

action to reverse the decision, which has led to two episodes of strike action during 2021.

GMB have ceased industrial action, whilst Unison have continued. 16 Unison members have 

taken strike action out of a total SLT workforce of over 400, and the most recent Unison 

ballot for strike action was due to conclude on 13 October 2021. 

We understand that all SLT staff have now agreed to the new terms and conditions, which 

SLT management have confirmed will not be reviewed until April 2022.

The strike action has seen one leisure facility close on one occasion, with some services 

impacted at other leisure facilities. 

Conclusion and recommendation

The Council has sought over many years, via the annual business planning and funding 

agreement process, for SLT to become more commercially innovative in its operations, and 

to reduce its reliance on Council funding. This has not been successful, and relationships 

between the Council and SLT have now broken down, reflected in the significant delays in 

approving the 2022/23 to 2023/34 business plan and associated funding agreement.

The ultimate responsibility for the operation of leisure services sits with the Council as the 

commissioner of SLT and, as with SCT, the Council has at times appeared to lose sight of 

this joint responsibility and an “us and them” culture has been in evidence. 

At the time of finalising our report the Council has triggered the contract escalation 

procedure and written to SLT management for the Leader of the Council and the CEO of 

SLT to meet and agree a definitive timescale for resolution. 

KLOE A2: Sandwell Leisure Trust (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the contract with SLT and to understand the impact of recent industrial 

action.

The Senior Leadership  - both officer and member - must take ownership of this 

issue, prioritise corporate effort and take urgent steps to either resolve the current 

position with SLT or consider the options for alternative provision should either 

party decide to terminate the current contract, to ensure the continuity of future 

leisure service provision and associated reputational impacts. 

P
age 77



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

24

Background

In 2007 the Council signed a 15-year Strategic Partnership Agreement with BT for the 

provision of various support services. As part of this arrangement BT agreed a pre-let from 

a company called Stofords, the long-leaseholders of  1 Providence Place (Providence Place) 

for a term of 15 years at a rent of £1.2m per annum. Following the demise of this Strategic 

Partner Agreement the Council decided to take an assignment of this lease, thereby 

becoming tenants and inheriting the lease obligations. Simultaneously the Council sub-let 

part ground, first and fourth floors to BT on flexible terms (with breaks) at a rent starting at 

£605k ore annum (with uplifts).

In July 2014, Cabinet subsequently approved the purchase of the long leasehold interest in 

Providence Place at a cost of £23.558m. This purchase price was supported by an open-

market valuation by DTZ of the long leasehold interest. The valuation reflected the 

guaranteed income stream.

In June 2019, the Department for Education (DfE) approved the provision of a new, 750 

place secondary free school in West Bromwich, to be delivered in partnership with Shireland

Academy and the City of Birmingham Symphony Orchestra (CBSO). It was proposed that 

the Council sell the freehold interest of Providence Place with vacant possession, along with 

a development plot to the DfE. DfE would invest up to £17m in converting the building into a 

school, with a provisional completion date of September 2023. The Council considered that 

the building of the Academy and the basing of the CBSO in the area would have significant 

economic and cultural benefits.

The Council undertook an assessment of its property needs, reviewing its office estate and 

space requirement for office workers. It was decided that the Council no longer required the 

capacity offered by Providence Place and on 22 July 2020, the Cabinet approved that 

Providence Place was surplus to the Council’s office accommodation requirements.

A receipt of £8.46m was generated from the sale of Providence Place to DfE, which was 

significantly below the acquisition price of £23.558m in 2014. This is because the building 

is being sold with vacant possession, without the benefit of a secure income stream. The 

sale price is based on a valuation report by Lambert Smith Hampton dated 17th March 

2020. It is possible that the Council could have achieved the acquisition price if it had sold 

with a long-term tenant. The Council is still committed to making the loan and interest 

payments related to the initial purchase. The total remaining loan and interest (for the 

period 2021 to 2055) are £31.69m.

KLOE A3: Providence Place

As part of our 2019/20 financial statements audit we considered the actions taken by the 

Council in both 2014 and 2020. When viewed separately the actions do not appear 

unreasonable. The 2014 decision to purchase the asset with a long leasehold interest was 

based on external valuations at market value. Similarly, the sale to DfE was at the current 

market value based on there being no long leasehold in place.

However, when viewed together it is clear that the Council made a significant loss on the 

basis of these decisions. We estimated that the direct loss against the 2014 purchase 

price of Providence Place was c. £15m (Purchase price £23m, sale price £8.46m). We 

also noted that future loan and interest payments of £31m need to be made (against which 

only the capital receipt arising from the sale of £8.46m can be set). In effect the total loss 

to the Council is c£22.5m. This is a significant loss. We note that the Council has received 

rents from BT totalling £5.386m and it has also had beneficial occupation of part ground, 

second and third floors since 2014. However, it would also have incurred maintenance and 

running costs for the building.

Our 2019/20 audit findings report (AFR) considered the reasons for such a significant loss. 

Whilst difficult to determine we considered that:

• greater challenge should have been applied to the original purchase price, especially 

as the price paid appears to reflect a long leasehold period but break clauses existed in 

the leases.

• the original purchase was intended to support the Council’s Office Accommodation 

Strategy. It was envisaged that by 2017, the Council’s workforce would reduce by 20-

30% and the premises could then be used to accommodate more staff from less 

efficient buildings, thereby rationalising the use of council assets. The later change in 

the estates strategy with Providence Place being considered to be surplus has 

significantly undermined the original basis on which it was purchased.

We noted that, as Providence Place was being sold at its current market value and the 

decision to purchase it was made in 2014 we do not consider that the sale impacts on our 

2019/20 VfM conclusion. However, due to the significance of the loss we have raised this 

matter with the Chief Executive to ensure that future purchases or sales of land and property 

are clearly aligned with a long-term estate strategy. Our AFR recommended that 

management should ensure that all purchases and sales of assets are clearly aligned with 

the Council’s accommodation strategy.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the potential loss to the Council arising from the proposed sale of Providence Place.  P
age 78



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

25

KEY FINDINGS

The purchase and disposal of Providence Place went through the Council’s governance and 

decision-making processes in place at these times, drawing on external property 

consultants and valuations advice.

Following the approach by DfE, and the Council determining there was no longer a use for 

Providence Place for office accommodation, an options appraisal was undertaken which was 

reported to Cabinet and Scrutiny. This options appraisal considered options in relation to 

Providence Place such as disposing of the site on the open market, retaining and leasing the 

property, and the Council funding the school instead of DfE.

The Council has a statutory duty to provide appropriate levels of school places, but the 

options appraisal did not consider alternative options for the location of the Academy outside 

of West Bromwich. Similarly, the options appraisal also did not represent a formal cost-

benefit-analysis between alternate sites outside of West Bromwich. We note that other sites 

suggested by the DfE within West Bromwich would have impacted the highway network and 

/ or led to financial loss by the Council.

We note that if an alternative site was approved, the Council could have continued to utilise 

the building or alternatively may have been able to lease the building on a long-term basis 

thereby reducing the loss incurred.

The Council’s post pandemic workplace vision and strategy supported the Council’s decision 

that it no longer had a use for Providence Place for office accommodation. Providence Place 

would then become solely a commercial property investment, and it is not clear how the 

decision taken to dispose of Providence Place formed part of the Council’s property strategy 

including an asset disposal strategy.

British Telecom Lease

The Council agreed to dispose of Providence Place in August 2020 and contracts were 

exchanged with DfE provided that the Council agreed to the surrender of BT’s lease by 30 

June 2021 in order to vacate the building. BT held the lease until 2026 and had no 

contractual obligation to move. On 6 June 2021 Cabinet agreed to the terms of BT 

surrendering their lease at Providence Place.

KLOE A3: Providence Place (cont’d)
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the potential loss to the Council arising from the proposed sale of Providence Place.  

These terms included the Council having no obligation to provide BT with 

alternative accommodation, the Council would pay BT a surrender premium equivalent 

to one year’s rent of £446.4k + VAT, BT would be waived liability for dilapidation and 

decommissioning works and the Council would be liable for BT’s legal costs for 

surrender. Contracts would be exchanged by the end of June 2021 and BT’s surrender 

date be 31 December 2021 to satisfy the Council’s obligations with DfE. The costs to 

the Council would be funded via a sinking fund for Providence Place to cover 

unforeseen costs.

Conclusions and recommendations

As stated as part of our 2019/20 financial statements audit we considered the action 

taken by the Council in both 2014 and 2020. Viewed separately the actions do not 

appear unreasonable. The 2014 decision to purchase the asset with a long leasehold 

interest was based on external valuations at market value. Similarly, the sale to DfE 

was at the current market value based on there being no long leasehold in place. 

However, when viewed together it is clear that the Council made a significant loss on 

the basis of these decisions.

Property transactions such as those relating to Providence Place are complex. Where 

the Council considers similar transactions in future, those charged with making 

decisions must satisfy themselves that they fully understand the detail of the 

options being proposed. Council officers and their advisors have a responsibility 

to ensure that members making decisions do so having fully understood these 

complexities and risks.

The Council should ensure that all future property or land acquisitions and 

disposals are clearly aligned with relevant Council property related strategies.

P
age 79



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

26

Background 

The Council’s Special Education Needs and Disabilities Passenger Transport (SEND 

Transport) contract expired at the end of August 2021. Currently 19 operators deliver 122 

contracts which are in place to meet the Council’s statutory duty under Section 508B and 

Schedule 35B of the Education Act 1996, whereby local authorities are under a statutory 

duty to provide free school transport to eligible children.

The Council’s budget for the provision of SEND Transport was significantly under pressure 

with a forecast spend of £6.1m in 2020/21 against a budget of £2.5m. This was caused by a 

combination of factors, in particular increasing demand.

The Council undertook a procurement exercise, pursuant to its Procurement and Contract 

Procurement Procedure Rules in relation to a new SEND Transport Contract for 2021-25 

(the new Contract) to award a new contract – at a potential total cost of £22m over four 

years. The Council sought to achieve greater economies of scale and value for money 

alongside addressing new and emerging issues within the sector including the risk of 

modern-day slavery, and improving the overall delivery of the service .

In August 2020, the Council’s Cabinet approved the establishing of a new Dynamic 

Purchasing System (DPS) for the new Contract. A DPS was used for the existing SEND 

Transport contract. Following stage one of the new DPS, a closed bidder tender process 

was undertaken as stage 2 in March and April 2021. An evaluation of the proposals took 

place and a Cabinet Report was prepared setting out the conclusion of the evaluation, and 

the recommended awarding passenger transport related contracts via the new DPS effective 

as from 1 September 2021.

The Council’s Cabinet, at its meeting on 16 June 2021, considered the award of four lots as 

the outcome of the procurement, which would have provided a £300k saving on the previous 

contract as well as improving service quality.  The Cabinet deferred the matter following 

various concerns being raised over the process which had been raised following the 

publication of Cabinet papers prior to the meeting taking place. 

An internal audit fact finding exercise regarding the proposed award of the SEND Transport 

Contracts for 2021-25 was then undertaken. 

The Council took external legal advice on the options available, and an emergency Cabinet 

meeting took place on 21 July 2021 which agreed to continue to use the existing contracts 

with providers for the continued provision of SEND transport until 23rd February 2022, in 

order that the Council meets its statutory duties. 

KLOE A4: SEND Transport

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the circumstances relating to the recent procurement of SEND Transport and the Council’s current 

approach to concluding the procurement. 

KEY FINDINGS

Internal Audit review

Internal Audit undertook a review, reporting in June 2021, which examined the 

background to and decision making relating to the 2021-25 contracts, compliance 

with the Council’s procurement and contract rules, the approach adopted to supplier 

inclusion to DPS and the associated tender, how the outcome of the tender 

evaluation was reported to Members, and considered if any inappropriate or 

fraudulent activity had taken place. This report noted:

• Some of the concerns raised related to the identity of the owner of the two 

companies initially selected as the successful bidders, and the fact he was a 

former employee of the Council and the son of a former Deputy Leader, who 

was investigated into a series of land sales involving the Council (known as the 

Wragge report). As neither individual had any known current role or association 

with the Council they did not form part of the scope of the review.

• Many of the concerns were raised by current suppliers of this service to the 

Council that have not been successful in the latest procurement exercise, so 

there would be an element of potential disappointment and disgruntlement 

behind parts of them. However, each of the concerns were dealt with objectively, 

and in certain cases they were found not to be fully accurate in their 

interpretation. For example, a number of officers from both procurement and the 

service area were involved in the assessment process.

The internal audit report concluded:

• The procurement was undertaken with the correct intentions.

• Some concerns and issues raised have an element of substance.

• A number of issues regarding the quality of certain information provided by 

bidders in support of their applications

• A number of key Council processes were not followed. In particular the need for 

officers involved in the exercise to formally declare if they have any potential 

conflict of interests, the completion of a Starting a Procurement form which 

captures key information from the outset, and to respond to bidder’s applications 

within agreed timescales. However, while internal procedures within service 

areas had not always been followed, none of these were in themselves a direct 

breach of the Council’s Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules.

P
age 80



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

27

KEY FINDINGS (cont’d) 

• Sufficient documented consideration does not appear to have been given to both 

financial modelling and the risks, particularly around resilience, associated with the 

potential placing of all four large contracts with just two companies, who in themselves 

come under the ownership of one individual.

• None of the officers interviewed indicated that they had been placed under any pressure 

by any other officer or elected member as part of the procurement exercise. 

• While the significant reduction in lots would see a subsequent reduction in the number of 

companies the Council would be contracting with, from the evidence available to them, 

Internal Audit found nothing to suggest that the reduction of competition was undertaken 

with the sole aim of benefitting two particular companies. Similarly, they came across no 

evidence to suggest that any inappropriate or fraudulent activity had taken place.

The Internal Audit report concluded that the issues identified in the review in all likelihood will 

necessitate a need to revisit the procurement exercise. In particular the way in which use 

was made of the DPS including restricting the number of lots available, how initial decision 

making was considered, agreed and recorded, and how information and the lack of detail 

thereof, was relayed back to the Cabinet in order for them, and later Scrutiny, to make an 

informed decision, on what is in effect a £20m contract award.

Other reviews

The Council’s Corporate and Budget Scrutiny Board and the Children’s Services and 

Education Board have agreed to jointly examine existing and proposed arrangements for 

SEND transport provision. The Council’s Audit and Risk Assurance Committee Chair is 

undertaking a fact-finding exercise into the original procurement exercise. Both activities had 

not been concluded during the course of our review. 

The Council sought to commission an independent review of the original procurement. This 

review planned to assess the compliance and probity of the original procurement, including 

re-running the evaluation stage This did not proceed due there being only one bidder, and 

the cost being deemed not best value.

KLOE A4: SEND Transport (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the circumstances relating to the recent procurement of SEND Transport and the Council’s current 

approach to concluding the procurement. 

Financial management

Since 2018 the overall cost of providing travel assistance including parent mileage, 

travel passes and more recently the offer of personal travel budgets has increased 

by 45% from £3m in 2018/19 to a projected cost of £6.4m for 2021/22. Over the 

same period SEND pupils requiring travel assistance has increased from 680 to 850 

with the average cost per pupil increasing from £5.1k pa to £7.6k pa. This situation 

is not unique to the Council.

The pressure on the SEND Transport budget has been managed over recent years 

by using carried forward underspends in the Education Directorate budget or using 

one off contributions  from reserves. These were fully utilised by the end of March 

2021 and the Council agreed additional funding for 2021/22 with the budget 

increased to £5.6m.  A projected budget pressure of £800k remains, which excludes  

the impact of continuing with the existing DPS framework from September 2021 to 

February 2022.

The Council’s approach to managing the overspends prior to 2021/22 mean that the 

base budget for SEND Transport did not reflect the true cost of providing the 

service. This led to some of the criticisms in relation to the value of the planned 

procurement award.

The extension of the original DPS contract by six months has seen an increase in 

forecast costs for the service 

Delegation and communication

Cabinet approved the procurement approach at its meeting in August 2020, 

delegating the detailed design, including lot structure, to the Travel Assistance 

Service team, working with the procurement and legal teams, with the procurement 

team managing the overall procurement process

A key change to the existing DPS framework, which focused on costs, was to 

introduce a greater focus on quality in the new DPS framework, in relation to 

children’s safeguarding, and employment practices.

P
age 81



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

28

Delegation and communication (cont’d)

Whilst the teams involved in developing the new contract design were aware of the planned 

service quality benefits, such as improved safety standards, reliability and quality of the 

service, more could have been done to ensure key decision makers were aware of the 

reasons for the change and the planned benefits when the new procurement approach was 

discussed and agreed in August 2020, and prior to the planned approval in June 2021, 

noting the significant changes to members of the Cabinet between these two dates.

A comparison between providers used on the current contract with those who were being 

proposed to be awarded contracts via the new DBS framework may have also helped 

managed a more effective contract award discussion.

The publication of the proposed award

The Council chose to include the recommendations for the award of the new DPS contracts 

on the public part of the agenda papers for the Cabinet meeting on 16 June 2021, including 

the results of the evaluation. This was the direct cause of challenges being made to 

members of Cabinet prior to the meeting taking place.  It is unusual for such potentially 

commercially sensitive information being made public in advance of a decision being made 

on the award of a major contract. 

The outcome of the June Cabinet meeting has significantly impacted on the Council’s 

reputation, including the matter being raised in Parliament, and has further impacted on the 

relationship between officers and members including levels of trust. The pausing of the 

procurement has also increased the level of expenditure on the services placing further 

pressure on the Council’s budget, and creates risks for the Council such as accusations of 

suppliers canvassing members during the intervening period.

Conclusion of the procurement

The procurement of the contract was initially paused, pending the outcome of the various 

reviews being undertaken. However, in order to not have to further extend the current DPS 

contract, work has been undertaken, including obtaining external legal advice, to review the 

structuring of the lots, and to consider whether the new DPS framework will be used. A 

report is planned to be presented to Cabinet on 3 November 2021 to agree how to proceed.

KLOE A4: SEND Transport (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the circumstances relating to the recent procurement of SEND Transport and the Council’s current 

approach to concluding the procurement. 

Conclusions and recommendations

The focus of service quality in the new DPS framework represents important and 

positive progress for the Council in managing a major contract of this 

type. However, weaknesses have been identified by Internal Audit in some aspects 

of the procurement approach, although these did not represent a breach of the 

Council’s Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules.

The manner of the pausing of the procurement has damaged the Council’s 

reputation, put further strain on officer and member relationships, and created 

uncertainty and risks over how the conclusion of the procurement will be viewed 

and opened the Council up to potential legal challenges.

The Council already uses a DPS for commissioning travel assistance services, so 

has familiarity with the approach, as do providers. Whilst not the only procurement 

option, DPS is considered an appropriate procurement approach for a public sector 

organisation procuring services of this type. Operators can bid to be appointed to 

lots on the framework, and if unsuccessful continue to try do so by meeting the 

Council’s service standards. When the Council requires a service, operators on the 

DPS framework are asked to tender for the work.

This was a major and complex procurement. An Invitation to Tender was 

advertised on 12 March 2021, with a closing date of 2 April 2021, for the contract to 

go live on 1 September 2021. This time frame was inadequate for such a large and 

complex contract.

The Council’s senior leadership – both officers and members – must place 

priority on agreeing the outcome of the SEND Transport procurement 

exercise to ensure a further contract extension is not required. This should 

include:

• Not losing the significant progress made on the contract specification’s 

focus on service quality.

• Greater support, involvement, dialogue and oversight with the officer 

teams with responsibility for progressing the procurement.

• Ensuring the contract provides the Council with effective management and 

oversight of the personal transport market.

P
age 82



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

29

Recommendations (cont’d)

For the conclusion of the SEND Transport procurement and for all future major 

procurements, the Council should ensure that:

• Record keeping and declarations of interest are undertaken in line with Council 

policies and procedures.

• Decision making does not create real or perceived risks in relation to inappropriate 

procurement decisions.

• Procurement timescales provide adequate time for both suppliers to submit high 

quality bids, and the Council to undertake appropriate evaluation, scrutiny and 

decision making. This timescale should include appropriate time in advance of the 

procurement for the council to undertake the necessary strategic thinking and 

planning required, and mitigate the risk of not making an award in the planned 

timescale

KLOE A4: SEND Transport (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the circumstances relating to the recent procurement of SEND Transport and the Council’s current 

approach to concluding the procurement. 

P
age 83



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

30

Background

Sandwell Land and Property (SLaP) was incorporated on 14 January 2011 as a limited 

company. SLaP was established by the Council as a vehicle for protecting the freehold of 

the Council’s schools and related sites. SLaP is a non trading company and has no 

employees.

The Council is the sole shareholder of the company. SLaP is the freeholder of 99 education 

assets and leases them to the Council for a nominal sum of £1 per year in the form of 

ground rent, with the Council responsible for the maintenance of the assets as a condition of 

the lease.

Our 2019/20 Audit Findings Report noted that we have had extensive discussions with 

officers around the accounting for SLaP property and around the history and purpose 

of the company.

We agreed with management’s view that the company should be wound up as soon 

as possible and that Council representatives should discuss with the Directors of the 

company the ongoing purpose of the company and whether it could continue in its 

current form. We requested additional assurances around the security of schools’ 

assets should the company be wound up before a decision is made on the future of 

the company, with the company expected to be wound up during 2021/22.

KEY FINDINGS

Reason for creating the company

At the time of establishing SLaP, the Council understood that new legislation relating to 

academy schools created a risk that schools converting to academy status could take over 

the freehold of the Council’s education assets. On taking external legal advice after 

establishing SLaP it was confirmed the freehold of education assets would not pass to 

academies.

Given the cost and additional complexity of managing an arm’s length company 

arrangement, it is unclear why the Council has not sought to take education assets back in 

house sooner.

KLOE A5: Sandwell Land and Property

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the background to the establishment of the company, actions undertaken by the Council to ensure the 

company complies with legislation, and delays to winding down the company.

KEY FINDINGS

Compliance with legislation

The company and its Directors are governed by Company Acts law. There is 

evidence that the Directors of the company were not familiar with their legal 

responsibilities in relation to proper record keeping and failing to meet statutory 

deadlines for example submitting company accounts.

A number of Council members and officers have been appointed to company 

Director roles during the period of the company’s operation, with one Director in 

place at the time of this review.

SLaP has never formally appointed a company secretary. A former Council Chief 

Executive, when a Director of the company, undertook the company secretary role 

informally. When they left their Director role in January 2019 it has been unclear who 

has subsequently delivered this role.

The administration of the company’s business has been undertaken by officers of the 

Council, such as legal and finance, supporting members in company director roles, 

including an understanding of their company roles and obligations. We have not 

been able to confirm if formal guidance and training has ever been provided to 

company Directors. This has created a risk that Directors have not fully understood 

their legal responsibilities, including the distinction between the Council as 

shareholder and leaseholder, and SLaP as freeholder of the education assets.

The company was created without secretary of state consent, the Council has 

subsequently sought counsel advice that broadly indicated that if no government 

challenge had arisen, it was not likely to occur.

The company’s accounts have been qualified in relation to asset valuations and 

ownership. We note that shares in the company were not issued in accordance with 

the relevant legislation.

Council’s governance arrangements

SLaP is a risk on the Education Service risk register, but has not had a profile with 

the Council’s senior leadership, and nor has there been a senior individual, since the 

former Chief Executive left the Council, with effective understanding and 

organisational oversight of the company.

P
age 84



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

31

Current position

The Council has appointed external legal advisors to advise on the winding up of the 

company. The legal advisors are advising both the Council as shareholder and leaseholder, 

and the company in the form of the company director.

In October 2021 the Cabinet acting as shareholder of the company approved instruction to 

the SLaP director to pursue voluntary liquidation. An insolvency practitioner has been 

engaged to administer the winding up of the company. The insolvency practitioner has 

appointed a tax advisor to advise on any tax implications and has advised the Council that 

due to the nature of the company and the company’s assets, they are able to transfer the 

assets to the Council on the basis of their indemnity as liquidator, ensuring they are not 

responsible for any liabilities identified during the winding up process.

The Council’s legal team is reviewing the legal title and beneficial interests of each asset to 

ensure the Council will have legal title when transferred from SLaP, and whether beneficial 

interests sit with the Council or, for example if this should be transferred to another body 

such a governing body of a school. Should such examples be identified, the beneficial 

interests should have been transferred prior to the asset being transferred to SLaP.

The winding up process had not concluded at the time of our review.

Conclusions and recommendation

The Council has incurred additional costs to set up, administer and wind up SLaP when the 

purpose of establishing the company proved to be unnecessary.

There has been significant weaknesses in the understanding of roles and responsibilities, 

between those acting on behalf of the Council and those acting on behalf of the company. 

There has been a lack of consistent senior leadership oversight of the company, highlighted 

by delays in progressing its winding up. There are a number of instances where the relevant 

legislation has not been followed, such as the issue of shares.

The Council should ensure that when considering establishing an arm’s length 

company in the future there is a clear purpose for doing so and that those officers / 

members of the Council in company director roles are clear of their role and 

responsibilities in relation to that company.

Where arms length companies already exist the Council should gain assurances that 

company directors fully understand their company roles and responsibilities, that the 

company administration is properly resourced and appropriate training is provided to 

company directors. The purpose of the company should be revisited on a regular 

basis to determine whether the company continues to be of benefit to the Council.

KLOE A5: Sandwell Land and Property (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the background to the establishment of the company, actions undertaken by the Council to ensure the 

company complies with legislation, and delays to winding down the company.

, 

.

P
age 85



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

32

Background 

The Council was approached by the organisers of the MADE music festival, for the potential 

to use Sandwell Valley, a Council owned site, as the venue for the festival, to be held in 

August 2020. MADE festival was established in 2014 with aims of celebrating West Midlands 

contemporary music, creative arts and street food. 

The Council agreed to host the event, recognising its alignment to the Council’s ambition to  

strengthen Sandwell Valley’s identity as a ‘destination gateway’ into the Sandwell / West 

Midlands region, and as part of the wider proposals for establishing Sandwell Valley as 

future major festival site. The event would generate income for the Council of £18,000-

£20,000 for hosting the festival.

Due to the subsequent outbreak of COVID-19 the festival was postponed in 2020, to take 

place on 31 July and 1 August 2021. The ongoing pandemic during 2021 and uncertainty 

regarding the timing of changes to government guidelines led to a late decision not to allow 

the festival to take place on the rescheduled dates. This led to a breakdown in relationship 

with the festival promoter, who considered legal action against the Council, a situation which 

was resolved with the festival ultimately taking place on 18 and 19 September 2021.

KEY FINDINGS

The original decision to host the festival was made by the then Leader of the Council on 15 

January 2020. The Council’s events team managed the planning for the event, including 

liaising with other relevant statutory bodies such as the police, via the Council’s Statutory 

Advisory Group (SAG). SAG also had a role to ensure the Council’s statutory responsibilities 

were met in relation to issues such as safety, traffic management and licencing 

permissions.

In the months and weeks prior to the rescheduled 2021 event taking place SAG received 

updates on all events due to take place in the borough, those hosted by the Council and 

those hosted by other bodies. During this period there remained uncertainty over the timing 

and nature of the government’s four stage road map for easing COVID-19 lockdown 

restrictions, and because of this there were delays in formally approving that the MADE 

festival could take place as planned, with government delaying until 19 July when all legal 

limits on social contact in England would be removed.

The Council’s Strategic Incident Management Team (SIMT) which was set up to consider 

various COVID-19 related activities, considered the viability of the rescheduled 2021 event. 

This included infection rates and vaccine take up in the borough, and the risks associated 

with the high level of visitor numbers expected to attend the event . SIMT comprised the 

majority of Directors on the Council’s Leadership Team and relevant Heads of Service. 

KLOE A6: MADE Festival

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the governance arrangements and decision making relating to the Council hosting this festival. 

SIMT raised concerns about the viability of holding the event on 31 July and 1 

August which were shared with event organisers and promoter at a meeting on 23 

June 2021.

The event promoter advised the Council that should restrictions lift on 19 July 2021 

and the event was not permitted to go ahead it would have serious consequences on 

the future sustainability of the event.

On 30 June at a further meeting the Council advised the organisers that the Council 

was not able to grant permission for the event to proceed as scheduled, until the 

Council had seen and interpreted the revised government regulations and guidance 

after 19 July 2021 and assess the COVID-19 safety of the event. The Council 

advised the organisers that these timescales meant it would be unwise for them to 

advance their current plans and a later date should be considered for the event.

The Council received a COVID-19 risk assessment from the organisers on 6 July 

which was reviewed by the Director of Public Health and discussed with the portfolio 

holder for Strong and Resilient Communities. Both raised concerns about holding 

the event on the planned days. The organisers requested the opportunity to submit a 

revised proposal for the event to take place on 18 and 19 September 2021.

On 13 July the Council became aware that tickets were being advertised by the 

promoter for the event on the planned event days and queried with the organisers 

why the event was being promoted. The Council then received a letter from the 

promotor’s solicitors seeking Council justification for the decision to postpone, 

believing the Council had approved the event booking. The Council sought counsel 

advice, as the event booking form had a disclaimer in relation to COVID-19 and, in 

its view, the organisers had not provided all relevant documentation, for example, in 

relation to road closures.

The organisers also undertook negotiations with an alternative site outside of the 

borough which proved unsuccessful. The promoter advised the Council that the 

financial impact of not holding the event as planned could result in bankruptcy and 

he would consider taking legal action against the Council seeking recovery of costs.

The Council met the organisers on 22 July to discuss alternate September dates and 

the promoter announced the postponement of the event the following day.

P
age 86



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

33

KLOE A6: MADE Festival (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the governance arrangements and decision making relating to the Council hosting this festival. 

KEY FINDINGS (cont’d)

SAG met on 26 July to consider the alternate September dates and confirmed with the 

organisers on 29 July approval for the new dates, subject to satisfactory finalisation of all 

relevant plans and compliance with terms and conditions of booking.

The event took place on 18 and 19 September 2021.

Conclusions and recommendations

There was uncertainty on the timing and detail of government regulations relating to the 

staged removal of lockdown restrictions being faced by all organisations and individuals 

during this period. However, the Council demonstrated a lack of decisiveness and clarity of 

decision making with the organisers of the event, with the governance around this decision 

making unclear.

The strategic reason for originally making the decision to host what was planned to be an 

annual event was its alignment to the Council’s ambition to strengthen Sandwell Valley’s 

identity as a ‘destination gateway’ into the Sandwell / West Midlands region, and as part of 

the wider proposals for establishing Sandwell Valley as future major festival site. We note 

that the Council’s relationship with the organisers has been negatively impacted by how 

the decision making process was managed. There is a risk that the organisers may not 

seek the borough as a venue for future events.

As part of the planned review of the scheme of delegation the Council should ensure 

that there is clarity of decision making on hosting events, and that the governance 

arrangements relating to such decisions are effective and clearly communicated.

P
age 87



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

34

Background

The Council chose to outsource its waste and recycling service and in November 2010, 

following a procurement exercise, the Council confirmed the appointment of a consortium 

led by Serco to deliver a 25 year, £650m integrated waste and recycling services contract. 

Council staff were transferred to Serco under the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 

Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE).

Serco are responsible for the collection of household food and garden waste and recycling, 

street cleansing, the associated vehicle fleet, and the household recycling centre (HRC).

During the course of COVID-19 the Council has become increasingly concerned about the 

performance of a number of aspects relating to the delivery of the contract.

Service delivery has also been impacted by industrial action from some of the Serco 

workforce.

KEY FINDINGS

Contract management

The contract includes 34 Key Output Targets (KOTs) which are the basis for contract 

performance management. The contract is self-monitoring and Serco provide the Council 

with monthly performance data. Penalty points are accrued for failure to meet KOTs 

and these are reviewed each month by the Council, with financial penalties based on penalty 

points accrued each month. Failure to regularly meet KOTs over a twelve-month period can 

trigger a contractual default. There have been no defaults during the contract to date.

There had been formal contract monitoring meetings every six months between the Council 

and Serco in the form of a Waste Management Board. The Council Leader and relevant 

portfolio holder attend these board meetings and the Board is the formal decision making 

body. The Board meetings were suspended as a result of the onset of COVID-19 but have 

been subsequently re-introduced on a three-monthly basis.

The KOT in relation to recycling rates sets out a sliding scale of annual improved rates, with 

60% being the target for 2021 and the actual rate being 32%. This is calculated on the 

tonnage of recycling against refuse collected. Serco have failed to meet these annual targets 

and may incur financial penalties of up to £1.2m per year. The reasons for under 

achievement of the target are considered to be household behaviour and weekly collections, 

the latter forming part of the original contract specification. The Council has provided Serco 

with a letter of comfort reducing this target and reducing the annual financial penalty.

KLOE A7: Waste service
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the  performance of the waste service, the Council’s management of the contract with Serco, and understand the 

impact of recent industrial relations issues.

The Serco contract was the first major outsourcing of its type undertaken by the 

Council. There is a perception that the approach to managing the contract did not 

adequately change from the way these services were managed when the Council 

operated a direct labour organisation model. Over the past ten years of the contract 

there have been a limited number of contract variations and requests made for 

additional services were not effectively specified. 

The KOTs are considered well defined, but they are generally based on annual 

quantity rather than frequency and service quality. The Council is intending to 

engage an external consultant to review the KOTs to determine whether these 

contract specifications can be amended.

The vehicle workshop is operated by the Council and the Council maintains the 

vehicles through a separate maintenance contract with Serco. The contract terms 

meant that Serco were to replace fleet vehicles after 8 years of the contract (five 

years for smaller vehicles) which did not happen. This was identified during 2018 

and discussions were held between the Council and Serco on whether the Council 

would borrow to fund the capital expenditure. The Council took external legal advice 

which confirmed such an action would represent state aid. A Fleet Board was 

introduced in May 2021 for Serco and the Council to progress a fleet replacement 

programme and Serco have committed to replace 18 refuse collection vehicles with 

delivery due in December 2021, as well as investing in mixed domestic recycling 

trucks.  Serco have also hired newer sweeper vehicles, pending their replacement.

Financial management

Serco submit a monthly bill in line with the contract payment mechanism.

In recent years the Council’s budgets for waste management has underspent and an 

underspend is forecast for 2021/22. The underspend is a result of financial penalties 

incurred by Serco, and income the Council receives from recyclate sales. The prices 

for the latter are dependent on market fluctuations. The underspend is used to 

maintain a reserve, currently £3.5m, which is used to manage fluctuations in disposal 

market rates and contract fees.  

P
age 88



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

35

Service performance

COVID-19 impacted on service delivery – which was common across the sector – as the 

workforce were impacted by absences, for example due to self-isolation via shielding or 

because of other COVID-19 regulations, as well as social distancing measures introduced 

for those who were at work. Garden and food waste collection were suspended during the 

first lockdown and the HRC was closed.  Serco is still not operating a full service in particular 

food waste collection.

The pandemic has impacted on both waste collection and street cleansing, with street 

cleansing staff backfilling waste collection roles.  Vehicle reliability has also contributed to 

service performance.  

The pandemic shone a light on working practices and performance at Serco, contributing to 

service performance issues. During 2021 Council management have taken action to work 

with Serco to ensure necessary improvements are introduced. We understand, that as a 

result Serco’s performance management of poor performing crews has improved, which has 

led to suspension of some staff and others leaving. This has contributed to industrial 

relations issues. 

In early October the 100% in-day completion of waste collection rounds was achieved for the 

first time in approximately 9 months. 

Serco have developed  a waste and recycling recovery plan, and a recovery plan for street 

cleansing. At the time of this review they were being appraised by Council officers and 

were to be approved by the Waste Management Board. 

Industrial relations

Council staff were TUPE’d to Serco on the council’s terms and conditions for the first ten 

years of the contract.  Industrial relations issues arose in May 2021 when trade unions 

(Unite, Unison and GMB) raised issues with Serco management in relation to staff 

grievances, salary benchmarking, health and safety concerns and staff complaints relating to 

bullying.  

We understand that Serco management have investigated the complaints and have 

concluded that the staff complaints related to management seeking to improve working 

practices and did not represent bullying. Serco management have also investigated staff 

grievances and health safety concerns and believe these to be  resolved. Unite and Unison 

agree, but GMB  believe they remain unresolved.

KLOE A7: Waste service (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the  performance of the waste service, the Council’s management of the contract with Serco, and understand the 

impact of recent industrial relations issues.

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) are involved in arbitration 

with GMB. At the time of this review strike action was planned and GMB introduced a 

2-month overtime ban for their members. 120 of the 300 workforce are GMB 

members. Serco’s senior management continue to engage GMB to try to bring 

resolution to the dispute.

Leadership and staff continuity

There have been changes to the senior officers at the Council with the relevant 

Executive Director and Director leaving in the past twelve months. An interim 

Director has been in role since May 2021 with a permanent Director due to start in 

November 2021.  Until the interim Director was in role there was inadequate senior 

officer involvement in relation to the contract at  time when this was needed to 

manage Serco’s contract performance during the pandemic. The interim Director has 

brought focus to the situation including engaging with senior management of Serco. 

The Council’s contract manager has been in role for seven years. There had been 

similar stability in this role at Serco until there were changes  in early 2020. More 

generally there have been a high number of management changes at Serco over the 

past year including the regional manager, regional managing director, operations 

manger and the senior contract manager. These changes have led to a lack of 

continuity in relationships with the Council and impacted on effective partnership 

working. In August 2021 a new senior contract manager and operations manager 

started but both left in September.  The Serco managing director has introduced a 

new structure responding to concerns raised by the Council, and has instigated a 

programme of staff engagement.  Serco are also taking steps to better manage poor 

performing staff, which is also leading to some further staff changes. 

As noted elsewhere in this report, the Council’s Leadership Team has not received 

effective corporate monitoring information on key council service indicators, which 

includes the Serco contract. This has been recognised and changes are being made 

to address the situation.

P
age 89



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

36

Other findings

The performance issues associated with the Serco contract have seen an increase in 

complaints from residents, and increased enquiries to the Council’s contact centre. Fly 

tipping has increased in the borough and the closure of, and then waiting time delays at, the 

household recycling centre are considered a contributory factor.

There is a need to review enforcement of public realm issues so the Council is clearer if 

the ownership sits with Serco or Council services such as parks, housing and grounds 

maintenance.

On 22 July 2021 the Council’s Economy Skills Transport and Environment Scrutiny Board 

agreed to carry out a review of Waste Services and the Cleanliness of the Borough. The 

working group undertaking the review had not reported at the time of producing this report

Conclusions and recommendations

Serco have not brought the innovation and investment expected by the Council, and the 

culture of the workforce has impacted on Serco’s ability to deliver the contract. Whilst there 

are issues relating to Serco management, it is only recently that Council management have 

taken a robust approach to managing poor contract performance, which has led to some 

performance improvement. Serco remains on an improvement journey.

The Council should prioritise corporate effort to ensure that the recovery plans are 

approved and appropriate senior management oversight is given to monitoring their 

effective delivery.

The Council should ensure robust contract management arrangements are in place, 

and review the Key Output Targets (KOTs) and work with Serco to ensure they are 

line with Council expectations and the data is available to allow effective monitoring 

of contract outcomes.

The Council should ensure that the investments specified in the contract with Serco 

are made, such as a new vehicle fleet.

KLOE A7: Waste service (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the  performance of the waste service, the Council’s management of the contract with Serco, and understand the 

impact of recent industrial relations issues.

P
age 90



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

37

Background 

Following approval of the Asset Management Land Disposal Cabinet Committee (AMLDCC) 

at its meeting on 19 December 2012, the Council entered into an option agreement with a 

local developer in respect of the proposed development of Lion Farm Playing Fields in 

Oldbury (Lion Farm). The proposed development related to a premium designer outlet 

centre, which could support significant  economic, environmental and social benefits to the 

borough and wider region. The minutes of the AMLDCC were received by Cabinet on 9 

January 2013 and full Council on 5 March 2013. 

An option agreement is a legally biding agreement that gives a potential developer a period 

within which to investigate the development of a site and the owner of the site agrees to sell 

the land to the developer at a future point, Any costs incurred by the developer during the 

option period are at the developer’s risk. 

The option agreement was dated 21 May 2013 and the developer paid the Council an option 

fee of £245k plus a contribution to the Council’s legal costs. The option agreement gave the 

developer the option to acquire the freehold of the Lion Farm site should planning 

permission be granted. 

The agreement gave the developer 12 months to undertake pre-development activity with an 

option to extend for a further 12 months. The agreement also provided for a secondary 

option agreement to be entered into by the Council and the developer.

After the initial 12-month period in 2014 the Council approved the request to extend the 

agreement by a further 12 months. In 2015, before the second 12-month period had 

concluded the Council confirmed that the developer had complied with their obligations and 

the parties began discussing the secondary option agreement.  

In 2017 the developer was made aware of a rival premium designer outlet scheme in 

Cannock that had received full planning permission. The developer approached the Council 

for approval to progress the development. On 15 November 2017 the Cabinet approved 

variation to the existing option agreement with conditions including resident consultation, re-

provision of current football pitches, undertake an economic impact assessment, submit a 

full planning application, and the site should be developed as a premier retail/leisure 

development which will attract high-end outlets.

In 2018 the Council sought counsel advice on whether the options agreement was legal with 

the QC confirming in August 2018 that the options agreement was a legally binding decision. 

KLOE A9: Lion Farm

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s governance arrangements and decision making in relation to the Lion Farm development. 

Governance relating to the original decision

A review by the Council in 2018 identified governance weaknesses in relation to the 

original decision to grant the option agreement and made the following 

recommendations:

• Enhanced member training to improve awareness on declaration of interests.

• The need to ensure resolutions are enacted in a timely way – the original 

AMLDCC decision requested a follow up report on progress which was not 

progressed until 2017 with a report to Cabinet.

• A clearer record of the decision-making process to support recommendations 

being made to members

• A new protocol for the disposal of Council owned land and buildings is 

developed.

External review

The Council engaged a consultancy firm to review the governance and decision 

making in relation to Lion Farm and three unrelated property transactions. They 

reported in January 2020. The report was not made available to us until we 

commenced this review.

We have reviewed the findings of the report but under the terms of its agreement 

with the Council we are unable to quote from this report. We are considering the 

powers available to us under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to require 

the release of the report. However, to ensure the timely release of our report we 

have set out our overall conclusions below.

Current position

The Council’s procurement regulations do not apply to property transactions, and 

so there is no legal requirement to publicly advertise the granting of an option 

to purchase a piece of land.

The principal senior officers and senior members involved in the initial agreement 

are no longer Council employees or a member of the Council. We note that there 

were weaknesses in record keeping, which means the current senior officers do not 

have access to all the information relating to the original decision.

P
age 91



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

38

KLOE A9: Lion Farm (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s governance arrangements and decision making in relation to the Lion Farm development. 

The Council must ensure that it has taken all necessary steps to ensure that 

arrangements are in place so that issues identified in the external review are 

appropriately mitigated and managed.

The Council should review its procurement regulations and consider updating 

them to include land sales, including options agreements, to ensure that best 

value can be achieved.

Current position (cont’d)

The secondary options agreement has not concluded and the developer has not yet 

submitted a planning application.

As a result of the 2013 options agreement, the asset will be valued following 

planning approval, before its disposal.

Conclusions and recommendations

The original sale of the option to develop Lion Farm with a limit of 12 months to put a 

development forward appears reasonable. Subsequent decisions to extend the 

secondary option negotiations without an end date were ill-judged. It has meant that 

the Council has little recourse with the developer.

There has been a lack of recent engagement with the developer and the situation 

has been allowed to drift with the senior leadership of the Council not placing priority 

on seeking to agree resolution and a way forward. We understand that the Interim 

Chief Executive has recently re-started dialogue with the developer and is placing 

priority on resolving the impasse, and an options appraisal is being prepared for the 

Cabinet to consider.

The Council must ensure that the recent re-engagement with the developer 

results in agreeing a clear way forward, including an action plan and 

timescale so there is clarity on the responsibilities for the Council and 

developer in order to progress the finalisation of the secondary option 

agreement, or to be clear on the legal process for both parties extricating 

themselves from the agreement and the associated terms.

P
age 92



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

39

Background 

The main Enterprise and Resource Planning (ERP) business system currently used by the 

Council is Oracle E-Business Suite (EBS), which provides a range of key functions that 

support various service areas, including Finance, Human Resources, Payroll, and 

Procurement. The Council’s EBS is also used by maintained schools in the borough, 

Sandwell Children’s Trust and the West Midlands Fire Service.  It has been in place since 

2003.

The current version of EBS used by the Council will become unsupported from 31 December 

2021. Remaining on unsupported software is considered an unacceptable risk to the Council 

due to the loss of support patches from Oracle. The Council agreed to replace  EBS in 2019.  

This decision followed an options appraisal, which concluded that a new cloud-based ERP 

system would be the preferred option. 

The Council decided that Oracle Corporation UK Ltd were the only suitable available 

provider – their Oracle Fusion product. An exemption from conducting a formal tender 

process, to allow negotiation with Oracle for purchase of the appropriate licences,  was 

considered permissible under the provision of the Public Contracts Regulation 2015. The 

Council  published  a voluntary ex-ante notice to inform the market of its intention to 

conclude these negotiations with Oracle and meet its obligations for compliance with the 

2015 Regulation.

The Council also agreed to engage an implementation partner on the basis that the Council 

did not have capacity or relevant expertise to transition to the new system. The Crown 

Commercial Services framework was used to identify suitable implementation providers and 

it was determined that only Inoapps could meet all requirements for implementation partner 

services. The Council contracted with Inoapps for this role for £1.2m. Inoapps had provided 

managed services to the Council since July 2016 and were a platinum Oracle partner. The 

appointments of Oracle and Inoapps were approved by Cabinet on 9 October 2019. 

The contract with Oracle was for five years, with an option to extend to seven years at £700k 

per annum.  The overall cost of the project, for the duration of the five-year contract with 

Oracle, including implementation partner costs, was estimated to be £5.64m. 

There have been repeated delays to the implementation with changes to the go live date for 

the new system, which will not now go live before EBS becomes unsupported at the end of 

2021.

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the introduction of Oracle Fusion and understanding implementation delays 

and their impact. 

KEY FINDINGS

Business case for change

An options appraisal and financial appraisal were used to make the decision on the 

future of the Council’s ERP system. Whilst these would form part of a business case, 

no outline or full business case for change was developed and approved.  We would 

have expected a business case to have been developed for a project of such 

strategic importance and cost. Failure to do so has impacted on the implementation 

stage of the project.

Transformation potential

The introduction of a new ERP system is typically used to support wider 

organisational transformation, improvement, efficiencies and savings. Indeed, one of 

the reasons for replacing EBS was long-term user dissatisfaction with reference to 

inefficiencies, inadequate reporting functionality and prolonged processes to access 

necessary data, with inefficient “work around” solutions being applied.

The lack of a formal business case has meant that benefits relating to the 

transformation potential of the new system have not been clear and  have not been 

at the forefront of the implementation. This has been compounded by a lack of 

corporate ownership of the project and engagement by services, with the project 

seen as Finance or HR related, and not an enabler for organisational transformation 

and improvement.

Instead a “lift and shift” approach has been adopted minimising the opportunities for 

change and improvement and the use of the functionality of the new system. Once 

the new system has gone live there is an intention to undertake “development 

sprints” to identify transformation opportunities. However, the system will have 

already been implemented by this time, limiting the potential for such improvements 

without incurring additional costs in enhancements to the system. The Council has 

also used funding set aside for these sprints to fund cost overruns during the 

implementation stage. 

P
age 93



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

40

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the introduction of Oracle Fusion and understanding implementation delays 

and their impact. 

Project finances

The options appraisal set out the total costs as follows.

The earmarked reserve of £2.625m was to be used to cover implementation costs 

and included £600k for post go live activity (development sprints) and £363k as 

contingency, in addition to the £123k contingency identified via the original funding 

proposal. 

An additional £605k was added to the reserve from COVID-19 emergency funding to 

fund additional costs incurred due to delays. 

Description

 Costs 

2019/20 to 

2023/24 £000 

EXPENDITURE

Implementaiton Costs

Implementaton Suppprt              1,206 

Development sprints                 600 

Internal project team                 386 

Ongoing Costs

SaaS subsriptions              3,240 

Managed service support partner                   70 

Archiving system                 140 

Total costs              5,642 

FUNDING

 Earmarked reserve              2,625 

 Redirection of budgets for current system costs              2,458 

 Resources revenue budget                 682 

 Total funding              5,765 

 Contingency                 123 

A breakdown of the planned allocation of the earmarked reserve is set out below.

The development sprint, project team / contingency and COVID-19 emergency funding 

are currently over committed by £7.8k. Additional costs have been incurred in relation to 

extension to EBS licences, use of additional support due to the delays to going live, and 

contract variations with Inoapps.

Governance Arrangements

There is a programme board which includes officers from the Council and 

representatives from Inoapps, and a programme team including representatives from 

both organisations. The Council has established a programme management office 

(PMO).

The Board reporting includes risk and issues logs and highlight reports. During the 

pandemic and when renegotiating the contract position with Inoapps and the 

subsequent focus securing clarity from Inoapps on their position, these have not always 

received appropriate focus.

Due to changes in the Council’s senior officers there has not been stability with those 

attending he project board. This includes the chair of the Board, which was 

originally the then Executive Director of Resources, followed by the then Chief 

Executive, and is currently chaired by the Director for Strategy and Change.

The contract includes a statement of works which defines key project roles. Whilst the 

Council has a defined programme lead and programme manger for the project, the 

changes to senior officers involved in the project have created confusion over who is in 

the Senior Responsible Officer role, both within the Council and within Inoapps. It is a 

position which remains unclear.

Oracle Subscriptions 438,000

Inoapps Implementation Contract 1,224,150

Development Sprints (4 x £150k) 600,000

Project Team/Contingency 362,850

Total funded by earmarked reserve 2,625,000

Covid Emergency Funding 605,000

Total Funding 3,230,000

Description £

P
age 94



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

41

Governance arrangements (cont’d)

The Cabinet approved the decision to progress the new ERP system and appoint Oracle 

and Inoapps. There have been limited subsequent updates to Cabinet, with the portfolio 

holder receiving updates via director briefings.

Contract management

The programme manager and PMO, supported by the programme lead, are responsible for 

managing the contract with Inoapps. Where a contract variation is proposed by Inoapps the 

PMO discusses with relevant Council stakeholders and is then passed to the Programme 

Board for approval. The programme lead then completes the change request which 

becomes an addendum to the original contract.

The impact of COVID-19 led to a review of the implementation timetable during Summer 

2020, given its impact on for example system testing and training activity. At the same time 

Inoapps identified the need for significant contract variations, believing they had under-

scoped the resources requite to implement the project. The original contract was awarded 

on a time and materials basis. The Council, in negotiating revised contract terms with 

Inoapps moved to fixed price terms with payment based on Inoapps meeting specified 

milestones, which was agreed in November 2020.

The role of Oracle

Inoapps are a platinum implementation partner to Oracle, and Oracle are the provider of the 

new system being implemented. Having purchased Oracle Fusion the Council has not been 

able to effectively escalate the implementation issues with Oracle, in order for Oracle to 

support a resolution.

Organisational involvement

During the majority of the implementation stage of Oracle Fusion there has been ineffective 

engagement from across directorates and services. This has started to change, with greater 

Director ownership, but as already noted, there remains a need for greater senior leadership 

oversight.

The current position

Since the fixed price contract was agreed, with Inoapps taking a greater commercial risk on 

implementation, and having under-scoped their original bid, there has been increasing 

tensions between the Council and their implementation partner and frustrations from the 

Council at the level of support being provided by Inoapps.

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the introduction of Oracle Fusion and understanding implementation delays 

and their impact. 
This has lead to an “us and them” culture rather than a joint implementation focus. At 

the time of this review relationships between the Council and Inoapps had broken 

down, further impacting on the progress of the implementation stage.

The go live date for the new system was deferred from October 2019 to April 2019, 

and subsequently deferred to October 2020. There is currently no go live date 

pending the Council agreeing a way forward with Inoapps. 

Because the go live date will not take place prior to 31 December 2021 when EBS, 

the current system, becomes unsupported, the Council has approached Oracle, who 

also provide the EBS, to negotiate  temporary support from January 2022. Oracle 

are seeking a 12-month extension to EBS which the Council would like to reduce 

due to the impact on unplanned costs, but the lack of a firm go live date is not helpful 

to these negotiations.

We understand that a report is being prepared for Cabinet on 24 November which 

will set out the Council’s options and include a cost benefit analysis of these options.

Conclusions and recommendations

The risk to the Council of having no ERP system available from the 1 January 2022 

is significant.

The Council must prioritise corporate effort to: 

• ensure that temporary support is agreed with Oracle for EBS continuity.

• have an honest and frank discussion with Inoapps and urgently agree a 

clear resolution on the way forward.

• review governance arrangements so that good practice (such as Managing 

Successful Programmes) is in place and embedded, including clarity on the 

SRO role and approach to risk management.

• review the resourcing and scope of the implementation to ensure that it is 

realistic, given current circumstances, focuses on outcomes as well as 

costs, and there is organisation wide engagement and ownership of the 

programme.

• confirm a realistic and achievable go live date.

• ensure for future major projects a full business case is developed and 

approved.

P
age 95



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

42

Background

The Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Executives of Local Authorities is the 

national negotiating body for the pay and conditions of service of chief executives in 

England and Wales.

The JNC sets out the national conditions of service for chief officers of local authorities, 

which include model procedures in relation to performance management, capability, 

disciplinary and redundancy.

There is a different negating body for pay and conditions for other local government 

workers, the National Joint Council (NJC) for Local Government Services.

KEY FINDINGS

The Council’s former Executive Director of Resources received a complaint in relation to 

certain actions that were believed to be outside Council policies and procedures. The 

actions related to matters over 5 years old and appear to have been precipitated by a 

change in control of the labour group. The then Chief Executive, after undertaking a fact-

finding exercise and reviewing the position, invoked the model JNC disciplinary procedure. 

The Executive Director was suspended in March 2020 and the Council engaged the LGA 

to undertake an independent investigation. Prior to the conclusion of this investigation the 

Council finalised its senior management review which created a new structure for the 

Council’s leadership team, resulting in the deletion of all Executive Director roles and the 

creation of new Director roles. The Executive Director chose not to apply for a new 

Director role, which led to the officer being made redundant by the Council before the 

investigation by the LGA was completed.

The Council’s former Chief Executive departed the Council very quickly in July 2021 as a 

result of the breakdown in their working relationship with the new Leader of the Council. A 

decision was made by the two individuals concerned that the Chief Executive would leave 

the Council my mutual agreement, before the JNC model procedure could be invoked.

Following the decision being made the Council took external legal advice on employment 

law and sought advice from the LGA and various options were retrospectively considered, 

including the Chief Executive remaining in post, the Chief Executive claiming constructive 

dismissal, early retirement and mutual agreement, with the latter being considered the best 

value for money option.

KLOE B1: Chief Officers

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s compliance with JNC guidance in relation to the recent departure of certain chief officers. 

The prior to previous Chief Executive also left before the JNC model procedure was 

invoked. The context was a Standards investigation, and the officer chose to resign 

rather than progressing to the formal procedure

Conclusions and recommendations

The Chief Executive and Leader are key roles in any Council, and their working 

relationship is critical to the effective running of the organisation. There are many 

examples in the local government sector where Chief Executives have left councils 

by mutual consent and not followed model procedures, for example, when there is a 

change in Leader.

However, given the context at the Council, the departure of the two previous Chief 

Executives in a similar manner will have contributed to the lack of trust and 

uncertainty in the organisation which is highlighted elsewhere in this report. This has 

been exacerbated by the departure of the Executive Director of Finance through a 

restructure

We also note that the speed of the decision for the former Chief Executive to leave, 

and the lack of other senior officer involvement (such as from the Monitoring Officer 

and Director of HR) and not taking legal advice prior to the decision being made 

created a risk that each party may have had a different interpretation of the outcome 

of the discussion and the decision being made.

The Council needs to consider how it can restore trust between officers and 

members. The Council should ensure that at the very least, appropriate internal 

and external advice is sought should the departure of a chief officer by mutual 

consent is agreed.

P
age 96



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

43

Background 

The Council has been through a period of significant change to its leadership, both in terms 

of senior officers and senior members. Following the local elections in May 2021 a new 

Leader was elected, who appointed a new Cabinet with effect from June 2021. Many of 

these Cabinet members had not previously held a Cabinet role, and some were fairly new to 

the role of councillor.

An interim Chief Executive has been in role since August 2021 and there has been 

significant changes to chief officers over the past year, with vacancies being filled by either 

external interims, or Council officers in acting up roles. These changes were driven in large 

part by a senior management review which concluded in October 2020, although we note 

that some chief officer departures were caused by unrelated circumstances. The changes 

are summarised in the table below.

KLOE B2: Senior leadership

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the background to senior leadership changes and the impact of  interim officers in place.

Key findings

Other than the Chief Executive there are currently ten chief officer roles, of these 

four are recent external appointments, and two other external appointments have 

been made with these officers starting in November 2021. Three officers remain from 

the previous leadership team, two in the same role and one appointed to one of the 

new roles created by the review.

Two roles remain vacant: the Chief Executive and the Deputy Chief Executive, with 

the recruitment of the former recently initiated. The Council has decided to 

not recruit the Deputy Chief Executive and to review the need for this role.

In addition there is a Director of HR, which is not a permanent role and is being held 

by an external interim.

The impact of this recent period of change has been instability and uncertainty for 

the organisation. Whilst external interims are recognised positively for the 

experience they bring from working with other councils and having a “fresh pair of 

eyes” on some of the service challenges being faced, the wider organisation 

considers the use of interims as maintaining a holding pattern before permanent 

chief officers join. The Council will reach the position of having all roles filled by a 

permanent officers during November 2021, other than the two vacancies noted 

above.

The leadership of senior members and senior officers is critical to good governance 

and decision making, and more generally for the ability for the Council to deliver its 

services effectively and to progress its medium-to-long-term priorities.

All key stakeholders met during the course of this review recognised that the 

changes to senior officer and members has led to some immediate and positive 

changes. However, it was further recognised that the Council is at the start of a 

necessary improvement journey, and for these “green shoots” to deliver the 

widespread changes required, the Council’s leadership needs be relentless in its 

focus in delivering and embedding sustainable change. We note that these 'green 

shoots' only occurred on appointment of the current interim chief executive and we 

do not consider that they are embedded in the Council.

Critical to this sustainable change will be the appointment of the right 

permanent Chief Executive, and the Council must ensure an effective 

recruitment process, including maximising the chances of attracting a pool of 

appropriate candidates. Should the appointment of a permanent Chief 

Executive not be successful the Council should seek to retain the current 

interim Chief Executive and move this to a full time contract.

Chief Executive Jul-21 Chief Executive Exernal interim Aug-21 Vacant n/a

Deputy Chief Executive n/a Deputy Chief Executive Vacant n/a Vacant n/a

Executive Director - Adult Social 

Care, Health & Wellbeing Jul-19

Director - Adult Social Care Dec-20 Director - Adult Social Care Exernal interim Apr-21 In role July 2021

Director - Public Health n/a Director - Public Health n/a n/a No change n/a

Director - Prevention & 

Protection n/a

Executive Director - Resources Sep-20

Director - Law & Governance / 

Monitoring Officer n/a

Director - Law & Governance 

/ Monitoring Officer n/a n/a No change n/a

Director - Finance n/a Director - Finance Acting up Mar-20 In role Aug 2021

Director - Business Strategy and 

Change n/a

Director - Business Strategy 

& Change n/a n/a

Internal 

appointment Dec 2020

Executive Director - 

Neighbourhoods Dec-20

Director - Homes & Mar-21

Director - Housing n/a Director - Housing Exernal interim Apr-21 In role July 2021

Director - Borough Economy n/a Director - Borough Economy Exernal interim Apr-21 Appointed Nov 2021

Director - Regeneration & 

Growth Mar-20

Director - Regeneration & 

Growth Acting up Mar-20 In role Sept 2021

Executive Director - Children's 

Services Aug-21

Director - Education & Skills Apr-21

Director - Children's Services n/a Director - Children's Services

Acting up, 

supported by 

external interim Aug-21 Appointed Nov 2021

Post created

Post deleted

Leaving 

Date

Posts Prior to Senior 

Management Review

Posts following Senior 

Management Review

Interim 

Start Date
Interim Status

Permanent 

status

Permanent 

start date

P
age 97



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

44

Background

The Council has arrangements in place setting out how to make a complaint that an elected 

member has failed to comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct. This is in line with the 

Localism Act 2011 (the Act). The Council’s Monitoring Officer, or in their absence or where 

there is a conflict of interest, the Deputy Monitoring Officer, administers the system for 

dealing with complaints. The arrangements set out the stages of a complaint should be dealt 

with: no further action, local resolution or requires investigation.

The Act requires the Council to appoint at least one Independent Person whose views must 

be sought before it takes a decision on whether an investigation should proceed. The 

Council has agreed to there being three Independent Persons, who attend the Standards 

Committee as observers.

There are separate arrangements in place for complaints against senior officers which 

follow national JNC model procedures, with the Council’s Chief Executive (unless 

conflicted) deciding if the thresholds are met to instigate an investigation.

There are separate procedures for whistleblowing complaints, which do not form part of 

the scope of this review.

KEY FINDINGS

The Council has had a history of complaints against members, many of which were not 

found to be circumstances that were in breach of the Code of Conduct. These complaints 

have been from other members, officers and members of the public.

We note that the Monitoring Officer has been subject to a number of complaints from 

members which have not met the threshold for investigation, and there is a perception that 

at least some of these complaints have been spurious and reflect a blame culture. We note 

that no complaint has been upheld against the monitoring officer. Similarly, in the case of 

other complaints against officers, rather than complaints relating to breaches of Council 

policies and procedures, they are based on the dislike of an individual or of an individual’s 

response or actions during meetings.

This forms part of a wider culture and a deterioration in trust and respect between members, 

and between members and officers. This is arguably also reflected in a culture of written 

communications in relation to member enquiries. For example, in many instances officers 

want to have a written record of their response due to the culture of the organisation.

KLOE B3: Complaints

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the appropriateness of complaints made against senior officers and the responses to these complaints.

Again, due to the organisational culture, there is a perception that historically for 

some officer complaints, investigations have been undertaken due to concern of the 

consequences of deciding no further action was required. 

The level complaints at the Council has been described as a “mini industry” which 

takes up valuable time and resource, should the complaints be spurious. 

At its most recent meeting of the Standards Committee on 11 June 2021 an update 

was provided on live member complaints. There were twelve complaints, which had 

been received between July 2019 and May 2021, all alleging breaches of the 

Member Code of Conduct. Investigations had been invoked for all 12 and of these 7 

had concluded there had been no breach, 2 had recommended local resolution, 2 

could not be progressed (the member was no longer a councillor or the complainant 

did not engage in the process) with the outcome of one complaint outstanding.

There are signs that the new political administration has moved away from this 

culture, but this is not  yet evident across the wider councillor group. 

The Council’s senior leadership – both officer and member – must act to 

change the culture and organisational ethos in relation to complaints, and to 

restore balance and proportionality.

P
age 98



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

45

Background 

In 2018, the Committee on Standards in Public Life conducted a review of local government 

ethical standards and invited the submission of comments and recommendations from local 

authorities and representative bodies. The Committee published its final report in January 

2019, which included a recommendation that the Local Government Association  (LGA) 

should draft a Model Code of Conduct. 

The LGA Model Code of Conduct was drafted in consultation with representative bodies of 

councillors and officers of the local government. The final Code was published in December 

2020. The LGA published a supplementary guidance document to support the Code in April 

2021.

During the 2020-21 municipal year, the Council’s Ethical Standards and Member 

Development Committee (the Standards Committee) undertook a wide-ranging review of the 

Members Code of Conduct and associated arrangements. This included the creation of an 

Ethical Standards Working Group which was established to guide improvement in the 

Council’s Ethical Framework. Engagement with members included five engagement 

sessions in December 2020. These sessions covered:

• A review of the Member Code of Conduct, and members were supportive of the adoption 

of the LGA Code of Conduct, subject to an amendment to the interests of family 

members and close associates.

• The Council’s revised social media policy which included ensuring that issues with social 

media were addressed and appropriate support provided to members.

• Members Interests to ensure that members were confident and clear in understanding 

disclosure of interests, their obligations, and how to deal with issues if they emerge. 

Members suggested that greater clarity around the issue of lobbying should be provided. 

Separately and in line with the recommendations within the LGA Model Code of Conduct, 

the  Council’s Gift and Hospitality arrangements were revised, and the limit was lowered 

from £100 to £50.

• Review of the arrangements for dealing with complaints under the Code of Conduct –

these were amended to include an assessment criteria and indicative timescales for 

monitoring and clarity purposes, including  reporting  on the progress of the complaint in 

the case of delays.

• Duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct, which focused on raising 

awareness of the role and work of the councillor and promoting high standards, 

particularly on the specifics relevant to individuals in their respective wards, towns and 

across the borough

KLOE B5: Standards Committee

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the appropriateness of  the work undertaken by the Standards Committee. 

For those members unable to attend these sessions a questionnaire was sent to 

ensure that all members could contribute. The feedback from the sessions was 

collated and presented to members at three further sessions held in February 2021. 

KEY FINDINGS

March 2021 Standards Committee 

At its meeting on 12 March 2021 the Standards Committee recommended the 

approval of :

• The revised Member Code of Conduct, and that these would be reviewed on an 

annual basis, alternating between a desk top review and a more detailed review.

• The revised arrangements for dealing with complaints under the Code

• The revised social media policy and that the Monitoring Officer be authorised to 

make any revisions/updates to the guidance which accompanies the social media 

policy, in consultation with the Chair of Standards Committee.  

• The revised gifts and hospitality guidance

• The protocol for meetings to take place on a regular basis between senior 

officers, political group leaders and chief whips to talk about standards issues.

• The retention policy for Members’ Register of Interests be set for as long as a 

person remains a Councillor, plus three months which represents the relevant 

limitation period for disclosure of information.

• A review of the recruitment process for Independent Persons be undertaken, in 

consultation with the Standards Working Group, and a further report submitted to 

a future meeting of the Standards Committee.

• a further report be submitted to the Ethical Standards and Member Development 

Committee/Standards Working Group in respect of DBS Basic Checks for elected 

Members.

• That a review of the composition of the Ethical Standards and Member 

Development Committee and operation be undertaken in the new municipal year 

These were subsequently approved by full Council with effect from the 2021/22 

municipal year

P
age 99



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

46

KEY FINDINGS (Cont’d)

The Standards Committee also agreed that the member development programme be 

updated to include training on:

• the Code of Conduct;

• members’ interests;

• gifts and hospitality;

• lobbying;

• arrangements for dealing with complaints;

• use of social media;

• promoting high standards, and

• that the induction programme for new members to be updated to include the same 

training, and to incorporate in member Personal Development Plans (PDPs) for any 

issues on an individual basis.

Progress on actions

The new Code and associated guidance and arrangements have been in place since the 

start of the 2021/22 municipal year. The Monitoring Officer has not yet needed to update the 

social media policy.

The training on the Code of Conduct, lobbying, and gifts and hospitality has been 

completed. A working group of the Standards Committee is updating the member 

development programme and engaging members on their development needs, including 

those members who chair committees and are hold appointments to outside bodies.

The Standards Committee working group has completed its review of the recruitment of 

Independent Persons who attend the Standards Committee as observers. There are 

currently three Independent Person roles, with one currently vacant.

Changes to how complaints were reported were introduced at the 11 June 2021 meeting of 

the Standards Committee, to provide assurance that complaints are being dealt with in a 

timely way and to provide the Committee with updates on progress. Importantly, these 

updates are reported on the basis of anonymity, and allows the Committee to identify trends 

and issues based on the nature of complaints raised

A Standards Committee working group has been established to consider the need for DBS 

checks for members, which has not yet reported to its parent committee

KLOE B5: Standards Committee

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the appropriateness of actions taken by the Standards Committee. 

Reopening of old complaints

At its meeting on 11 June 2021 a member of the Standards Committee put forward a 

resolution to review all previous cases of complaints, to ensure appropriate 

processes had been followed and to identify any lessons learned.  This was not 

approved due to there being unclear reasons on justifiable cause, and no advice 

having been sought on the implications of reopening cases which had concluded in 

line with the Council’s policies and procedures.  

Conclusions and recommendations

The unsuccessful resolution to reopen closed complaints is an example of the 

challenge the Council has in moving on from the past, and as highlighted in relation 

to KLOE B4, in changing the culture and organisational ethos in relation to 

complaints, to restore balance and proportionality.

More generally, the recent actions being led by the Standards Committee are good 

practice and are important  given the recent history of the Council. More critical than 

approving the updated Code and related arrangements will be member compliance, 

and the member training and development programme must play a key role in 

ensuring members fully understand the expectations and standards relating to 

their role.  It will take time for the wider organisation to believe that change is 

happening and embedded, from observing consistency in member behaviour in line 

with the Code, and that are all respectful of those they work with and of the Council 

as a civic institution. 

No meetings have yet taken place between senior officers, political group leaders 

and chief whips. These meetings should take place to ensure that these 

stakeholders are able  to discuss emerging issues and trends, recognise good 

behaviours and discuss how to manage behaviours not in line with the Code.

P
age 100



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

47

Background

In Autumn 2014 allegations about the then Deputy Leader were made on social media, 

which lead to police involvement, a standards complaint being made against the Deputy 

Leader, which in turn led to an internal audit investigation and senior officers commissioning 

an independent investigation by Wragge and Co Solicitors. During the course of this 

investigation a complaint was made in relation to the solicitor conducting the review, which 

led to the Council engaging a QC to review the investigation.

The report from Wragge and Co (the Wragge report) was eventually finalised in April 2016. 

Following publication further standards complaints, investigation and legal action took place, 

including a judicial review on behalf of the (by then) former Deputy Leader. A further internal 

review was undertaken at the request of the then Leader into the circumstances surrounding 

the Wragge report and issues which subsequently emerged, which reported in June 2020 

(the Cox report).

On the 18 March 2021 the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee (the Audit Committee) met 

to discuss the Cox report, based on a report from Audit and Governance Panel, which had 

been established by the Audit Committee Chair with the objective to provide a safe space to 

consider this long-standing governance matter and to make recommendations to the Audit 

Committee with a view to determine if the matter had been addressed sufficiently to enable 

closure, or whether there were further steps or actions necessary to enable the matter to be 

concluded.

The Audit and Governance Panel report recognised:

• that over recent years the Council has dealt with and continues to deal with a number of 

governance concerns and issues. Whilst some are historic in nature, a number have had 

a tendency to resurface periodically sometimes due to concerns over how they may have 

been addressed previously.

• in order to address these issues effectively and enable the council to move on and focus 

on its ambitious objectives as detailed within its corporate plan, considerable time and 

resources have been expended to examine the identified governance issues and related 

concerns.

• a number of matters have reached a point whereby the Council has to either been able to 

identify and address shortcomings, or despite its endeavours, it is unlikely that the 

council will be able to fully understand the history, chronology or be able to restore the 

council to its previous position. This can be for various reasons, such as key individuals 

no longer employed by the council.

KLOE B6: Audit Committee

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the actions undertaken by the Audit Committee during 2021  in relation to the review into the Wragge report. 

• the Council needs to ensure that its conducts itself legally and consistently with 

recognised good governance principles and practices. The Council is required to 

consider serious allegations in respect of its conduct or behaviours which could 

give rise to action against it, reputational harm, or lost confidence. The Council is 

obliged to consider relevant arrangements in relation to which their legality or 

whether their ongoing continuance could expose the Council to harm or claims. 

However, the consideration of such allegations needs to be proportionate and in 

the public interest.

KEY FINDINGS

The meeting of the Audit Committee on 18 March 2021 lasted almost six hours and 

adjourned before considering the matter in its entirety. The meeting was contentious 

with members being concerned about the late provision of papers and a lack of 

consensus on decisions (with the Audit Committee Chair taking the casting vote on a 

number of decisions). Due to the length of the meeting a decision on the final matter 

under discussion about the Wragge report was deferred. Following the committee 

meeting a complaint was raised against the monitoring officer. This has not yet been 

resolved.

Due to the pre-election period relating to the May local elections, the Audit 

Committee did not reconvene until 24 May 2021, where discussions were able to 

conclude.

The Chair and a number of other members of the Audit Committee changed in June 

2021 for the new municipal year. The Audit Committee met on 24 June of 2021 and 

the minutes of the March and May meetings were presented for approval. However, 

members of the Committee did not approve the minutes as a correct record and 

requested that they be submitted to a future meeting for further consideration, with a 

potential for a further review to be undertaken.

At the next meeting of the Audit Committee on 16 September 2021 the minutes of 

the March and May meetings were approved with the central action to arrange for 

appropriate apologies to be made where this had been agreed as appropriate to 

individuals involved in the original Wragge review, and that the Monitoring Officer 

update the Committee when these apologies have been made.

P
age 101



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

48

KLOE B6: Audit Committee

Conclusions and recommendations

The Wragge and Cox reports concerned significant governance related issues and, as the 

Audit and Governance Panel stated, the Council needs to ensure that it conducts itself 

legally and consistently with recognised good governance principles and practices. 

However, we note that:

• The matters relate to events in 2014.

• The matters have been subject to significant scrutiny since 2014 including a judicial 

review.

• The review in 2020 and the Audit Panel and Committee in 2021 took place when there 

were significant service issues within the Council and used a significant amount of 

member and officer capacity.

• The matters continue to divide opinions and have resulted in a further lengthy process 

to agree a resolution.

Now that the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee has agreed the actions to bring 

this long-standing matter to resolution, it will be important that – as the Audit and 

Governance Panel recognised - the Council manages its position so that the matter 

does not resurface, so that it can move on and focus on its corporate objectives.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the actions undertaken by the Audit Committee during 2021  in relation to the review into the Wragge report. P
age 102



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Value for Money – Governance Review  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

49

Background

Our 2019/20 Audit Findings Report (AFR) highlighted a number of concerns about the 

Council’s financial reporting in relation to the 2019/20 financial statements, including late 

submission of the draft accounts, incorrect working papers, the basis for provisions, a 

material error between cash and creditors, a material error on the cashflow forecast, and the 

basis for some asset valuations in particular in relation to leisure centres and the Public sixth 

form centre, and the impact of this on the Council’s group accounts.

Our 2019/20 AFR noted that at that time we did not consider that these were sufficient to 

warrant a qualification of the VfM conclusion. However, should these matters reoccur in 

relation to the 2020/21 financial statements audit, we will issue a qualified VfM conclusion on 

financial reporting and consider the use of our wider reporting powers.

KEY FINDINGS

Management created an AFR action plan in response to the recommendations made as part 

of our 2019/20 audit and an associated project team to take forward these actions. As some 

of the key recommendation related to asset valuations, interim resource has been allocated 

to the asset management and valuations teams to progress associated actions.

We have reviewed this action plan which includes an owner and finance lead relating to 

each recommendation. The plan also sets out the actions required, delivery timescale and 

updates on progress.

In total there were 22 recommendations of which 13 were high priority and 9 medium 

priority. The latest version of the action plan reviewed confirms that ten associated actions 

had been completed (five each for high and medium priority) with the remainder in progress, 

with some of these having an inter dependency with the introduction of the new Oracle 

Fusion ERP system. As such, the delays in implementing the Council’s new ERP system 

have an impact on successfully completing some actions

Four of the recommendations did not include required actions in the action plan, and 5 had 

no target date for completion

The Council does not currently have a corporate asset management database, instead 

relying on spreadsheets. The Council is taking steps to procure an asset management 

system, with a report planned to the December Cabinet. This system will take 12 to 18 

months to procure and implement.

Acting up arrangements due to the vacant Director of Finance role until August 2021 has 

contributed to capacity constraints in delivering financial reporting responsibilities.

KLOE B7: Financial reporting

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s response to recommendations raised in our 2019/20 audit findings report. 

RELATED FINDINGS

Whilst the focus of this KLOE concerned the Council’s annual financial statements, 

we identified the following in relation to other aspects of financial planning and 

reporting in the Council:

• There is not a comprehensive understanding across services of the make up and 

profile of individual budgets.

• There has not been a culture of undertaking financial benchmarking to help an 

understanding of unit costs.

• Budget management has been based on service bottom line rather than 

individual budgets.

• The Leadership Team has not received regular budget monitoring reports.

• Director and service engagement in the annual budget setting process has 

been limited

The above has been recognised and changes introduced by the new Director of 

Finance and interim Chief Executive, such as the introduction of financial 

benchmarking, “star chambers” for budget setting, and more regular budget 

monitoring by the Leadership Team.

Recommendations

Management should ensure that the AFR action plan sets out actions and 

completion dates in relation to all recommendations. It should also identify 

where the new ERP system implementation and the planned asset 

management system could cause delays or impacts on planned actions.

Management should ensure that the changes in relation to budget setting 

and budget management recently introduced are sustained, and take steps to 

manage any weaknesses not yet addressed.

Management should ensure the Finance team has appropriate skills and 

capacity to manage the Council’s financial reporting responsibilities.

P
age 103



Appendices

P
age 104



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

51

Appendix A: Improvement recommendations
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page 

#

KLOE B4: Officer and member relationships

1. Embedding the changes that have been made by the Leadership Team and those that are planned will be critical if the Council is to realise its strategic 

ambition and provide effective governance.

14

2. Enhancement of the induction programme to new members of Cabinet, including on local government finance and their governance roles is recommended. 14

3. The Council should ensure that corporate KPIs are agreed so that the implementation of the Corporate Plan can be effectively monitored. 15

4. The forward plan of the Cabinet should be shared with the Audit Committee and Scrutiny Board to help structure their agenda planning. 15

5. The Leadership Team should agree key medium-term financial objectives and principles. There should be effective ownership of the principles that underpin 

the budget setting process, for example the Council’s approach to reserves, contingency and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).

15

6. Senior officers and senior members must lead by example to ensure that the “tone from the top” consistently reflects these values and behaviours. This is 

critical in ensuring that the wider organisation recognises that changes have been made and that all people are confident in adopting these values and 

behaviours. This should build on recently introduced staff briefings to include a programme of staff engagement including “pulse” checks to benchmark and 

monitor progress on the organisation’s wellbeing.

16

7. The Council should ensure that the review of the member development programme is appropriate. In particular, thought should be given to how members 

with special responsibility roles are developed and supported. This should include succession planning for these roles.

16

8. Further work is required to establish a formal performance management framework and agree a set of key corporate indicators for the Leadership Team to 

collectively manage,  receive appropriate management information to monitor progress, and set out clear lines of accountability, responsibility, and 

delegated authority. 

16

9. The recent introduction of financial benchmarking will need to be sustained to create a culture of curiosity in services in how nearest statistical neighbours 

are performing, to support savings identification and to drive improvements

16

P
age 105



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

52

Appendix A: Improvement recommendations (cont’d)
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page 

#

KLOE B4: Officer and member relationships (cont’d)

10. The Council should continue its more outward looking approach is sustained and develop key local and sub-regional relationships. 17

11. When investing in the communications team, the Council should also use this as an opportunity to ensure more effective internal communications, 

including with back-bench members. 

17

12. There is a need to ensure that members of scrutiny and audit committees are aware of their governance roles including how to interrogate reports and ask 

the right questions. 

17

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust

13. The Council’s senior leadership – both officer and member – should prioritise corporate effort and develop a clear strategy for working with SCT to ensure 

it  remains on its improvement trajectory. This should include: 

• working with SCT to progress a multi-agency early intervention and prevention strategy.

• ensuring SCT has an appropriately resourced and skilled placements team in place to effectively manage the care market.

• conducting a review of KPIs to ensure they are effective for current circumstances. 

• undertaking financial benchmarking in relation to children’s social care, and take a realistic and pragmatic view on the level of funding required.

• reviewing the governance roles of officers and members in relation to SCT so that they are clear on their responsibilities, avoid duplication, ensure 

effective communication and that there is a collective understanding of the performance of SCT and how risks and issues are being managed.

21

KLOE A2: Sandwell Leisure Trust

14. The Senior Leadership  - both officer and member - must take ownership of this issue, prioritise corporate effort and take urgent steps to either resolve the 

current position with SLT or consider the options for alternative provision should either party decide to terminate the current contract, to ensure the 

continuity of future leisure service provision and associated reputational impacts. 

23

KLOE A3: Providence Place

15. Where the Council considers similar transactions in future, those charged with making decisions must satisfy themselves that they fully understand the 

detail of the options being proposed. Council officers and their advisors have a responsibility to ensure that members making decisions do so having fully 

understood these complexities and risks.

25

16. The Council should ensure that all future property or land acquisitions and disposals are clearly aligned with relevant Council property related strategies. 25

P
age 106



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

53

Appendix A: Improvement recommendations (cont’d)
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page  

#

KLOE A4: SEND Transport

17. The Council’s senior leadership – both officers and members – must place priority on agreeing the outcome of the SEND Transport procurement exercise 

to ensure a further contract extension is not required. This should include:

• Not losing the significant progress made on the contract specification’s focus on service quality.

• Greater support, involvement, dialogue and oversight with the officer teams with responsibility for progressing the procurement.

• Ensuring the contract provides the Council with effective management and oversight of the personal transport market.

28

18. For the conclusion of the SEND Transport procurement and for all future major procurements, the Council should ensure that:

• Record keeping and declarations of interest are undertaken in line with Council policies and procedures.

• Decision making does not create real or perceived risks in relation to inappropriate procurement decisions.

• Procurement timescales provide adequate time for both suppliers to submit high quality bids, and the Council to undertake appropriate evaluation, 

scrutiny and decision making. This timescale should include appropriate time in advance of the procurement for the council to undertake the necessary 

strategic thinking and planning required, and mitigate the risk of not making an award in the planned timescale

29

KLOE A5:  Sandwell Land and Property

19. The Council should ensure that when considering establishing an arm’s length company in the future there is a clear purpose for doing so and that those 

officers / members of the Council in company director roles are clear of their role and responsibilities in relation to that company.

31

20. Where arms length companies already exist the Council should gain assurances that company directors fully understand their company roles and 

responsibilities, that the company administration is properly resourced and appropriate training is provided to company directors. The purpose of the 

company should be revisited on a regular basis to determine whether the company continues to be of benefit to the Council.

31

KLOE A6: MADE Festival

21. As part of the planned review of the scheme of delegation the Council should ensure that there is clarity of decision making on hosting events, and that the 

governance arrangements relating to such decisions are effective and clearly communicated.

32

P
age 107



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

54

Appendix A: Improvement recommendations (cont’d)
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page 

#

KLOE A7: Waste Service

22. The Council should prioritise corporate effort to ensure that the recovery plans are approved and appropriate senior management oversight is given to 

monitoring their effective delivery.

35

23. The Council should ensure robust contract management arrangements are in place, and review the Key Output Targets (KOTs) and work with Serco to 

ensure they are line with Council expectations and the data is available to allow effective monitoring of contract outcomes.

35

24. The Council should ensure that the investments specified in the contract with Serco are made, such as a new vehicle fleet. 35

KLOE A9: Lion Farm

25. The Council must ensure that the recent re-engagement with the developer results in agreeing a clear way forward, including an action plan and 

timescale so there is clarity on the responsibilities for the Council and developer in order to progress the finalisation of the secondary option agreement, 

or to be clear on the legal process for both parties extricating themselves from the agreement and the associated terms.

38

26. The Council must ensure that it has taken all necessary steps to ensure that arrangements are in place so that all the issues identified in the external 

review are appropriately mitigated and managed.

38

27. The Council should review its procurement regulations and consider updating them to include land sales, including options agreements, to ensure that 

best value can be achieved.

38

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System

28. The Council must prioritise corporate effort to: 

• ensure that temporary support is agreed with Oracle for EBS continuity.

• have an honest and frank discussion with Inoapps and urgently agree a clear resolution on the way forward.

• review governance arrangements so that good practice (such as Managing Successful Programmes) is in place and embedded, including clarity on 

the SRO role and approach to risk management.

• review the resourcing and scope of the implementation to ensure that it is realistic, given current circumstances, focuses on outcomes as well as costs, 

and there is organisation wide engagement and ownership of the programme.

• confirm a realistic and achievable go live date.

• ensure for future major projects a full business case is developed and approved.

41

P
age 108



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

55

Appendix A: Improvement recommendations (cont’d)
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page 

#

KLOE B1: Chief Officers

29. The Council should ensure that at the very least, appropriate internal and external advice is sought should the departure of a chief officer by mutual 

consent is agreed..

42

KLOE B2: Senior Leadership

30. Critical to this sustainable change will be the appointment of the right permanent Chief Executive, and the Council must ensure an effective recruitment 

process, including maximising the chances of attracting a pool of appropriate candidates. Should the appointment of a permanent Chief Executive not be 

successful the Council should seek to retain the current interim Chief Executive and move this to a full time contract.

43

KLOE B3: Complaints

31. The Council’s senior leadership – both officer and member – must act to change the culture and organisational ethos in relation to complaints, and to 

restore balance and proportionality.

44

KLOE B5: Standards Committee

32. Member training and development programme must play a key role in ensuring members fully understand the expectations and standards relating to their 

role

46

33. Meetings between senior officers, political group leaders and chief whips should take place to ensure that these stakeholders are able  to discuss emerging 

issues and trends, recognise good behaviours and discuss how to manage behaviours not in line with the Code

46

P
age 109



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

56

Appendix A: Improvement recommendations (cont’d)
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page 

#

KLOE B6: Audit Committee

34. Now that the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee has agreed the actions to bring this long-standing matter to resolution, it will be important that – as the 

Audit and Governance Panel recognised - the Council manages its position so that the matter does not resurface, so that it can move on and focus on its 

corporate objectives.

48

KLOE B7: Financial Reporting

35. Management should ensure that the AFR action plan sets out actions and completion dates in relation to all recommendations. It should also identify where 

the new ERP system implementation and the planned asset management system could cause delays or impacts on planned actions

49

36. Management should ensure that the changes in relation to budget setting and budget management recently introduced are sustained, and take steps to 

manage any weaknesses not yet addressed.

49

37. Management should ensure the Finance team has appropriate skills and capacity to manage the Council’s financial reporting responsibilities. 49

P
age 110



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

57

Appendix B: The scope of the auditor’s work on value for money 
arrangements 

Revised approach to value for money

work for 2020/21

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 111



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 

firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldw ide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 

separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 

another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 112



 

1 

Commercial in confidence 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CIPFA Financial Management Model  
 
Sandwell Council 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

January 2022 

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 113



 

2 

Commercial in confidence 

Table of contents 
 

1 Executive Summary ....................................................................................................... 3 

1.1 Purpose and scope of the review................................................................................ 3 

1.2 Approach adopted ...................................................................................................... 3 

1.3 Findings...................................................................................................................... 3 

1.4 Next steps and action plan ......................................................................................... 4 

2 Introduction and Background ......................................................................................... 5 

2.1 Objectives of the review .......................................................................................... 5 

2.2 The current financial position .................................................................................. 5 

2.3 Future challenges ................................................................................................... 5 

3 The Financial management model ................................................................................. 6 

3.1 The model purpose ................................................................................................. 6 

3.2 The model approach ............................................................................................... 6 

3.3 The model output .................................................................................................... 7 

4 The review findings ........................................................................................................ 8 

4.1 Introduction ............................................................................................................. 8 

4.2 Leadership .............................................................................................................. 8 

4.3 People .................................................................................................................. 11 

4.4 Process ................................................................................................................. 14 

4.5 Stakeholders ......................................................................................................... 16 

4.6 Finance function operation .................................................................................... 17 

5 Action plan and next steps ........................................................................................... 18 

5.1 Introduction ........................................................................................................... 18 

5.2 Outline plan........................................................................................................... 19 

Appendix 1 – List of interviewees .................................................................................... 21 

Appendix 2- Document review list .................................................................................... 22 

Appendix 3 – Star rating key criteria and characteristics .................................................. 25 

 

 

 

  

  

Page 114



 

3 

Commercial in confidence 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 Purpose and scope of the review 
 
CIPFA have been commissioned to undertake a review of the financial management 
and governance arrangements by Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council using the 
Financial Management Model (FM Model). 
 
The review is intended to contribute to the development of the Council’s financial 
management operation and arrangements. It assesses the Council’s financial 
management capability, its internal processes, and operations. It also examines how the 
Council plans its future financial management. This report summarises the findings from 
the review, provides analysis of the model’s constituent elements, and provides a rating 
against the CIPFA five-star model. 
 
The report also contains a series of recommendations.  These can be developed into an 
action plan to support an improvement process. 

1.2 Approach adopted 
 
The review comprises the financial management model’s three constituent elements: a 
survey, a series of interviews with staff and elected members, and a document review. 
The findings from each of these are entered into the model’s framework. This allows 
findings to be scored against a standard set of statements and questions representing 
best practice in financial management and governance. 
 
The statements and questions represent management dimensions and financial 
management styles. There are over 400 questions in total. The response to each is rated 
as yes, no, partly or don't know. The collective scores for each statement are then 
combined to produce the overall rating. 

1.3 Findings 
 
The findings from the review are presented as a summary table which gives individual 
scores against key model headings, and as an overall score. 

 

 

Page 115



 

4 

Commercial in confidence 

 
The scoring process generates an overall star rating between one and five, five being 
the highest. Sandwell achieved an overall rating of two stars and would be considered 
to be a progressive two star authority. In our experience most local authorities are either 
two or three stars. Sandwell Council has been under extreme pressure due to the COVID 
pandemic, however this is only a small contributory factor to other underlying issues.  
 
The review and consequent score reflects a point in time. It is evident from the interviews 
and evidence base that the Authority is on a journey and recognises areas of weakness 
and those in need of development.  The review has concluded that changes have and 
are being made which will have a positive impact on financial management and 
governance arrangements at Sandwell. The direction of travel is encouraging. Recent 
changes in leadership have been noted positively in interviews. While these are in 
themselves insufficient to overcome longstanding problems immediately, they 
demonstrate the right improvement intent. The delivery of that ambition will be critical to 
improving Sandwell’s overall five star rating. 
 
At the time of the review CIPFA felt the Authority had an outdated financial management 
culture, lacked clear engagement and leadership from members on budgeting, and has 
some poor processes in place, particularly around contract management.  The finance 
function’s culture needs to be addressed, especially in the area of business partnering, 
and there are a few immediate structural steps that can be taken to improve what is a 
substantial but underperforming team.  During the review it became apparent that this 
was being addressed and improvements were underway.  A new draft finance structure 
has been prepared, removing layers, and providing a greater focus on business 
partnering.  This is due for consultation in early February. 

 
The table above indicates both areas where the Council’s performance is positive and 
those requiring improvement. The body of the report has a detailed analysis of individual 
scores and findings from the review. 
 
A review of the Authority’s published financial statements and the CIPFA resilience index 
indicate that the authority at present is financially stable and in recent years has been 
able to contribute towards reserves through achieving a balanced budget or an 
underspend.  Whilst a theme emerged during the review that the authority has lacked 
ambition and did not previously seek to invest in major regeneration initiatives, there are 
now 16 Towns Fund projects in progress with final business cases due for submission 
by the end of March.  ‘The Sandwell way’ was used numerous times to describe given 
assumptions which restrain ambition and produce a suboptimal budget process, 
however there is clear indication of a change in both direction and ambition.   
 
This report highlights opportunities to improve and strengthen financial management 
and governance across the authority which can be achieved through a planned change 
programme.  

1.4 Next steps and action plan 
 
The report includes recommendations aligned to the findings. This initial set of 
observations and recommendations will be the subject of discussion leading to the 
agreement of a final report. 
 
The action plan is intended to stimulate debate, suggesting ways to move Sandwell MBC 
from a two star rating to three stars and beyond. 

  

Page 116



 

5 

Commercial in confidence 

2 Introduction and Background 
 

2.1 Objectives of the review  
 

The review has the objective of assessing the Council’s capability to effectively manage 
its current finances, internal process, and operations, as well as how it plans future 
financial management. 
 
The review is required to contribute to the development of the Council’s financial 
management operation and arrangements. 

 

2.2 The current financial position 
 

Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council is one of the seven local authorities that make 

up the West Midlands Combined Authority and alone has a population of around 330k. 

Sandwell is an area of widespread deprivation with a huge and increasing demand for 

Council services. 

 

A brief review of the finance report to cabinet in March 2021 indicates the forecast level 

of free balances at the end of 2020/21 is unlikely to reduce from the level of £11.47m 

which were held at the end of 2019/20. This is equivalent to 4.64% of the Council’s net 

expenditure budget for 2021/22 and is within the prudent parameters set by the Section 

151 officer.  The estimated General Fund reserve balance as of 31 March 2021 is 

£74.66m 

 

As indicated earlier a detailed review of the financial position of the authority was outside 

scope of this review stop. However, given the March 2021 cabinet report, the authority’s 

finances appear to be in a healthy position. This conclusion is supported by 

conversations during the interview with some commenting that the authority has never 

struggled to balance budgets and had a ‘lazy’ approach as ‘overspend doesn’t matter’. 

2.3 Future challenges 
 

Sandwell Council faces numerous future challenges that will have a direct impact on 

revenue and capital budgets.  These include the prospect of further spending cuts, as 

well as economic uncertainty, the continuing impact of Covid, welfare reform, housing 

need and an aging population.  These will require strategic thinking and innovation. 

 

The general feeling of those interviewed as part of this review was that the authority had, 

in the recent past, lacked direction and leadership.  Its ageing workforce continued to 

lack appetite for change with some finance officers set in their ways.  Significant change 

had been noticed recently with the introduction of a new s.151 officer and a focus on 

improvements. 

 

Nearly all interviewees felt the current finance arrangements were not fit for purpose and 

that the authority would need a new approach, including some structural changes, as 

well as new personnel to deliver new and innovative finance processes to bring the 

service up to date.  This was being addressed in the preparation of a new structure 

which is awaiting consultation and should alleviate the feeling that the authority is too 

reactive and not proactive when it came to financial management and lacked a strategic 

vision.  The reviewers concur with the broad thrust of these comments. They note 

Page 117



 

6 

Commercial in confidence 

however that the structure itself of what is a large finance function is of less immediate 

concern than certain issues of strategic focus, as well as culture, such as the approach 

to business partnering. 

 

Member involvement and engagement in budget matters is improving with the recent 

introduction of budget workshops, designed to build better working relationships, share 

latest budget positions and to present and discuss savings options.   This will help 

achieve the strategic objectives and vision of portfolio holders in a changing political 

landscape.  Finance must be at the centre of this renewed strategic intent. 

 

3 The Financial management model 
 

3.1 The model purpose 

CIPFA’s Financial Management Model (FM Model) can be used to support and drive 
effective performance in financial management and financial governance throughout an 
authority. It uses an internationally recognised framework and diagnostic tool, enabling 
authorities to have an independent assessment of their financial management against 
world class best practices in the public sector to optimise systems, processes, 
resources, compliance, and reporting. 

The FM Model output will identify or substantiate weaknesses (as well as confirm 
strengths) and then support the development and delivery of a target-driven 
improvement plan allowing progress to be closely tracked and measured. 

The FM Model measures the strengths and weaknesses across the whole of an 
authority, examining processes, people, leadership, and stakeholders. The model is not 
just about the finance function. It is about the corporate ownership and accountability for 
finance. 

The model benchmarks the authority’s financial management against best practice using 
a series of statements and principles. It focuses on financial management capability 
across the whole authority and helps pinpoint priorities for improvement. It can help raise 
effectiveness and confidence in stewardship, performance, and the ability to implement 
change. 

The framework is fully aligned with today’s public sector. It reflects the latest 
developments and opportunities in business partnering, commercialism, procurement, 
and governance, and stressed the critical role and prominence of the CFO and the 
finance team within an authority. 

3.2 The model approach 

The FM model is based on a series of statements focused on Leadership, Process, 
People and Stakeholders.  Each of these is measured against the pillars of good 
financial management as follows: 

Enabling transformation: the finance team have input into strategic and operational 
plans taking into account proactive risk management, clear strategic direction, and 
focus-based outcomes.  

Supporting performance: finance teams are actively committed to continuous 
improvement focused on efficient and effective delivery and authority performance.  

Page 118



 

7 

Commercial in confidence 

Delivering Accountability: financial information is accurate, timely and focusses on 
controls, probity, compliance, and accountability. 

Measurement is based on a series of best practice statements. A score is determined 
for each statement. Each statement has a number of supporting questions and the 
response to these is used to assist in the overall scoring process.  The process is 
supported by an Online Diagnostic tool which captures the evidence and is the used to 
undertake the assessment based on the acquired evidence. 

Attached at Appendix 3 is a table that indicates the assessment criteria and 
characteristics of each of the star ratings. 

Evidence is collected through three independent methods: 

A review of documents. The purpose of considering these is to gain a view on the 
formal processes, arrangements, reports, and reporting processes in place. They also 
provide detail on the financial position and on governance in practice. The document 
review also helps triangulate other evidence, allowing comparison of process and 
procedure with what happens in practice. The full list of documents reviewed can be 
found at Appendix 2 of this report. 

 
A series of interviews with staff and stakeholders. The 36 interviews in total included 
a range of staff across the Council and elected members. The purpose of each interview 
was to gain an impression and understanding of the individual’s thoughts on the financial 
management and financial governance arrangements in operation. 

 
An online survey. The survey invited a total of 197 recipients to respond to a series of 
questions within the model that are based around best practice. The response rate was 
59%.   
 
Following completion of these steps the model can be used to score statements and 
arrive at an overall rating. 

 
The three methods of evidence captured are then used to score the Authority against 
model and in a triangulated fashion that helps eliminate bias. 
 

3.3 The model output 

On completion, the FM Model produces a scoring matrix. This captures the assessment 
and presents findings back against a series of management dimensions and financial 
management styles.  Scores are based on the three sources of evidence outlined above. 

This report findings and conclusions are presented against the management 
dimensions.  The report is a snapshot in time. It is recognised that with any authority 
there is a process of constant change. 

The report includes a headline improvement plan.  This responds to key areas identified 
as requiring attention.  The improvement plan, areas, actions, and owners will be agreed 
as part of finalising the report to ensure there is acceptance of the need to take action. 

The scoring matrix also presents a star rating within the range 1* to 5*.  This is seen as 

an indicator of where the authority is against the best practice model. In our experience 

most authorities we review fall into the range 2* to 3*. Using the review and action plan 

will help support the authority development and a progression to the next level. 

 

 

Page 119



 

8 

Commercial in confidence 

4 The review findings 
 

4.1 Introduction 

 The overall rating for Sandwell against the FM Model is one star. The matrix below 
summarises the scoring. 

 

Summary ratings in the table are shown for each statement, with an overall final score 
provided following the use of a conversion and grading metric. For example, ‘Leadership 
/ Delivering accountability’ shows in summary as **, given the mixed scores against the 
three underlying headings (set out at the start of section 4.2) while the overall 
aggregated rating is **.  

The sections below will explain in further detail the findings, under the management 
dimension themes along with conclusions and outline recommendations for 
improvement. 

4.2 Leadership 

Delivering accountability 

 

Page 120



 

9 

Commercial in confidence 

• This is a relatively low score.  It indicates that whilst the role of finance is considered 
integral to supporting authority objectives and has support from senior staff, the 
framework for financial accountability and budget setting processes required 
improvement.  The budget process for 22/23 is significantly different to previous years 
in terms of the approach to identifying and agreeing savings and member engagement 
and is seen as a positive step in the right direction. 

 
• Consistent feedback suggests the budget setting process has historically lacked 

member engagement and did not focus on key authority objectives within a good 
governance framework that included an adequate check and challenge process at a 
political and operational level, however several Cabinet budget workshops have taken 
place this year, improving member input. 
 

• Survey responses and interview findings suggest there has previously been poor 
leadership and clarity around roles and responsibilities of senior officers.  However, 
the recent changes have been recognised with complimentary feedback on the interim 
CEO and new Section 151 officer. 
 

• The structural review has also suggested that while the finance function overall is large, 
there is perhaps a lack of strategic capacity. The Head of Finance portfolio is 
substantial and also contains areas of strategic concern. There may need to be extra 
capacity introduced here. 

Supporting performance 

 

• Overall, this area has scored two stars. This indicates a significant lack of planning and 
strategy at the time of the review to support business objectives, however it is noted 
that the corporate plan is undergoing a refresh and that a new approach to business 
planning is being adopted moving forward, with plans for earlier budget consultation. 
 

• During interviews there were mainly negative responses across the business about 
financial decision-making and the degree to which it is adequately informed by a 
detailed understanding of cost drivers and sensitivities affecting the principal activities.  
The reliance on information contained within disparate and outdated systems was also 
noted. 
 

• Interviewees repeatedly highlighted the absence of a defined and iterative process 
whereby political priorities are translated into spending plans, which in turn are 
measured as outcomes.  Developing members' political mandates into a core set of 
objectives that are then reflected in resource allocations is the essence of sound 
budgeting.  

  

Page 121



 

10 

Commercial in confidence 

Enabling transformation 

 

• This section of the model seeks to understand the arrangements in place to meet future 
business requirements and how the authority adapts and transforms to respond. 
Sandwell scored two stars in this area, suggesting the authority is unclear on how its 
operating mode should adapt and evolve. 
 

• The board and senior managers have not used performance and cost measure 
information, including benchmarking data in the past to identify areas of the business 
where radical rethinking of delivery is needed.  Benchmarking data on unit costs and 
fees and charges has been used in the 22/23 budget process for the first time and the 
leadership team now receive monthly budget monitoring information which is seen as 
a marked improvement. 
 

• The authority provided information on proactive approaches to change management 
for delivering planned outcomes within budget and realising required service benefits.  
These included a large upgrade to Oracle Fusion, a system used for HR and Finance 
that has been under review for approximately two years.  The project experienced a 
number of implementation issues leading to the existing contract to be terminated and 
a new provider procured.  This project included revisiting governance arrangement and 
reviewing resources of the project board. 
 

• The leadership team has agreed a transformational programme with cross cutting 
savings projects. Each product has a dedicated leadership team sponsor and embeds 
cost cutting targets.  Business analysts and additional resources have been identified 
to support each project. 

Conclusions 

• This section indicates that Sandwell Council has previously had poor financial 
leadership and accountability, but that recent activity is delivering improvements. 
 

• There is a need to review the current finance culture and make some strategic 
adjustments. Greater definition around certain roles and responsibilities in strategic 
and operational finance will be needed to meet future business needs. 
 

• In budgeting, finance’s early involvement, especially for new change projects and 
programmes, will always be critical. Further, there is great value to be derived from 
using benchmarking and comparative analysis in developing strategies and business 
cases  

Areas for development 

• The role of finance and those responsible for strategic leadership should be clearly 
defined within a new budget culture and arrangements, as well as in the deployment 
of an Interim Operating Model for finance (see structural review). This will help the 
authority develop a robust financial strategy to underpin medium and longer term 
financial health. 
 

• The authority should develop the use of comparative data, benchmarking, and demand 
management techniques in an increased number of service areas to support building 
the medium term financial plan. 

Page 122



 

11 

Commercial in confidence 

4.3 People 

Delivering accountability 

 

• This section has delivered a two-star rating overall. This indicates the authority has a 
reasonable understanding of the financial competence required by finance staff and 
that overall managers consider that finance have a reasonable level of skill. 
 

• Some of those interviewed felt there was too much reliance placed on experienced 
staff within the core finance function and insufficient manager self-service, to support 
sustainability and allow finance to assume a properly strategic partnering/challenging 
role. There is an opportunity in the design of the new finance arrangements to define 
the respective responsibilities of finance officers – business partners in particular – and 
relate them to a revised competency framework. 
 

• An authority should indeed have a financial management competency framework; 
however, respondents were largely unaware of a competency framework and didn't 
know whether it applied across finance solely or included budget holders. There may 
be an opportunity to improve the way that financial management skills are assessed 
against the framework, within finance and corporately, through appraisal and staff 
development programmes.  
 

Supporting performance 

 

• The authority achieved an overall score of one star for supporting performance. A key 
area within this section is the relationship with service directorates. There is an 
opportunity to consider the use of service level agreements and standards to ensure 
finance is suitably performance managed and that there is clarity about the mutual 
obligation of the finance service areas. 
 

• Most respondents were unaware of the existence of a finance function development 
plan for the authority or believed there wasn’t one. 
 

• Business partnering arrangements could be developed and improved. In some areas 
it is evident that business partners need to provide a stronger advisory challenge and 
support around budget setting, monitoring, and achieving value for money. This is 

Page 123



 

12 

Commercial in confidence 

being addressed as part of a structure review that is due for consultation at the end of 
January.  The adoption of a consistent definition of the business partner role and 
function can facilitate staff rotation and the spread of good practice across the 
authority. 
 

• Survey respondents suggested this area would benefit from a more structured 
approach.  They indicated that finance SLAs only existed with external partners and 
not for internal clients. This meant that the approach to partnering was ad hoc, rather 
than consistent across directorates. 
 

• Whilst many respondents suggested that managers have an awareness of their 
budgetary responsibilities and expected performance, and most take them seriously, 
this was not universally accepted.  Interviewees were unclear about the consequences 
for managers who did not take their financial management responsibilities seriously or 
performed poorly.  

Enabling transformation 

 

• The final element of the people aspect of the model concentrates on financial 
managements capacity to help shape change and transformation.  The score here 
again reflects the historic lack of a finance function development plan and consistency 
of training and development.  The service has recently identified training needs on 
financial reporting and external training has been commissioned to take place during 
February to improve the accuracy of the 21/22 accounts. 
 

• There is an indication that some finance staff do not have the status and influence to 
have a transformational impact on the authority as it develops. Consistency is needed 
in how finance is involved in and challenge strategic planning, policy development and 
change.  
 

• It is important that Sandwell Council attracts, develops, and retains high quality 
financial management skills if it is to transform in the future. Again, indications are that 
the approach is inconsistent. There is an opportunity to consider the knowledge skills 
and capacity that are required in financial management to support change and 
transformation, with the finance function tailoring and developing its plans accordingly.  
 

• There were mixed perspectives from interviewees and survey respondents on how the 
authority learns from best practice, transfers skills and knowledge within the authority 
and understands learning points. This needs to be improved so the whole authority 
benefit as it transforms and changes in the future. 
 

• Also related to change and transformation is whether Sandwell Council corporately 
recognises success in financial management, innovation, and best practice. This 
doesn't seem to be the case and may be something the Council should consider. 

Conclusions 

• The people statements within the model seek to assess the finance function and 
finance environment’s skills, capability, and competency, as well as those in the 
broader authority, particularly among budget holders. It seeks to make sure that there 
are sufficient skills to meet business needs and support efficient and effective delivery. 
It also seeks to ensure that there are mutually supportive conditions, in which business 

Page 124



 

13 

Commercial in confidence 

partners support managers and budget holders, while the latter understand their 
financial management roles and responsibilities clearly.  We have suggested that a 
more unified and comprehensive approach to financial management competency, 
training and development would be useful in pursuit of this goal. This should be linked 
to best practice and tested through rigorous performance management, with incentives 
and sanctions for good and suboptimal financial management achievements. 
 

• Business partnering appears to be ineffective or inconsistent.  Finance is seen as a 
proactive partner in some areas but not in others, where it is considered more 
transactional. More consistent approaches are needed, related to the mutual 
responsibility principles set out above and potentially underpinned by SLAs.  
 

Areas for development 

• Review, assess, and revise the competency framework, considering the skills and 
capability necessary for the authority now and in the future. 
 

• Examine arrangements in place to attract and retain high calibre staff. The use of 
interim staff is always going to be necessary, but this should be limited as far as 
possible, as it undermines a strong finance environment over time. 
 

• Continue to review and revise the structure and arrangements for business partnering 
across the authority. This approach should deliver a consistent, standard service in 
line with business needs. Finance should provide an advisory and challenge function, 
not, as far as possible, undertake transactional services for directorates. To that end, 
the responsibilities of budget holders for financial management, including self-
management, should be spelt out. 
 

  

Page 125



 

14 

Commercial in confidence 

4.4 Process 

Delivering accountability 

 

• This area of the review produced a two-star rating. There are areas where the Council 
has scored three or even four stars, however the overall score is brought down by 
significant weaknesses where only one star was achieved. 
 

• The delivering accountability section seeks to assess some of the basic requirements 
of good financial management.  
 

• One key area under PR1 that could be developed further is the varying degree to which 
managers are fully involved with finance in setting their budgets, to ensure ownership 
and accountability. There is value in considering the budget setting process from an 
outcome based perspective, and Sandwell have begun to take a zero based budgeting 
approach to some services in 2022/23. The survey and interviews indicated uneven 
awareness and use of these budget techniques. Their adoption would help improve 
the quality and reliability of budgets and forecasting. 
 

• Interviewees reported issues with the financial information system, including the basic 
accounting and reporting information provided.  Members and senior officers 
commented on a lack of regular reporting for budget monitoring processes, although 
this has already been addressed. Many officers considered the system out of date, 
highlighting that the new Oracle implementation project has overrun. This has now 
been moved forward and a cabinet decision was reached in December 2021 to procure 
a new delivery partner.  
 

• The systems issue is plainly linked to a question of self-management and budgetary 
autonomy for budget holders mentioned earlier. 

 

Page 126



 

15 

Commercial in confidence 

Supporting performance 

 

• The medium term financial plan and the process it follows should underpin the delivery 
of strategic objectives and priorities.  It should be dynamic and supported by service 
delivery plans. It is important to ensure that the medium term financial plan therefore 
has a direct link to other authority strategies such as technology, capital, workforce, 
assets, and the corporate plan. 
 

• Although the council was able to set the 2020/21 budget without the need for savings 
by individual directorates or the use of reserves, the Medium-Term Financial Strategy 
did include some existing planned savings and budget pressures that were due to be 
addressed during 2020/21.  Some of those interviewed felt this did not support service 
delivery enough and that it was merely ‘bottom line budgeting’ with ‘top slice’ savings 
targets, however this approach has now been changed for 2022/23. 
 

• Forecasting is a fundamental element of building both the annual budget and medium 
term financial plan.  Some survey respondents and interviewees felt the forecasting 
and reporting process needed developing and that not enough time is available to deal 
with data quality issues to support the process, mainly due to high workloads. 
 

Enabling transformation 

 

• Enabling transformation focuses on an authority’s use of regular end to end reviews of 
processes to ensure that they are as efficient as possible and provide value for money. 
It is evident from the review that many of Sandwell Council’s processes are out of date. 
Financial management systems also require radical review. They do not yet promote 
the self-service environment that would reduce budget manager reliance on finance 
staff for transactional purposes and allow finance to operate more strategically. 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 127



 

16 

Commercial in confidence 

Conclusions 

• The review has indicated that some financial management processes are weak, but 
this has already been recognised. Some issues stem from an historic lack of leadership 
that is being addressed with significant improvements already being made. Further 
opportunities to improve and develop the delivery of finance through new financial 
processes and technology are readily available. 
 

• The Authority should schedule end to end process reviews as part of service 
transformation programme and zero-basing exercises. These would also improve the 
control structure and define the role of finance more clearly. 
 

• Finance should always take a prominent role in supporting the authority change and 
develop. To that end, finance should be versed in the latest methodologies and 
systems for improvement, such as agile.   

Areas for development 

• Continued review of finance systems to ensure they are fit for purpose and working as 
intended. 
 

• Implement a programme of end to end process reviews in key business areas, linked 
to transformation plans, similar to the recent ZBB work to understand cost drivers and 
areas of persistent overspend. 
 

4.5 Stakeholders 
 

Delivering accountability 

 

• This statement concerns Sandwell Council’s relationship with external stakeholders 
and the confidence it can provide them on financial conduct and performance. 
 

• There are some questions within this statement that reduce the score, in particular 
relating to the statement of accounts being free from material criticism by external 
auditors. 
  

Supporting performance 

 

 
• As highlighted earlier in the report Sandwell has recently introduced the use of 

benchmarking for 2022/23, helping finance focus savings targets such as a reduced 
savings target in Children's services because it is a low spend service compared to 

Page 128



 

17 

Commercial in confidence 

nearest neighbours.  The use of further benchmarking techniques and available data 
should be explored 
 

• Interviewees regularly responded that they have had limited opportunity in the past to 
highlight better ways of working or to discuss innovative ideas for service improvement 
with senior staff. 
 

Enabling transformation 

 

• This statement seeks to understand how Sandwell Council works with stakeholders in 
the community to develop priorities and then feeds back to them on its plans. 
 

• It is good practice to seek the views of customers and stakeholders’ such as funding 
authorities or partner delivery bodies about priorities.  This insight should be gained in 
an accessible way through market research, opinion polls, web based surveys or 
workshops/focus groups for example. The review found evidence that the Council does 
this to considerable degree. However, this could be enhanced further. On 
communications, the Council could do more to engage ‘hard-to-reach' groups. It could 
use some lessons from Covid to improve its own communications, in particular the 
pandemic’s transformational impact on technology and on how communities and 
interest groups interact. Sandwell should also seek further opportunities for co-creation 
with partners. Recent peer review work has suggested that the Council needs to clarify 
both its ‘offer’ to partners and its ‘ask’ of them to be more effective. Better prioritisation 
and a member-led and accountable approach to budget management would promote 
this complementarity in partnering.  

Conclusions 

• There has been limited engagement with stakeholders in the past, but this has 
improved recently with the introduction of new senior finance staff. 
 

• The Council actively seeks stakeholder views, but there are opportunities for 
improvement. 

Areas for development 

• There is an opportunity to review how an improved budget process can 
incorporate stakeholder engagement, partnering and co-creation. Sandwell needs to 
address the offer/ask issue urgently.  

  
• Sandwell should a review of external engagement with stakeholders and its 

communications strategy in the light of the lessons of Covid.  
 

4.6 Finance function operation 

During interviews with council officers a pattern of negative views on the way finance 
has operated in the past, and to an extent continues to do so came to light.  However, it 
has been widely acknowledged that the authority now has some strong leadership in 
place in the form of an interim CEO and new section 151 officer that has a vision on how 

Page 129



 

18 

Commercial in confidence 

finance as a function should operate and what is needed to improve the position of the 
authority. 
 
The Authority is developing its budgeting process and increasing the use of outcome 
based reviews, outcome budget setting, zero based budgeting and comparative 
statistics which will improve financial management and performance monitoring.  A zero 
based budget approach and a focus on outcomes will improve the overall budget 
process, leading to a more strategic and member-led budget. 
 
We have suggested in the structural review some steps that need to be taken towards 
an interim operating model, while stressing the more urgent issues of budget process, 
culture, and clarity around the business partnering role and the role of budget managers. 
Finance should be a strategic service, providing early, active support and challenge to 
budget holders, working alongside them and not remotely. Finance should be involved 
routinely in the development of business cases, change projects and transformation 
planning. It should not, as far as possible, be a transactional service. It should 
accordingly develop its service knowledge and understanding of modern business 
processes and associated financial modelling (for instance for agile). 
 
Budget holders should be sufficiently financially literate to benefit from the finance 
challenge and to ask the right questions of their finance partners. They should be held 
accountable for their budget management. Wherever possible in budget monitoring and 
transactions, they should also self-serve. This may entail the provision of better financial 
system.  
 
Sandwell Council should develop a financial management culture in which success is 
rewarded and suitable sanctions are applied to poor performance.  
 
These changes should be led corporately, with clear corporate sponsorship and 
leadership, with the section 151 officer as the SRO.  
 

5 Action plan and next steps 
 

5.1 Introduction  

As part of the financial management model review, we have identified a number of 
potential areas where action could be taken to improve financial management and 
governance in general. 

This section of the report collates these recommendations This can be used to form the 
basis of a discussion with the authority on the next steps. In developing a plan there may 
be other areas highlighted as part of the model that would or should be included and 
some others that are specific to ongoing activity already underway. 

This is the authorities plan and is intended to support ongoing improvement. 

  

Page 130



 

19 

Commercial in confidence 

5.2 Outline plan 

This section will be discussed and agreed with the Authority setting out the key recommendations to improve the financial arrangements: 

Recommendation description Planned Activity Proposed 
owner 

Timescale  

Develop a clear consistent role for finance.     

Develop the use of comparative data, 
benchmarking and demand management 
techniques.  

   

Review, assess, and revise where appropriate the 
competency framework principle considering the 
skills and capability necessary for the authority now 
and in the future. 

   

Review arrangements and practices that can 
ensure that it attracts high calibre staff and that 
these are retained.  

   

Review and revise the structure and arrangements 
where appropriate for the delivery of business 
partnering across the authority.  
 

   

Develop the skills and capabilities within services 
around varying budgetary techniques such as 
outcomes and base budget reviews. 
 

   

Establish what skills gaps there are in finance team 
and the broader finance environments across the 
authority. Following this produce and deliver a plan 
of awareness and training for both staff and elected 
members. 
 

   

P
age 131



 

20 

Commercial in confidence 

Recommendation description Planned Activity Proposed 
owner 

Timescale  

Ensure that any new asset management system 
delivers the required information on control to 
manage assets from both a service perspective 
and a financial reporting strands. 
 

   

Consider a programme of end to end process 
reviews in key business areas. 
 

   

Develop and use benchmarking and statistical data 
comparison to support the development of budgets 
and their in year monitoring. 

   

Resolve issues relating to the completion and sign 
off of final accounts. 

   

Consider a review of external engagement with 
stakeholders and the process to feedback  

   

That the finance function undertakes a change 
programme, led by the section 151 officer that 
looks at the issues raised through the review, best 
practice principles and considers designing a target 
operating model that responds to current and future 
challenges. 

   

That financial governance and decision making 
arrangements are reviewed and strengthened from 
both a political and officer perspective. 
 

   

 

 
  

P
age 132



 

21 

Commercial in confidence 

Appendix 1 – List of interviewees 
 

Peter Farrow Chief Internal Auditor & Risk 

Kim Bromley Derry Chief Executive  

Cllr Singh Councillor – Leader 

Cllr Crompton Councillor – Deputy Leader/Finance Portfolio 

Cllr Gill Councillor – Chair of Audit 

Cllr Giles Councillor – Chair of Finance scrutiny 

Surjit Tour Director of Governance and Monitoring Officer  

Neil Cox Director of Business Strategy & Change  

Nick Austin Director of Borough Economy 

Mark Stocks External Auditor 

Charlie Davey Service Finance Manager 

Tony McGovern Head of Economy & Regeneration  

Gillian Douglas Director of Housing  
Head of Procurement  

Chris Hilton Head of Property Services  

Simone Hines CFO (Section 151 Officer) 

Rebecca Maher Head of  Finance  

Colin Marsh Service Manager - Adults 

Nigel Collumbell Service Manager - Housing 

Sue Moore Service Manager - Education 

Kate Ashley Strategic Lead - Service Improvement 

Tammy Stokes Services Manager - Regen 

 

   

Page 133



 

22 

Commercial in confidence 

Appendix 2- Document review list 
 

Background documents  

 Annual Report 1 

 Annual Financial Statements 2 

 Finance/business systems 3 

Structures  

 Board/Committee structures 4 

 Organogram – outline for the whole 
authority 

5 

 Organogram – for the finance 
function 

6 

Governance  

 Corporate Governance Framework 7 

 Annual Governance Statement 8 

 Management level governance 
statements 

9 

 Policy on fraud and corruption 10 

 Policy on whistle-blowing 11 

Plans and strategies  

 Corporate Plan 12 

 Medium-term Financial Plan 13 

 Capital Strategy 14 

 Asset Management Strategy 15 

 Information Strategy 16 

 Procurement Strategy including any 
savings targets 

17 

 Business Case Protocols 18 

Financial management framework  

 Financial Standards and Regulations 19 

 Internal Control Procedures 20 

 Scheme of Delegation including 
authorisation levels for transactions 

21 

Page 134



 

23 

Commercial in confidence 

 Service Level Agreements for 
financial management related 
services 

22 

 Asset Register 23 

In year management  

 Board/Committee/SMT level reporting 24 

 Management level reporting 25 

 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
and related reporting 

26 

 Finance Performance Indicators 27 

 Financial key performance indicators 
– Benchmarking 

28 

 Quarterly Data Set returns 29 

 Procurement Performance Report 30 

External Audit and Inspection  

 External Audit interim/final accounts 
audit letter 

31 

 External Audit Management 
Letter/Report 

32 

 External Audit Value for Money 33 

 External Reports or Assessments 34 

Audit and Risk Management  

 Audit and Risk Committee 35 

 Internal Audit Plans 36 

 Internal Audit Report 37 

 Risk Management Policy and 
Reporting Regime 

38 

 Risk Registers 39 

Human Resources  

 Financial Competency framework 40 

 Financial Management Training 
strategy 

41 

 Staff Survey 42 

 Sample Job Descriptions - Budget 
Holders 

43 

Page 135



 

24 

Commercial in confidence 

Working with other authoritys  

 Financial Memorandum 44 

 Financial Memorandum - funding 
arrangements - outside authority 

45 

 Framework for establishing 
relationships with other bodies 

46 

Stakeholders  

 Customer/stakeholder surveys 47 

 Complaint’s policy/procedure 48 

  

Page 136



 

25 

Commercial in confidence 

Appendix 3 – Star rating key criteria and characteristics 
 

  

Page 137



 

26 

Commercial in confidence 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. Registered with the Charity 

Commissioners of England and Wales No 231060. Registered with the Office of the 

Scottish Charity Regulator No SCO37963. 

77 Mansell Street, London E1 8AN 

+44 (0)20 7543 5600 

CIPFA.org 

Page 138



 

 

 

 

 

LGA Corporate Peer 
Challenge 
 

 

Sandwell Council 
 
Monday 31st January to Thursday 3rd February 2022 

 
Feedback report 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

Page 139



 

2 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

1. Executive summary .............................................................................................. 3 

2. Key recommendations ......................................................................................... 9 

3. Summary of the peer challenge approach ......................................................... 10 

4. Feedback ........................................................................................................... 12 

5. Next steps .......................................................................................................... 33 

 
 
 
  

Page 140

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

3 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

1. Executive summary 
 

There is much to be excited about in Sandwell and there is huge potential to be 

unlocked in the borough.  A key part of this is the regeneration agenda and the 

£1.3bn economic growth and regeneration pipeline.  The council, with partners, is 

seeking to use this as a platform from which to put Sandwell on the map, shaping a 

borough where people have better paid jobs, increased skills and opportunities.  This 

ambitious agenda can be aided and built upon further by the council becoming much 

more visible and engaged at the sub-regional and regional level.  There is an open 

door here, with partners indicating they would welcome what the council is intending 

in terms of much greater senior-level political and officer involvement. 

 

Compared with the situation sub-regionally and regionally, local operational 

relationships feel better developed.  This has been reinforced and strengthened 

during the pandemic, which the council is largely seen to have responded well to.  

The positive relationships that now exist at this level can be built upon, with partners 

indicating they would welcome a greater emphasis on co-production and the council 

listening to and engaging them more.  

  

The impact the Leader and the Interim Chief Executive have had in a short period of 

time is absolutely tangible and the style and approaches they have brought provides 

huge optimism for the future.  In a context of the current Chief Executive operating in 

an interim capacity, it is imperative to ensure continuity of the approach that he has 

brought at this level of the organisation.  Staff, elected members and partners 

welcomed the increased stability provided by the permanent appointments at Director 

level and highlighted the opportunities this provides. 

 

In relation to equality, diversity and inclusion, the council has started a journey but 

there is much more to be done both within the organisation and across the borough.  

In the council’s ‘drive for digital’, strategy and delivery need to maximise opportunity 

for local people socially and economically.  Within this, it is crucial to ensure that 

Page 141

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

4 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

those not digitally enabled still have ease of access to services, advice and 

information.   

 

The council’s relationships with the Children’s Trust and the related governance 

arrangements are recognised as being strong.  The Children’s Trust and the council, 

together with schools and many partners across the borough, are working hard to 

develop and improve early help and intervention arrangements.  The related strategy 

will be essential in tackling growing demand and successful implementation will 

require strong governance and the support and engagement of all partners going 

forward.  On a similar theme, addressing health inequalities needs a clear and 

creative whole system plan founded upon a set of sustained relationships.   

 

We see a clear case for simplifying the governance and partnership arrangements 

across both the adults’ and children’s and young people’s spheres.  A review of these 

arrangements would need to be undertaken carefully and sensitively but the 

opportunity exists to establish a revised and streamlined set of arrangements that 

form a cohesive whole. 

 

The current version of the Corporate Plan is a refreshed version of what went before 

and reflects a clear overall set of aims at the heart of which sits achieving a ‘Fairer 

Sandwell’.  Internal and external communication of the aims and focus within the 

Plan is at the outset.  It will be important to arrive, in due course, at a stage where 

people across the council and partner organisations can articulate a clear and 

concise narrative around Sandwell’s ambitions through which the council and the 

borough can be seen to be unashamedly ambitious. 

 

The council financially is in a comparatively resilient position, from which it can 

progress.  To maintain and build upon this, there are changes the council needs to 

make.  There is recognition that the council has had a traditional approach to finance 

and that many of its procedures and systems need to be reviewed, modernised and 

improved.  Work has been undertaken recently in response to this agenda and what 

has been delivered thus far means the authority better understands its current 

financial position.  

Page 142

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

5 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

One of the key activities that is underway is the development of a revised style of 

Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).  Putting a comprehensive and robust 

MTFS in place will provide elected members with the context they require in order to 

make the difficult strategic decisions that are likely to be needed.  While the shape of 

the emerging budget for 2022/23 and the council’s level of reserves mean that the 

organisation is not in imminent financial danger, the next year will be crucial in 

rebasing the MTFS and moving towards a more resilient financial position. There is a 

window of opportunity to make the changes needed. 

 

Along with the work to develop a revised MTFS, there is recognition of the need to 

develop a robust and realistic Capital Strategy which fully forecasts and plans for 

capital investment.  A refreshed approach to the strategy is particularly important in 

view of the council’s ambitious regeneration and economic growth plans. 

 

There is a plan to revise the council’s Constitution in the coming months.  This 

appears to be seen by some simply as a refinement of what already exists and 

representing a relatively straightforward task.  However, something much more 

fundamental needs to be undertaken, which will require experienced external and 

independent expert input; extensive engagement of all tiers of managers within the 

council and across the elected membership; and realistic timescales.   

 

Overview and Scrutiny has a valuable contribution to make going forward.  Recent 

progress in the way it operates and where it focuses has been made and can now be 

built upon.  There is frustration on the part of some elected members in relation to 

levels of responsiveness from within some parts of the organisation in respect of 

ward and casework issues.  Whilst there is something significant that officers need to 

get right here, it is also crucial that elected members consistently recognise the 

constraints and the framework that the organisation is working to.    

 

Council staff are very aware of the elected member behavioural issues that have 

Page 143

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

6 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

existed within the council over a long period.  People are keen to see these matters 

confined to the past.  It is therefore positive that there is almost universal recognition 

amongst the staff and elected members that we met that these behaviours are 

starting to change and exist now only in pockets.   

 

The legacy and impacts of previous behaviours are typical and understandable.  With 

the positive changes in organisational and political leadership seen in recent months, 

there is now an opportunity for these elements to be considered and addressed 

further and the related benefits to be realised.  Delivering sustained change in 

organisational culture requires a multi-faceted programme management approach, 

real investment, and clear whole organisational leadership, and it will take time. 

However, people spoke of the ‘latent capacity’ in the organisation which can be freed 

up through operating in a changed environment.   

 

There is widespread belief amongst people we met both internally and externally that 

“green shoots” are clearly visible within the culture of the council and the way it 

operates.  There is confidence that with continuity in leadership style and approach 

these can be sustained and develop further. 

 

There is an increasing organisational self-awareness and current plans for 

improvement focus largely in the right areas.  Inevitably more issues will come to the 

fore in the months ahead.  The emergence of these will place further demands on the 

organisation and improvement planning will need to adapt accordingly.  It is important 

officers and elected members understand that whilst some improvements can be 

made relatively quickly, others will take considerably longer.  Whole council 

improvement is a journey and all stakeholders need to be prepared for that.   

 

The council is appropriately planning to consolidate its improvement plans into a 

single comprehensive plan following our work and that of others recently.  This new 

plan will benefit from being able to be broken down into ‘bite-sized chunks’ and 

deliverables sequenced to reflect planned progress over time.  Such a plan will be 

Page 144

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

7 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

helpful in informing resource and capacity prioritisation.  An effective programme 

management approach and robust monitoring processes will be key. 

  

There is the opportunity for the council to become a real learning organisation in a 

context of the changed climate it is operating in.  This includes looking outward more 

and examining constructively what doesn’t go to plan.  This forms a key part of the 

wholesale organisational culture change that is required and is predicated upon 

having a more open environment that is conducive to identifying and highlighting 

issues as soon as they start to arise in order that they can be collectively understood 

and constructively responded to.   

 

There is a need for greater join-up across the council.  The ‘One Council, One Team’ 

message within the Corporate Plan is at the early stages of being heard and 

understood and can be built on over the coming months.  There needs to be greater 

clarity around the status of ‘the restructure’.  There are clearly a wide variety of views 

and interpretations of the intentions and progress of this project.  People want to 

know the definitive position.  Existing organisational arrangements need to be 

reviewed in light of priorities, budgets and organisational ambition.  It is essential to 

ensure the organisation is structured in the right way in order to provide the 

necessary strategic and operational focus and the capacity and the capability in the 

right places to deliver against the council’s ambitions.   

  

A truly ‘enabling corporate core’ is essential for taking forward a modernisation 

agenda for the council.  Staff recognise the importance of the ‘business essentials’ 

necessary to safeguard the organisation and ensure its smooth and efficient running 

and good governance but wish to see many of the current approaches made more 

effective, more enabling of service departments and streamlined.   

 

Clarity is required around the thinking, planning and communication of plans for the 

‘return to the workplace’ as the pandemic enters new phases.  Achieving an 

increased workplace presence at an appropriate point will be important in both 

Page 145

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

8 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

service delivery and cultural change terms.  The council’s overall philosophy and 

expectations around the return of its workforce needs to be effectively communicated 

and understood by all staff.  This should, however, provide scope for teams to shape 

things to ensure that the benefits they have seen from changed ways of working over 

the last two years are retained whilst ensuring business needs are met. 

 

Staff that we met from the ‘middle management’ levels are keen for increased senior 

leadership visibility, enhanced information flow and more engagement – which they 

would want the Chief Executive and Leadership Team to be central to.  The majority 

of frontline staff we met provided a compelling and very positive picture of the way 

they have been invested in over recent years.  This takes the form both of 

opportunities for them to develop and to progress their careers within the authority 

and the pastoral care and support provided to them by their managers.   

 

Whilst training and development is being provided for elected members and 

managers, this needs to move to a new level, including: 

• Further ‘top team’ development across Cabinet and Leadership Team – both 

as individual bodies and collectively 

• Elected members – related both to existing roles and the ambitions they may 

hold for the future.  A key element here will be placing a greater emphasis 

upon, and facilitating increased engagement in, learning from across the 

sector.   

• A comprehensive management development programme will be key in 

supporting the modernisation agenda for the council, but this needs to be 

supplemented with a real emphasis on leadership development 

 

There is recognition of the need to develop a more proactive approach to the 

council’s communications – both internal and external.  However, there needs to be 

an increased organisational confidence reflected in this, including greater profiling of 

achievements and key council activity.  The authority currently seems to have a 

reticence to highlight what it is doing well and the key achievements it is delivering.  

Page 146

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

9 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

We would encourage bold leadership on this issue in order to enable people to feel 

more confident in profiling their successes.   

 

2. Key recommendations 
 

There are a number of observations and suggestions within the main section of the 

report.  The following are the peer team’s key recommendations to the council: 

2.1. It is imperative to ensure continuity of the current approach at Chief Executive 

level 

2.2. We see value in a clear and joint message coming from the Leader and Chief 

Executive regarding officer and elected member relationships – setting clear 

expectations and providing reassurance 

2.3. We see a clear case for reviewing partnership structures within the ‘People’s 

sphere’ 

2.4. Whilst training and development is being provided for elected members and 

managers, this needs to move to a new level 

2.5. We would encourage the introduction of a comprehensive residents’ survey 

2.6. There is a plan to revise the Constitution in the coming months – we see 

something much more fundamental needing to be undertaken, with the 

Scheme of Delegation as a key component 

2.7. The council needs to establish a revised Medium Term Financial Strategy and 

associated Capital Strategy 

2.8. It is essential to ensure the organisation is structured in the right way in order 

to provide the necessary strategic and operational focus and the capacity and 

the capability in the right places to deliver against the council’s ambitions 

Page 147

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

10 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

2.9. The council is appropriately planning to consolidate its improvement plans 

into a single comprehensive one and it is important that this happens 

3. Summary of the peer challenge approach 

3.1. The peer team 

 

Peer challenges are delivered by experienced elected member and officer peers.  

The make-up of the peer team reflected the focus of the peer challenge and peers 

were selected on the basis of their relevant expertise.  The peers were: 

• Kath O’Dwyer, Chief Executive, St Helens Borough Council 

• Councillor Chris Read, Leader, Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 

• Viv Geary, LGA Associate – with a background in governance and as a 

Monitoring Officer 

• Kevin Hall, LGA Associate – with a background as a Director of Children’s 

Services 

• Mike Poulter, LGA Associate – with a background in both Place and 

transformation 

• Chris West, LGA Associate – with a background in local government 

finance 

• Helen Murray, Principal Adviser (West Midlands and the North-West), LGA 

• Alan Finch, Principal Adviser (Finance), LGA 

• James Millington, Adviser (West Midlands), LGA 

• Chris Bowron, Peer Challenge Manager, LGA 

3.2. Scope and focus 

 

The peer team considered the following five themes which form the core components 

of all corporate peer challenges. These areas are critical to councils’ performance 

and improvement. 

1. Local priorities and outcomes - Are the council’s priorities clear and 

Page 148

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

11 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

informed by the local context? Is the council delivering effectively on its 

priorities?  

2. Organisational and place leadership - Does the council provide effective 

local leadership? Are there good relationships with partner organisations 

and local communities? 

3. Governance and culture - Are there clear and robust governance 

arrangements? Is there a culture of challenge and scrutiny? 

4. Financial planning and management - Does the council have a grip on its 

current financial position? Does the council have a strategy and a plan to 

address its financial challenges? 

5. Capacity for improvement - Is the organisation able to support delivery of 

local priorities? Does the council have the capacity to improve? 

3.3. The peer challenge process 

 

Peer challenges are improvement focused; it is important to stress that this was not 

an inspection.  The process is not designed to provide an in-depth or technical 

assessment of plans and proposals.  The peer team used their experience and 

knowledge of local government to reflect on the information presented to them by 

people they met, things they saw and material that they read.  

The peer team prepared by reviewing a range of documents and information in order 

to ensure that they were familiar with the council and the challenges it is facing. The 

team then spent three and a half days onsite in Sandwell, during which they: 

• Gathered information and views from more than 50 meetings, in addition to 

further research and reading. 

• Spoke to more than 100 people including a range of council staff, elected 

members and external stakeholders. 

This report provides a summary of the peer team’s findings. In presenting feedback, 

they have done so as fellow local government officers and members. 

 

Page 149

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

12 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

4. Feedback 

4.1. Organisational and Place Leadership 

 

There is much to be excited about in Sandwell and there is huge potential to be 

unlocked.  The borough is the third largest in the West Midlands and is located right 

in the heart of the region, with a population of almost 330,000 and a £6.3 billion 

economy – which is the largest in the Black Country.  The borough is well connected 

both regionally and nationally.  There are around 8,775 businesses employing in the 

region of 136,000 people.  It retains a significant manufacturing sector and has 

strengths in logistics, health and social care, retail and wholesale.  However, 

employment growth in recent years has generally been in low-skill and low pay 

occupations.   

 

It is an increasingly ethnically diverse borough, with an estimated 37% Black and 

Minority Ethnic (BAME) population in 2019.  There is a young age profile, with 40% of 

people aged under 30 in 2019, although some neighbourhoods are rapidly ageing.  

The number of localities in the most deprived 1% nationally has reduced in recent 

years but Sandwell remains the eighth most deprived borough nationally.  Key 

challenges in the borough include low skills and educational attainment leading to 

labour market exclusion; child and family poverty; and poor health and life 

expectancy.  

 

A key part of the Sandwell regeneration agenda is the £1.3bn economic growth and 

regeneration pipeline, with key projects underway or planned including the new 

Midland Metropolitan University Hospital, the Wednesbury to Brierley Hill Metro 

Extension and the Sandwell Aquatics Centre which will host all of the swimming and 

diving events for the 2022 Commonwealth Games.  The pipeline identified 4,300 new 

homes to be delivered in the five year period to 2027 through a combination of both 

council house building and delivery through housing providers and the private sector.  

The council, with partners, is seeking to use projects such as these and others it has 

in a ‘pipeline’, as a platform from which to put Sandwell on the map, shaping a 

Page 150

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

13 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

borough where people have better paid jobs, increased skills and opportunities.  

Ambitions for the borough which this pipeline seeks to support include: 

 

• Making Sandwell the home of the successful start-up, bringing new 

businesses into town centres and high streets 

• Accelerating growth in higher value businesses, tapping into the growth of the 

West Midlands economy, to stimulate wider investment and opportunity 

• Delivering net zero carbon emissions in Sandwell by 2041, supporting 

businesses to become more energy efficient, reducing costs and encouraging 

the growth of ‘circular economies’ 

• Creating more good jobs by increasing both inward investment and investment 

from existing businesses – capitalising upon a young population and relatively 

cheap land 

• Working with employers to increase demand for higher level skills and create 

jobs with good pay and conditions and engaging with education providers to 

train pupils and students in the skills to meet workforce demands 

• Increasing the proportion of the council’s expenditure, plus that of local 

businesses, spent in the local economy, involving revising procurement 

practices, developing an increased focus on social value and embedding 

community wealth building 

• Supporting the rollout of high-quality digital infrastructure to all parts of the 

borough, including working with partners to ensure Sandwell maximises 

opportunities for 5G infrastructure 

 

This ambitious agenda can be aided and built upon further by Sandwell Council 

becoming much more visible and engaged at the sub-regional and regional level with 

partners across the Black Country and the West Midlands.  Whilst the council is 

becoming more active at this level, having been described as a previously “absent 

partner” from certain forums and not having “punched at its weight” at this level for a 

number of years, this is just at the outset.  This can be built upon with the Leader and 

Page 151

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

14 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

Interim Chief Executive increasingly being able to look upwards and outwards and 

permanent post-holders largely now in place at Director level.  There is an open door 

here for the authority, with partners indicating they would welcome what the council is 

intending in terms of much greater senior-level political and officer involvement. 

 

Compared with the situation sub-regionally and regionally, local operational 

relationships feel better developed.  This has been reinforced and strengthened 

during the pandemic, which the council is largely seen to have responded well to.  

Examples include: 

• The development of a £1m programme designed to meet increasing emotional 

well-being and mental health needs of children and young people by 

expanding capacity in the voluntary sector  

• Redeploying council staff to support the Food Hub and vaccination 

programme  

• Pioneering local contact tracing, linking into the national test and trace system, 

in order to improve engagement rates 

• Its contribution to infection prevention and control within care homes, with the 

death rate in Sandwell being significantly lower than national averages – work 

that was acclaimed by the Royal College of Nursing 

• Work to reduce health inequalities resulting from the pandemic through 

working with the NHS and voluntary and faith sector organisations to support 

vaccination uptake in the borough, with a particular focus on black, Asian and 

minority ethnic groups – leading to the award of ‘Public Health Team of 2021’ 

by the Local Government Chronicle 

• The council’s overall response to the pandemic was identified as an example 

of best practice by the Department of Health and Social Care  

 

The positive relationships that now exist at the local level can be built upon, with 

partners indicating they would welcome a greater emphasis on co-production and the 

council listening to and engaging them more.  As a key part of this, we see real value 

Page 152

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

15 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

in the authority and voluntary and community sector undertaking a joint piece of work 

to develop a clear strategic view of the role of that sector going forward and mutual 

expectations within this.  This should include consideration of the approach to future 

resourcing and funding arrangements, as there is a lack of clarity currently as to why 

certain services are commissioned from this sector relative to the grant funding 

arrangements that are applied to others and an overall grant funding pot that hasn’t 

been reviewed for a number of years. 

  

In summary, the overall message from partners at all levels is that they would like 

greater ‘stability, visibility and engagement’ from the council.  The conditions for this 

are right now and the council is working to capitalise upon that. 

 

Sandwell is comprised of the six towns of Oldbury, Rowley Regis, Smethwick, Tipton, 

Wednesbury and West Bromwich, each with its distinctive identity.  The council is 

very cognisant of these differing identities and seeks to respond appropriately, 

recognising the pride that exists within each and the way in which their communities 

identify with the specific locality.  The council’s ‘towns focus’ is being emphasised 

and reinforced even more now, reflected in both elected member roles, with a 

councillor appointed as ‘Town Chair’ for each and a Cabinet Member also now 

aligned to each place.  Further investment in some localities will be extended through 

the £67.5m Towns Fund monies recently secured for Smethwick, West Bromwich 

and Rowley Regis (including parts of Oldbury) for which business cases are in the 

final stages of development for submission to Government. 

 

Positive reflections regarding the Leader have featured in many of our discussions.  

The inclusive and collegiate approach she demonstrates, reflected for example in her 

engagement with Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny and the reaching out she has 

done across the elected membership in an effort to identify ways in which councillors 

can become more fulfilled in their roles.  The impact she and the Interim Chief 

Executive have had in a short period of time is absolutely tangible and the style and 

approaches they have both brought provides huge optimism for the future amongst 

the people we spoke to internally and externally. 

Page 153

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

16 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

In relation to equality, diversity and inclusion, the council has started a journey but 

there is much more to be done both within the organisation and across the borough.  

It has stated that it recognises it is time to have a fundamental look at what equality 

and diversity means to Sandwell – from how inequalities and discrimination are 

addressed to where improvements can be made for the benefit of all the borough’s 

residents, particularly in light of recent events such as the ‘Me Too’ and ‘Black Lives 

Matter’ movements.  As a specific issue, both the council and partner organisations 

that we spoke to are aware of the limited diversity in terms of ethnicity at the senior-

most levels of the organisation.  There is also recognition of the need to review the 

council’s equality policy, which was last done in 2016.  

  

The authority has established an Equalities Commission with an aim to: 

• “Promote equality and challenge discrimination and intolerances in all its 

forms.  To break down barriers prohibiting an inclusive society by confidently 

tackling unfairness caused by inequality and encouraging community cohesion 

through increased understanding and awareness.” 

 

Also, Council last year agreed to the funding of an Equalities Team, comprising 

seven posts.  Certain equality initiatives have been instigated following these 

developments as the council seeks to help the borough realise a vision of being an 

open, fair and inclusive place that embraces and celebrates Sandwell’s rich and 

diverse communities, cultures, and traditions.  However, these initiatives are limited 

in number and scope and are currently largely internally focused.  An Equality and 

Diversity Workforce Action Plan was approved politically and managerially in 2020.  

Disability staff, LGBTQ+ and ethnic minority staff networks have since been 

established within the council and there is a plan to engage these groups in a review 

of the Action Plan.   

 

Black Employees from the Ethnic Minority Network formed a project team to lead on 

the Black History Month celebrations in October.  They were instrumental in creating 

a website and liaising with local speakers to deliver live or pre-recorded events.  In 

Page 154

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

17 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

addition, a powerful short video was created of Black councillors describing what 

Black History Month meant to them.  There was also a celebration of LGBT History 

Month in February this year with various social media messages and internal 

communications to staff.  An ‘inclusion calendar’ has been developed to help plan 

and celebrate further such events in an inclusive way.  The Equality Commission is 

leading work for Sandwell to become recognised as a ‘Borough of Sanctuary’ but the 

council recognises there is much more to do. 

 

In the council’s ‘drive for digital’, in terms of customer service and access, strategy 

and delivery need to maximise opportunity for local people socially and economically.  

Within this, it is crucial to ensure that those not digitally enabled still have ease of 

access to services, advice and information.  This point was emphasised by both 

council staff and voluntary and community sector partners, with the latter feeling they 

are being left to ‘pick up the pieces’ within communities where digital exclusion levels 

are seen to be comparatively high.  The council will need to be mindful going forward 

of the commitment in the Corporate Plan to ensure such exclusion is addressed 

when designing services and making key council decisions.  

 

The council’s relationships with the Children’s Trust and the related governance 

arrangements, centred on the Sandwell Children’s Trust Board and the under-pinning 

Operational Partnership Board and Strategic Partnership Board, are recognised as 

being strong.  The contract review at the mid-point of the 10-year contract is currently 

being embarked upon and will run, as a joint initiative, through the early part of the 

new financial year.  At the heart of this is a revised set of performance indicators that 

have been developed in recent months and are currently being considered. 

 

 

The Children’s Trust and the council, together with schools and many partners across 

the borough, are working hard to develop and improve early help and intervention 

arrangements.  The Early Help Strategy will be essential in tackling growing demand 

and successful implementation will require strong governance and the support and 

engagement of all partners going forward.  

 

Page 155

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

A new procurement process is being run in relation to Special Educational Needs 

transport provision, with an officer project board within the council overseeing this.  

Given the legacy issues here, this is a piece of work of significance for the authority 

which needs to be run very effectively. 

 

We see a clear case for simplifying the governance and partnership arrangements 

across both the adults’ and children’s and young people’s spheres.  Whilst some of 

the related infrastructure is statutory in nature, such as the Children’s Safeguarding 

Partnership and the Safeguarding Adults Board, other parts of the arrangements 

seem overly complex and extensive in comparison to other places.  A review of these 

arrangements would need to be undertaken carefully and sensitively but the 

permanent Director-level appointments within the council provide the opportunity 

both to undertake this work and establish a revised and streamlined set of 

arrangements that form a cohesive whole. 

 

On a similar theme, addressing health inequalities needs a clear and creative whole 

system plan founded upon a set of sustained relationships.  Developing the Health 

and Well-Being Board and a Health and Well-Being Strategy, linked to evolving 

Integrated Care Systems (ICS) arrangements, will be important steps but these 

represent pieces of the architecture.  Other critically important components will be 

effective partnerships and relationships and effective delivery will be the key test.  

 

4.2. Local Priorities and Outcomes 

 

The current version of the Corporate Plan – ‘Big Plans for a Great Place: The 

Sandwell Plan’ – is a refreshed version of what went before and reflects a clear 

overall set of aims at the heart of which sits achieving a ‘Fairer Sandwell’.  Key 

strands underpinning this are: 

 

• Local investment 

• Doing things with the community 

• No one gets left behind 

Page 156

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

19 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

• Green in everything we do 

 

Internal and external communication of the aims and focus within the Plan is at the 

outset.  It will be important to arrive, in due course, at a stage where people across 

the council and partner organisations can articulate a clear and concise narrative 

around Sandwell’s ambitions, comprising both the aims above and the exciting 

agenda and potential that we outlined earlier.  This needs to come together as a 

shared narrative providing a compelling picture and through which the council and 

the borough can be seen to be unashamedly ambitious. 

 

The council recognises the underpinning framework to the Corporate Plan – the 

‘golden thread’ – now needs to be developed across and throughout the 

organisation.  Work is underway in relation to this, including the development of 

performance management arrangements that enable what success looks like and 

progress towards attaining that to be fully understood and responded to by elected 

members and officers.  A key strand of this will be Directorate business plans and it is 

really positive that some of the staff we met are already translating how their services 

and functions relate to the Corporate Plan, meaning they will have a really valuable 

contribution to make as the performance management framework is developed.  

 

The following paragraphs outline performance information drawn from the LG Inform 

system that the Local Government Association hosts for the sector.  The data is the 

latest available and has been used to benchmark Sandwell with the other 14 single 

tier and county councils in the West Midlands region in order to outline the relative 

performance strengths and challenges of some of the council’s services. 

 

• Sandwell was judged inadequate by Ofsted (one of two authorities judged to be 

inadequate across the region).  The most recent monitoring visit, in November 

2021, found tangible progress in improvements for services to children looked 

after but notes there is more to do.  The appointment of the new Chief Executive 

to the Children’s Trust in April and the appointment of the new Director of 

Page 157

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

20 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

Children’s Services in November are seen as very positive steps in the 

improvement journey. 

 

• Sandwell is performing better than the regional average for the percentage of 

child protection cases reviewed within the required timescale (95.5%), despite the 

council receiving the third highest level of referrals in the region. 

 

• The percentage of care leavers in suitable accommodation is the lowest 

regionally, at 81%, and Sandwell records the lowest percentage of care leavers in 

education, employment or training. 

 

• Within Adult Social care, the council has an excellent record on minimising 

delayed discharges – with the second lowest level in the region and being 

significantly lower than the average. 

 

• The proportion of 16 and 17 year olds who are not in education, employment or 

training (NEET) is the lowest in the region. 

 

• The proportion of the population aged 16-64 qualified to at least Level 2 or higher 

is the lowest in the region at 56.9%, compared with an average of 74%. 

 

• The number of households on the housing waiting list is under the average for the 

region. 

 

• In processing housing benefit claims, Sandwell is better than the average for the 

councils in the region with claims being processed in 8 days on average. 

 

• The percentage of roads that require maintenance is below the average for the 

region.  This is despite the total revenue spending on the highways and transport 

service being the lowest per head of population. 

 

• The council is collecting the third highest annual amount of residual waste per 

household across the region.  The percentage of waste sent for reuse, recycling 

and composting, at just over 30%, is below the average in the West Midlands and 

places the council as second lowest. 

 

Page 158

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

21 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

• Physical visits to libraries are the third highest in the region and the number of 

enquiries to the library service are the highest. 

 

The corporate peer challenge analysis of Sandwell’s Corporate Plan suggests the 

council is aware of its areas of strength and those areas which require improvement 

and is putting capacity and resources into improving the below average metrics. 

4.3. Governance and Culture 

 

We met staff at different levels from across the organisation and they are very aware 

of the elected member behavioural issues that have existed within the council over a 

long period and the negative experiences and “bad press” this has entailed.  Some of 

them have experienced such behaviours directly whilst others have observed things 

from a distance but been very aware of the climate they have created around the 

council.  People are keen to see these matters confined to the past.  It is therefore 

positive that there is almost universal recognition amongst the staff and elected 

members that we met that these behaviours are starting to change and exist now 

only in pockets.  There is much more to do to embed a wholesale change in the 

organisational culture but this change represents a key part of what people describe 

as “green shoots” within the council.  To help to cement and advance progress, we 

see value in a clear and joint message coming over the next few weeks from the 

Leader and Chief Executive regarding officer and elected member relationships – 

setting clear expectations and providing reassurance that any matters that arise will 

be appropriately addressed. 

 

The legacy and impacts of previous behaviours are typical and understandable, 

including people ‘keeping their heads down’; processes having been established that 

reflect risk aversion – plus a linked issue of the escalation of decision-making within 

managerial and governance structures; and a reduced staff pride in the organisation.  

With the positive changes in organisational and political leadership seen in recent 

months, there is now an opportunity for these elements to be considered and 

addressed further and the related benefits to be realised.  Delivering sustained 

Page 159

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

22 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

change in organisational culture requires a multi-faceted programme management 

approach, real investment, and clear whole organisational leadership, and it will take 

time. However, people spoke of the ‘latent capacity’ in the organisation which can be 

freed up through operating in a changed environment.  As one individual said in 

describing the changed atmosphere: “the council now has a chance of making a 

difference” – with local communities deriving the benefit. 

   

Those people we met very much value the experience, style and reassurance the 

Interim Chief Executive provides.  This has generated confidence across the 

organisation and amongst external stakeholders.  As we noted earlier, the impact 

that both he and the Leader have had in a short period of time is absolutely tangible 

and provides huge optimism for the future.  In a context of the current Chief 

Executive operating in an interim capacity, it is imperative to ensure continuity of the 

approach that he has brought at this level of the organisation.  He and the Leader 

have been central to new relationships being formed between Cabinet and the 

individuals forming the Leadership Team as new permanent appointments at Director 

level.  Mutual trust and confidence is building within these relationships but this 

needs to extend further and become embedded over the coming months. 

 

There is a plan to revise the Constitution in the coming months.  This appears to be 

seen by some simply as a refinement of what already exists and representing a 

relatively straightforward task.  However, something much more fundamental needs 

to be undertaken, which will require experienced external and independent expert 

input; extensive engagement of all tiers of managers within the council and across 

the elected membership; and realistic timescales.   

 

The Scheme of Delegation will form a vital component of this work and is key to more 

effective financial management.  It has been cited as an issue in its current form, 

both in terms of a lack of clarity over the financial accountabilities devolved to 

managers and the degree of flexibility senior managers can exercise.  This acts as a 

good example of the way in which something that sounds relatively simple in terms of 

Constitutional change will actually involve exploring fundamental aspects of how the 

Page 160

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

23 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

authority operates, with matters of trust and confidence and respective roles and 

responsibilities, at the heart of that.  Another example would be the opportunity to 

change procedures for Council meetings in order to simplify decision-making and 

debate and so engage elected members, plus those observing, more effectively.  The 

significance and scale of the task of changing the Constitution in a meaningful way, 

via a process of co-production, should not be under-estimated.  

 

Overview and Scrutiny has a valuable contribution to make going forward.  

Committee chairs are committed to, and enthusiastic about, forging a new direction 

and the engagement they have had with the Leader around this is positive.  Recent 

progress in the way it operates and where it focuses has been made and can now be 

built upon, including through wider training and development.  One example here is 

the work undertaken considering the contract with SERCO, whilst another is a study 

of the impact of the pandemic on children in the borough.  There is a sense of an 

increasing appetite for undertaking meaningful scrutiny as a council, founded upon 

corporate endeavour and collaborative effort and in a climate that is much more 

conducive, which would help both to inform policy and hold the Executive to account.  

A full review of the Constitution provides an opportunity to capture this and embed a 

reinvigorated scrutiny function linked to the provision of appropriate corporate 

capacity.   

 

There is frustration on the part of some of the elected members that we spoke to in 

relation to levels of responsiveness from within some parts of the organisation in 

respect of ward and casework issues.  This is not unique to Sandwell but it is 

important to identify where such matters exist and then address the underlying 

causes.  Establishing clarity around how this will be achieved will be important.  We 

heard, for example, of the existence of a portal for councillors to use in raising 

casework matters, which in theory should enable the effective tracking of progress.  

However, there is clearly a lack of confidence on the part of councillors in this system 

and work arounds have been developed.  Whilst there is something significant that 

officers need to get right here in terms of responsiveness, it is also crucial that 

elected members consistently recognise the constraints (in terms of resources) and 

Page 161

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

24 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

the framework (in terms of agreed policy) that the organisation is working to.   

Inappropriate ‘work arounds’ could inhibit the necessary progress required in 

resetting a positive and appropriate relationship between officers and members. 

4.4. Financial Planning and Management 

 

The council is not in imminent financial danger, with the draft 2020/21 accounts 

reflecting a comparatively resilient position from which the authority can progress.  To 

maintain and build upon this, there are changes the council needs to make.   

 

There is recognition that the council has had a traditional approach to finance and 

that many of its procedures and systems need to be reviewed, modernised and 

improved.  Work has been undertaken recently in response to this agenda and, whilst 

such activity is essentially at the outset, what has been delivered thus far means the 

authority better understands its current financial position.  

 

One of the key activities that is underway is the development of a revised style of 

Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).  Integral to this needs to be realistic 

forecasts of the likely resources required over the coming years, moving away from 

focusing heavily, as has been the case to date, on the year ahead.  The MTFS needs 

to contain summary information on the national and local financial and economic 

picture and how that will impact on Sandwell’s position.  Putting a comprehensive 

and robust MTFS in place will provide elected members with the context they require 

in order to make the difficult strategic decisions that are likely to be needed.  As the 

council’s thinking on its approaches to its finances shapes up, there needs to be 

greater clarity of the authority’s risk appetite in relation to, for example, borrowing, 

investments, commercial thinking and capitalisation and how this is reflected in the 

MTFS.   

 

The council is working towards a budget in 2022/23 that makes around £13m of 

savings, which balance off a roughly equivalent amount of spending pressures.  A 

Page 162

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

25 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

balanced budget has been made possible, at least in part, through the new Services 

Grant in the government settlement, equating to around £7m, but the future of this 

grant is unclear.  While the shape of the emerging budget for 2022/23 and the 

council’s level of reserves mean that the organisation is not in imminent financial 

danger, the next year will be crucial in rebasing the MTFS and moving towards a 

more resilient financial position. There is a window of opportunity to make the 

changes needed. 

 

In the last two years, the impact of the pandemic and the complex range of 

government support grants has made budgetary control complex and untypical.  It is 

vital that a high standard of budgetary management and discipline is maintained as 

the pandemic works through and a steadier state hopefully returns.  As with other 

councils, Sandwell needs to ensure that, as temporary funding streams relating to the 

pandemic tail off, the costs of the services it is supporting are also subject to review.   

 

Along with the work to develop a revised MTFS, there is recognition of the need to 

develop a robust and realistic Capital Strategy which fully forecasts and plans for 

capital investment.  The current strategy, approved in February 2021, set out detailed 

plans for the two years ahead but this horizon needs to be extended.  A refreshed 

approach to the strategy is particularly important in view of the council’s ambitious 

regeneration and economic growth plans, which could be vital to the organisation’s 

future financial sustainability and the future of the borough.   

 

In relation to both revenue and capital, the forecasting of resource and spending 

pressures needs to be enhanced.  Benchmarking assumptions and sharing 

intelligence with other authorities and sector bodies will be essential in informing this.  

Also, the revised MTFS needs to factor in the full revenue costs of the Capital 

Strategy and both the MTFS and Capital Strategy need to be closely aligned with the 

Corporate Plan and whole organisation improvement planning.  Ensuring the correct 

organisational structure exists and the capacity is in place to deliver both the 

improvement agenda and the ambitions that exist for the borough will require 

appropriate investment.  The council also needs a better understanding of its asset 

Page 163

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

26 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

base and to develop an acquisitions and disposals protocol to guide its management 

of those assets. 

 

Managing the council’s finances needs to become more of a shared endeavour 

between the Finance function and managers across the council, with the latter 

needing to be appropriately skilled and supported for the task.  Central to this will be 

managers having access to, and being able to utilise effectively, up to date systems 

that provide reliable information in an easily accessible way.  The council has 

restarted the process to review and upgrade its Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) 

system and this presents an opportunity for the council to raise the expectations it 

has upon managers to control and manage their finances whilst improving the 

support they receive from an appropriately organised and skilled Finance team.  

Managers that we spoke to would welcome increased information sharing regarding 

the council’s financial situation and greater insight to some of the decisions made, 

especially in relation to savings plans.  This is key and will help form the basis for 

involving managers and budget holders more fully in realistic and effective budget 

setting.   

 

4.5. Capacity for Improvement 

 

There is widespread belief amongst people we met both internally and externally that 

“green shoots” are clearly visible within the culture of the council and the way it 

operates.  There are a number of dimensions to this, including the style and 

approaches the Leader and the Chief Executive have brought; the organisation 

starting to look outwards more; behaviours being seen to be changing and less 

positive ones being seen only in pockets now; the better understanding that exists of 

the council’s financial position; the work being undertaken to develop a revised 

MTFS; and the latent capacity that stands to be freed up through staff operating in a 

changed environment.  There is confidence that with continuity in leadership style 

and approach these, and other elements, can be sustained and develop further. 

 

Page 164

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

27 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

There is an increasing organisational self-awareness and current plans for 

improvement focus largely in the right areas.  Inevitably more issues will come to the 

fore in the months ahead, as a result of the climate becoming more conducive to 

being open about issues and the new Directors getting to grips with their areas of 

responsibility.  The emergence of these will place further demands on the 

organisation and improvement planning will need to adapt accordingly.  It is important 

officers and elected members understand that whilst some improvements can be 

made relatively quickly, others will take considerably longer.  The experience within 

the local government sector is that whole council improvement is a journey and all 

stakeholders need to be prepared for that.   

 

The council is appropriately planning to consolidate its improvement plans into a 

single comprehensive plan following our work and that of others recently.  This new 

plan will benefit from being able to be broken down into ‘bite-sized chunks’ and 

deliverables sequenced to reflect planned progress over time.  Such a plan will be 

helpful in informing resource and capacity prioritisation.  The council’s plans 

generally needing to translate more consistently into tangible action and delivery and 

this must be the case with the improvement plan.  An effective programme 

management approach and robust monitoring processes will be key. 

  

Staff, elected members and partners we met welcomed the increased stability 

provided by the permanent appointments at Director level and highlighted the 

opportunities this provides, including: 

• Increased managerial capacity 

• Relationships being able to be developed both internally and with partner 

organisations that are sustainable over time 

• Increased longer-term thinking and planning 

• Greater external focus and linking into sub-regional, regional and national 

agendas 

• Drawing in and exchanging learning – both through the experiences that those 

appointed from elsewhere bring with them and through the external forums 

Page 165

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

28 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

and activities that it is important they are encouraged and attach value to 

participating in    

 

There is a wider theme around learning too, with the opportunity for the council to 

become a real learning organisation in a context of the changed climate it is 

operating in.  This includes looking outward more, actively learning from customer 

feedback and examining constructively what doesn’t go to plan.  This forms a key 

part of the wholesale organisational culture change that is required and is predicated 

upon having a more open environment that is conducive to identifying and 

highlighting issues as soon as they start to arise in order that they can be collectively 

understood and constructively responded to.  This represents the exact opposite of a 

‘blame culture’. 

 

There is a need for greater join-up across the council.  People spoke of an 

organisation with a tendency to operate still in silos – which, again, is not unique to 

Sandwell.  Opportunities exist around an enhanced ‘neighbourhoods’ focus and 

locality working – with us assuming when we first heard of neighbourhood teams that 

these were cross-organisational but subsequently coming to realise they were 

comprised only of staff within housing-related roles.  At Director level there was an 

expressed need and a desire to adopt more cross-cutting approaches to addressing 

budget challenges in the months and years ahead – recognising not only the financial 

and service delivery benefits of this but also what stands to be gained from the 

relationship-building and enhanced shared understanding that would be derived.  

There is also much to be gained through ensuring the range of organisational plans 

and strategies that are being developed are aligned and co-ordinated across the 

organisation.  The ‘One Council, One Team’ message within the Corporate Plan is at 

the early stages of being heard and understood and can be built on over the coming 

months. 

 

There needs to be greater clarity around the status of ‘the restructure’.  There are 

clearly a wide variety of views and interpretations of the intentions and progress of 

this project.  This ranges from it having been completed following the recruitment 

Page 166

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

29 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

undertaken at Director level through to there being the intention to look at every level 

of the organisation following a commitment made more than two years ago to do so.  

People want to know the definitive position. 

 

Existing organisational arrangements need to be reviewed in light of priorities, 

budgets and organisational ambition.  It is essential to ensure the organisation is 

structured in the right way in order to provide the necessary strategic and operational 

focus and the capacity and the capability in the right places to deliver against the 

council’s ambitions – which may require additional investment.  A key strand to date 

in delivering the savings challenge has related to ‘planned leavers’ i.e. those 

indicating they would consider leaving the organisation under the right 

circumstances, including early retirement or voluntary redundancy.  This has left key 

gaps in organisational structures and arrangements.  This is not a sustainable 

approach either organisationally or financially and has led to a ‘skewing’ of structures 

and what certain roles entail.  Role titles and functions need to do ‘what they say on 

the tin’ and there needs to be consistency in terminology, spans of control and levels 

of responsibility.  As examples, certain Director titles bear very little relationship with 

what people are actually responsible for delivering and even people within the 

organisation struggle to differentiate between roles such as ‘Team Manager’ and 

‘Service Manager’ given the differentiation across the organisation in how these roles 

are structured.  

  

A truly ‘enabling corporate core’ is essential for taking forward a modernisation 

agenda for the council – there is a need for a move away from the ‘red tape’ and 

bureaucracy and old systems and approaches which staff at all levels highlighted to 

us.  As one individual described it: “We are at the start of the journey around 

transformation”.  The corporate functions that will be central to this – both in 

modernising their own approaches and systems and enabling the rest of the 

organisation to transform too – include IT, HR and OD, finance, procurement and 

contract management.  Capacity to deliver change and improvement, plus project 

and programme management expertise will also be required.  Staff recognise the 

importance of the ‘business essentials’ necessary to safeguard the organisation and 

Page 167

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

30 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

ensure its smooth and efficient running and good governance but wish to see many 

of the current approaches made more effective, more enabling of service 

departments and streamlined.  There is a link here to the culture of risk aversion and 

the escalation of decision-making highlighted earlier, including, for example, multiple 

signatories being required for relatively minor actions and a lack of proper investment 

over years in key IT systems.   

 

Clarity is required around the thinking, planning and communication of plans for the 

‘return to the workplace’ as the pandemic enters new phases.  Our discussions with 

staff highlighted individual teams developing their own thinking on arrangements to 

take effect around March.  Achieving an increased workplace presence at an 

appropriate point will be important in both service delivery and cultural change terms.  

During the period of the pandemic, investment has been made in the office 

accommodation in the Council House in Oldbury.  This acts as a base for many 

council staff and the changes have been designed to support new ways of working.  

The council’s overall philosophy and expectations around the return of its workforce 

needs to be effectively communicated and understood by all staff.  This should, 

however, provide scope for teams to shape things to ensure that the benefits they 

have seen from changed ways of working over the last two years are retained whilst 

also ensuring business needs are met. 

 

Staff that we met from the ‘middle management’ levels are keen for increased senior 

leadership visibility, enhanced information flow and more engagement – which they 

would want the Chief Executive and Leadership Team to be central to.  There is a 

desire for increased information sharing regarding the council’s financial situation and 

the potential for involving managers and budget holders more fully in budget setting.  

They are also a key audience for the message we are encouraging from the Leader 

and Chief Executive around officer and elected member relationships.  Ensuring 

middle managers are sighted on, and made integral to the taking forward of, the aims 

within the Corporate Plan, including the ‘One Council, One Team’ philosophy, and 

that they are positioned to convey the narrative of the council and the borough, will 

aid the fulfilment of Sandwell’s ambitions.  Much of the suggested latent capacity is 

Page 168

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

31 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

likely to sit at this level of the organisation. 

 

The majority of frontline staff we met provided a compelling and very positive picture 

of the way they have been invested in over recent years.  This takes the form both of 

opportunities for them to develop and to progress their careers within the authority 

and the pastoral care and support provided to them by their managers.  A straw poll 

revealed the impressive extent to which annual performance and development 

appraisals are undertaken, whilst staff also attached major importance to the much 

more regular and informal ‘catch-ups’ they have with their managers.  A few 

highlighted the way in which flexible working arrangements had been developed in 

order to support them with other key considerations in their lives and this had 

delivered major benefits for them whilst simultaneously ensuring service 

requirements were met. 

 

Whilst training and development is being provided for elected members and 

managers, this needs to move to a new level, including: 

• Further ‘top team’ development across Cabinet and Leadership Team – both 

as individual bodies and collectively 

• Elected members – related both to existing specific roles, for example as 

committee chairs, and the ambitions they may hold for the future.  A key 

element here will be placing a greater emphasis upon, and facilitating 

increased engagement in, learning from across the sector.  This will need to 

be a programme delivered across the electoral cycle so as to provide for both 

new councillors and those taking on new roles. 

• A comprehensive management development programme will be key in 

supporting the modernisation agenda for the council, but this needs to be 

supplemented with a real emphasis on leadership development 

 

There is recognition of the need to develop a more proactive approach to the 

council’s communications – both internal and external.  However, there needs to be 

an increased organisational confidence reflected in this, including greater profiling of 

Page 169

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

32 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

achievements and key council activity.  The authority currently seems to have a 

reticence to highlight what it is doing well and the key achievements it is delivering.  

We understand that this stems from a history of criticism from some quarters but we 

would encourage bold leadership on this issue in order to enable people to feel more 

confident in profiling their successes.  The benefits to be accrued around developing 

a better shared understanding and narrative around what the council and the 

borough is achieving and an increased pride in the organisation are likely to be 

significant.   

 

Developing a clear rhythm of effective communication and updating of key 

stakeholders on a regular basis will be important.  What is being achieved will form a 

central element of this, but this is also a key opportunity to share information in 

relation to future plans and emerging projects.  This links to the development of a 

narrative providing a compelling picture of the ambitions of the council and the 

borough and the potential that exists.  Within this, of course, is the once in a 

generation opportunity to capitalise upon the borough’s Commonwealth Games 

involvement to ‘relaunch’ Sandwell.   

 

It is positive that the council is launching a comprehensive staff survey in the coming 

weeks and the findings from this will be key in identifying well-being issues; pin-

pointing pockets where behavioural issues continue to be experienced; obtaining 

perspectives on how to enhance internal communications; and further informing 

improvement planning generally.   

 

We would encourage the council to complement the introduction of the staff survey 

with the commissioning of a comprehensive residents’ survey to be undertaken at 

regular intervals.  We recognise the work that has already been delivered to establish 

a Residents’ Panel but feel this can usefully be supplemented with a mechanism to 

glean a wider range of perceptions and insights to inform plans and prioritisation. 

 

Page 170

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

33 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

5. Next steps 
 

It is recognised that the council’s senior political and managerial leadership will want 

to consider, discuss and reflect on these findings. 

  

Both the peer team and LGA are keen to build on the relationships formed through 

the peer challenge. The CPC process includes a ‘check-in’ session a few months on 

from the initial activity, with this providing the opportunity for the council’s senior 

leadership to update peers on its progress against the related improvement planning 

and discuss next steps. 

 

In the meantime, Helen Murray, Principal Adviser for the West Midlands region, is the 

main contact between your authority and the Local Government Association.  She is 

available to discuss any further support the council requires – 

helen.murray@local.gov.uk. 

Page 171

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:helen.murray@local.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



DIRECTIONS UNDER SECTION 15(5) AND (6) OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
ACT 1999 

 
1. The Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (“the Secretary 

of State”) has carefully considered the following in respect of Sandwell Metropolitan 
Borough Council (“the Authority”): 

 
i. The Value for Money Governance Review produced by the Authority’s 

auditor Grant Thornton (“the Report”), given to the Authority on 3 December 
2021 and published on gov.uk on 18 January 2022; 

ii. The representation made on 10 February 2022 by the Authority on the 
Report and on the proposed Directions; 

iii. A representation from the Authority’s Conservative Councillor Group dated 
11 February 2022; 

iv. A representation from a Sandwell Councillor dated 10 February 2022. 
v. Representations from Shaun Bailey, MP for West Bromwich West, Nicola 

Richards, MP for West Bromwich East, and John Spellar, MP for Warley, 
each dated 10 February 2022; 

vi. Representations from eight members of the public and one residents’ group 
received during the representation period (18 January 2022 to 11 February 
2022). 

 
2. The Secretary of State is satisfied that the Authority is failing to comply with the 

requirements of Part I of the Local Government Act 1999 (“the 1999 Act”). 
 
3. The Secretary of State, having considered the representations made by the 

Authority as required by section 15(9) of the 1999 Act, and those listed above, 
considers it necessary and expedient, in accordance with his powers under section 
15(5) and (6) of the 1999 Act, to direct the Authority as set out below in order to 
secure the Authority’s compliance with the requirements of Part I of the 1999 Act, 
in particular:  

 
• To continue to rebuild the governance capacity of the Authority, addressing the 

deep-seated culture of poor governance and leadership;   
 

• To restore public trust and confidence in the Authority by putting an end to any 
of the Authority’s activities, practices, and omissions which are, or risk being, 
not compatible with the best value duty.   

 
4. Pursuant to his powers under section 15(5) and (6) of the 1999 Act, the Secretary 

of State directs: 
 

i. The Authority to take the actions set out in Annex A to these Directions; 
 

ii. That the functions of the Authority specified in Annex B to these Directions 
shall be exercised from the date of these Directions by the Commissioners 
acting jointly or severally; the Commissioners being persons nominated by 
the Secretary of State for the purposes of these Directions as long as those 
nominations are in force; 

Page 173



 
iii. That, from the date of these Directions, the Authority shall comply with any 

instructions of the Commissioners in relation to the exercise of the functions 
specified in Annex B, and shall provide such information and assistance as 
the Commissioners may require for the purpose of exercising the functions 
specified in Annex B. 

 
5. These Directions shall remain in force until 22 March 2024 unless the Secretary of 

State considers it appropriate to amend or revoke them at an earlier date. 
 
Signed on behalf of the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. 
 
 
 
Maxwell Soule 
Senior Civil Servant in the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
Date: 22 March 2022 

  

Page 174



ANNEX A 
ACTION THE AUTHORITY IS REQUIRED TO TAKE 
 
In this Annex “the Authority” includes the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members, 
any committee or sub-committee; and any other person who has responsibility for the 
matter in question. 

 
The actions to be taken by the Authority are: 

1. In the first three months prepare, agree and implement an Improvement Plan, to 
the satisfaction of the Commissioners (which may include or draw upon 
improvement or action plans prepared before the date of these Directions), with, 
resource allocated accordingly, activities to implement all the recommendations of 
the Report, and as a minimum, the following components: 

a) Actions to deliver rapid and sustainable improvements in governance, 
leadership and culture in the Authority. 

b) Actions to secure improvement in relation to the proper functioning of the 
scrutiny and associated audit functions. 

c) Actions to secure continuous improvement in all services.  

2. To report to the Secretary of State on the delivery of the Improvement Plan at six 
monthly intervals, or at such intervals as the Commissioners may direct, and adopt 
any recommendations of the Commissioners with respect to the Improvement Plan 
and its implementation.  

3. To undertake in the exercise of any of its functions any action that the 
Commissioners may reasonably require to avoid so far as practicable incidents of 
poor governance that would, in the reasonable opinion of the Commissioners, give 
rise to the risk of further failures by the Authority to comply with the best value duty. 

4. To allow the Commissioners at all reasonable times, such access as appears to 
the Commissioners to be necessary: 

a) To any premises of the Authority. 

b) To any document relating to the Authority. 

c) To any employee or member of the Authority. 

5. To provide the Commissioners, at the expense of the Authority, with such 
reasonable amenities and services and administrative support as the 
Commissioners may reasonably require from time to time to carry out their 
functions and responsibilities under these Directions. 

Page 175



6. To pay the Commissioners’ reasonable expenses, and such fees as the Secretary 
of State determines are to be paid to them. 

7. To provide the Commissioners with such assistance and information, including any 
views of the Authority on any matter, as the Commissioners may reasonably 
request. 

8. To co-operate with the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities in relation to implementing the terms of these Directions. 

  

Page 176



ANNEX B 
 

FUNCTIONS OF THE AUTHORITY TO BE EXERCISED BY THE COMMISSIONERS 
 
In this Annex –  

 
“statutory officer” means any of: the head of paid service designated under 
section 4(1) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989; the chief financial 
officer designated as having responsibility for the administration of the 
Authority’s financial affairs under section 151 of the Local Government Act 
1972; the monitoring officer designated under section 5(1) of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989; and 

 
“the Authority” includes the Leader, Cabinet Members, any committee or sub-
committee; and any other person who has responsibility for the matter in 
question. 
 

The Commissioners shall exercise: 

1. All functions associated with the governance and scrutiny of strategic decision 
making by the Authority. 

2. All functions relating to the appointment and dismissal of persons to positions the 
holders of which are to be designated as statutory officers, and the designation of 
those persons as statutory officers, to include:  

a) The functions of designating a person as a statutory officer and removing a 
person from a statutory office. 

b) The functions under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972 of - 
  
i) appointing and determining the terms and conditions of employment of an 
officer of the Authority, insofar as those functions are exercised for the 
purpose of appointing a person as an officer of the Authority principally in 
order for that person to be designated as a statutory officer; and  

ii) dismissing any person who has been designated as a statutory officer from 
his or her position as an officer of the Authority. 

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank



SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL DIRECTIONS UNDER 
SECTION 15(5) AND (6) OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1999 
 
EXPLANATORY MEMORANDUM 
 
1. The Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (“the Secretary 

of State”) has exercised his powers under section 15(5) and (6) of the Local 
Government Act 1999 (“the 1999 Act”) in relation to Sandwell Metropolitan Borough 
Council (“the Authority”) to secure its compliance with the best value duty. 
 

2. This Memorandum is intended as a companion document to the Directions issued 
on 22 March 2022. It summarises the circumstances in which the Secretary of State 
has made the Directions, his reasons for this exercise of his powers, and the 
implications of the Directions for the Authority. 

 
The Context for the Directions 
 
3. The Authority has struggled for many years to resolve a variety of governance 

issues, including allegations of serious misconduct by both members and officers. 
The Authority has had six different Leaders in six years and three Chief Executives 
over the past three years. This instability has led to a breakdown in trust, respect 
and confidence between those holding governance roles at the Authority.  
 

4. In August 2021 the Authority’s external auditors, Grant Thornton, initiated a Value 
for Money Governance Review into the Authority’s arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This comprehensive 
Governance Review (“the Report”), based on evidence gathered from 75 
interviews over a period of three months, was issued to the Authority on 3 
December 2021. The Report makes 45 wide-ranging recommendations, three of 
which are Statutory Recommendations, and provides a picture of the Authority of 
the utmost seriousness. Given the extensive nature of this Report and the 
evidence contained in it, the Secretary of State was satisfied that there was no 
need to commission an additional Best Value Inspection into the challenges facing 
the Authority.   

 
5. The Report paints a deeply troubling picture of mismanagement, of ineffective 

scrutiny and accountability arrangements, and identifies considerable evidence 
that the Authority has failed to comply with its best value duty under Part I of the 
1999 Act over a number of years. In particular, the Report notes how a breakdown 
in trust between those holding governance roles at the Authority over an extended 
period has significantly limited the Authority’s ability to move away from the past 
and to manage the challenges and opportunities it faces. While the conclusion of 
the external auditor is that the Authority is now at the beginning of a fragile 
improvement journey, it is the Secretary of State’s view that the risk of progress 
stalling or slowing is significant. In his view the proposed intervention is both 
necessary and expedient to secure compliance with the best value duty.   

 
6. Having considered the findings of the Report, on 18 January 2022 the Secretary of 

State published the Report and a letter from senior officials to the Authority setting 
out a proposed intervention package to secure the Authority’s compliance with its 

Page 179



best value duty (“the minded to letter”). Representations about the Report and the 
proposed intervention package were invited from the Authority and any other 
interested parties on or before 11 February 2022. 

 
7. The minded to letter explained that the proposed intervention package reflected the 

recommendations of the Report, and contained two key elements: 
a. Proposals to put in place Commissioners to take over functions associated with 

the governance and scrutiny of strategic decision-making, and functions relating 
to the appointment and dismissal of statutory officers, and the designation of 
those persons as statutory officers; and  

b. Actions which the Authority must undertake in order to implement all 45 
recommendations of the Report, as well as supporting and facilitating the work 
of the Commissioners.   
   

8. The minded to letter included a detailed description of the Directions that the 
Secretary of State proposed to make under section 15 of the 1999 Act. The 
proposed Directions provided for the Commissioners to exercise, for a time, certain 
functions of the Authority, gave to the Commissioners certain responsibilities and 
reserved powers, and required the Authority to take certain actions. This 
Memorandum explains the content of the Directions as finalised in the light of 
representations received from the Authority and other interested parties.  

 
Representations    
 
9. Before making Directions, the Secretary of State is required under section 15(9) of 

the 1999 Act to give the Authority an opportunity to make representations about the 
proposed Directions, as well as on the Report which served as the basis for them.  
 

10. Representations were received on behalf of the Authority, dated 10 February 2022, 
from the Interim Chief Executive Officer, Kim Bromley-Derry CBE DL. While the 
Authority expressed disappointment with the Secretary of State’s proposed decision 
to intervene, the Authority welcomed the Department’s support for its improvement 
journey and confirmed that they look forward to working with the Commissioners. 
The Authority noted that they have already developed an Improvement Plan in 
response to the Report. They intend to bring together the findings of this Report with 
those of a recent Financial Management Review, conducted by the Chartered 
Institute for Public Finance and Accountancy, and a Corporate Peer Challenge 
conducted by the Local Government Association, into one overarching 
Improvement Plan for the Authority. With regards to moving to a four-yearly election 
cycle, the Authority confirmed that they are in the process of preparing an action 
plan to progress this matter, which includes details of its consultation and 
engagement activity, so that an informed decision can be made at Full Council as 
soon as it is practicable to do so.  
  

11. Representations were also received from: 
a. The Authority’s Conservative Councillor Group, led by Cllr Archer Williams 

(Leader of the Opposition). The Group welcomed the intervention proposals, 
believing that progress at the Authority to date is inadequate and lacks scrutiny. 
The representation welcomed the intervention package’s focus on 
strengthening scrutiny and decision-making processes at the Authority, as the 

Page 180



Group believe that the current culture, processes and lack of internal controls 
are negatively impacting service delivery.  

b. One Councillor from the Authority who welcomed the proposed intervention and 
raised doubts on the current scrutiny and audit functions of the Authority, 
including the ‘green shoots’ conclusion in the Report.  

c. Shaun Bailey, MP for West Bromwich West, welcomed the proposed 
intervention, noting that the Government’s intervention is the first step needed 
to right the past failings of the Authority, which have severely impacted on the 
lives of many local residents. 

d. Nicola Richards, MP for West Bromwich East, welcomed the proposed 
intervention, noting that it is needed to ensure ‘green shoots’ of improvement 
are sustained, following long-term disfunction within the Authority and its service 
delivery for local residents. 

e. John Spellar, MP for Warley, opposed the intervention, noting the risks it poses 
to the continuity of progress made by the Authority’s senior leaders and their 
ability to successfully appoint a new permanent Chief Executive. He made 
specific reference to the ‘green shoots’ conclusion of the Report as reasoning 
for the Authority being allowed to continue to manage its own affairs.  

f. Eight members of the public and one residents' group, who welcomed the 
proposed intervention package. Key themes were a perceived lack of scrutiny 
or consequences for contract and financial mismanagement, organisational 
instability and poor-quality customer service. One resident requested an 
independent inquiry into the legality of certain past practices of the Authority. 
One expressed doubts in the ‘green shoots’ conclusion of the Report. 
 

12. This Memorandum, together with the Directions and related material, is published 
at www.gov.uk. 
 

The Intervention Package 
 
13. Having carefully considered afresh the Report, together with letters from the 

Authority (10 February 2022), Members of Parliament Shaun Bailey (West 
Bromwich West, letter dated 10 February 2022), Nicola Richards (West Bromwich 
East, letter dated 10 February 2022) and John Spellar (Warley, letter dated 10 
February 2022), the Authority’s Conservative Councillor Group (11 February 2022), 
one Councillor (dated 10 February 2022), members of the public (various dates) 
and a residents’ group, the Secretary of State is confident that there is a sound basis 
on which to found his considerations and, accordingly, is satisfied that the Authority 
is failing to comply with its best value duty.   
 

14. The Secretary of State, having considered the representations made by the 
Authority as required under section 15(9) of the 1999 Act, considers it necessary 
and expedient, in accordance with his powers under section 15(5) and (6) of the 
same Act, to put in place an intervention package to secure the Authority’s future 
and sustainable compliance with its best value duty. This intervention package is in 
line with his proposals as described in paragraph 7 of this Memorandum. 

 
15. The Secretary of State considers that this package will address the failings identified 

in the Report. For the avoidance of doubt, the Secretary of State believes that each 

Page 181

http://www.gov.uk/


individual element of the intervention that he has implemented is individually 
justified.   

 
Commissioners  
 
16. The package that the Secretary of State has put in place centres on an Authority-

led Improvement Plan and a Managing Director Commissioner and Assistant 
Commissioner to make sure that the Authority meets its duty under Part I of the 
1999 Act (anticipated to be in place until March 2024). The Secretary of State has 
made Directions in relation to the Commissioners, including providing for them to 
perform certain functions, if necessary, and to have a role in overseeing other 
functions or actions which the Authority is to perform. The Commissioners are 
accountable to the Secretary of State in that they have been nominated by him and 
can have their nomination withdrawn by him. The Commissioners will report to the 
Secretary of State on the progress of the intervention. 
 

17. The skills and experience of the Commissioners mean that it is both possible and 
sensible to give them considerable levels of discretion over how they implement 
their roles and responsibilities under the Directions, in order that they can find the 
solutions most likely to lead to sustainable improvement in the Authority. 

 
18. The Commissioners are to act jointly or severally, and it will be for them to decide 

how best to exercise their functions. However, the Secretary of State envisages 
complementary roles: 

a. a Managing Director Commissioner, whose responsibilities include, but 
are not limited to, giving direction and leadership to the delivery of the 
improvements which the Authority is required to make. 

b. an Assistant Commissioner whose responsibilities include, but are not 
limited to, overseeing the cultural change necessary at the Authority. 
 

19. The Secretary of State has nominated Commissioners with a proven record in 
leadership, governance and scrutiny, delivering cultural change and transformation.  
The Commissioners are: 
 
• Kim Bromley-Derry CBE CL (Managing Director Commissioner) – Kim has 

more than 35 years of public sector experience, including eight years as Chief 
Executive of the London Borough of Newham. He was also Director of Children’s 
Services at both South Tyneside and Leicester City Councils. Kim was appointed 
Interim Chief Executive of Sandwell Council in August 2021 after being 
temporarily released from his role as Group Director for Strategic Partnerships 
at McLaren Construction Group. Kim has been President of the Association of 
Directors of Children’s Services. He has also chaired the Government’s Libraries 
Taskforce, been a Non-Executive Board Member of both the National College of 
Creative Industries, the National Creative and Cultural Skills Agency and a 
member of the London 2017 World Athletics and Para Athletics Championships 
Board. 

• Jim Taylor (Assistant Commissioner) – Jim Taylor served for six years as 
Chief Executive of Salford City Council prior to his retirement in 2021. He also 
fulfilled the role of Interim Chief Executive of Trafford Borough Council 
simultaneously from July 2018 to February 2019. Prior to this Jim was the Chief 

Page 182



Executive of Rochdale Council having also served as Director for Children’s 
Services at Tameside MBC. In June 2021 Jim was appointed by the Secretary 
of State to undertake an external assurance review of governance at Slough 
Borough Council. 
 
The Commissioners are nominated for the period from 22 March 2022 to 22 
March 2024 or such earlier or later time as the Secretary of State determines.  
 

20. It is expected that the Commissioners will oversee the appointment of a permanent 
Chief Executive Officer within 18 months and then step back from the Council. In 
the interim period the Managing Director Commissioner will make appropriate 
delegations or arrangements in relation to their existing statutory roles as Interim 
Chief Executive of the Council, and work with the Council as they consider their 
Constitution and what amendments are necessary. The Commissioners are 
accountable to the Secretary of State. 

 
21. The Directions provide that the Commissioners’ reasonable expenses and such 

fees as the Secretary of State determines are to be paid to them by the Authority. 
The Secretary of State is mindful of the need for Commissioner remuneration to 
represent value for money for local taxpayers. In recognition of the nature and scale 
of the intervention, he has determined fees of £1200 a day for the Managing Director 
Commissioner and £1100 a day for the Assistant Commissioner. 

 
Powers to be exercised by the Commissioners 
 
22. The Report highlight failures in three key areas – the administration of corporate 

governance, democratic services and scrutiny, and service reform. Alongside this 
the Report refers to the concerted efforts made by the Authority over recent months, 
particularly since the appointment of the Interim Chief Executive. 
 

23. For these reasons, the Directions enable the Commissioners to exercise functions 
in two areas: 
a. All functions associated with the governance and scrutiny of strategic decision 

making by the Authority. The Report concluded that, until recently, the Authority 
has failed to take an effective grip of the key issues it faces, and that the 
Authority’s Scrutiny Boards and the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee need 
improvement. The Report noted how a lack of a clear performance 
management framework and agreed key corporate indicators has impacted on 
the ability of the Leadership Team and Cabinet to take an effective grip of the 
key issues. It also noted how the Leadership Team has not effectively engaged 
strategic financial planning and budget monitoring, and that a perceived blame 
culture had contributed to silo working, resulting in a lack of ownership and grip 
on key challenges. In practice, most decisions are expected to be taken by the 
Authority; however, the Directions are designed to give Commissioners the 
power to tackle the weaknesses the Report identified to make sure that the 
Authority is better equipped to meet the requirements of Part I of the 1999 Act. 

b. All functions relating to the appointment and dismissal of statutory officers (the 
Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer (and section 151 officer) and Monitoring 
Officer), and the designation of those persons as statutory officers. 

 

Page 183



24. The Secretary of State considers that most decisions should continue to be made 
by the Authority. Commissioners will uphold proper standards and due process and 
recommend action to the Authority. The Secretary of State’s intention is that the 
powers he is providing to the Commissioners be used as a last resort should the 
Authority not satisfy the Commissioners in their improvement processes. This 
approach reflects the work commenced by the Authority and the confidence the 
Secretary of State has in the continuation of this work with the support of the 
Commissioners.  
 

25. The exercise of these functions should enable the Commissioners to make sure 
that the Authority has made sufficient improvement within the next two years to be 
able to comply with its best value duty on a sustainable basis. 

 
Directions to the Authority 
26. To achieve and facilitate the objectives of the intervention, the Secretary of State 

has also directed the Authority to take the following actions: 
 

a) In the first three months prepare, agree and implement an Improvement Plan to 
the satisfaction of the Commissioners (which may include or draw upon 
improvement or action plans prepared before the date of these Directions), with 
resource allocated accordingly, activities to implement all 45 recommendations 
of the Report, and as a minimum, the following components: 

i. Actions to deliver rapid and sustainable improvements in governance, 
leadership and culture in the Authority. It is expected that the required 
programme of cultural change will rebuild trust between Members and 
Officers by making sure that both Members and Officers understand 
the scale of the challenge and their respective roles in driving 
improvement, the way in which the Authority and its activities are 
regulated and governed, and the way in which this is monitored and 
breaches rectified. 

ii. Actions to secure improvements in relation to the proper functioning of 
the scrutiny and associated audit functions. 

iii. Actions to secure continuous improvement in all services.  
b) To report to the Secretary of State on the delivery of the Improvement Plan at 

six monthly intervals, or at such intervals as the Commissioners may direct, and 
adopt any recommendations of the Commissioners with respect to the 
Improvement Plan and its implementation.  

c) To undertake, in the exercise of any of its functions, any action that the 
Commissioners may reasonably require to avoid, so far as practicable, 
incidents of poor governance or financial mismanagement that would, in the 
reasonable opinion of the Commissioners, give rise to the risk of further failures 
by the Authority to comply with the best value duty. 
 

27. The Directions require the Authority to fully cooperate with the Commissioners in 
order to facilitate their work:    
a) To allow the Commissioners at all reasonable times, such access as appears 

to the Commissioners to be necessary: 
i. to any premises of the Authority; 
ii. to any document relating to the Authority: and 
iii. to any employee or member of the Authority; 

Page 184



b) To provide the Commissioners, at the expense of the Authority, with such 
reasonable amenities and services and administrative support as the 
Commissioners may reasonably require from time to time to carry out their 
functions and responsibilities; 

c) To pay the Commissioners’ reasonable expenses, and such fees as the 
Secretary of State determines are to be paid to them;  

d) To provide the Commissioners with such assistance and information, including 
any views of the Authority on any matter, as the Commissioners may 
reasonably request; and  

e) To co-operate with the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Communities and 
Housing in relation to implementing the terms of the Directions. 

 
Duration of the intervention 
 
28. The Secretary of State considers that any aspect of the Directions should only be 

in place long enough to achieve the stated objectives of the intervention. The 
Directions will remain in force until 22 March 2024 unless the Secretary of State 
considers it appropriate to amend or revoke them at an earlier date. The Secretary 
of State may decide to extend Directions beyond this date, or it may be appropriate 
to return functions before this time.  
 

29. The Secretary of State has asked for six monthly reports from the Commissioners, 
or at such other times as he might agree with the Commissioners, which allows for 
a process for regular review of whether it would be appropriate to expand the 
functions of the Commissioners or for any function exercisable by the 
Commissioners to be returned to the Authority. The first report is expected as soon 
as is practicable within the first three months of the intervention. 

 
30. Where the Authority and Commissioners agree that it would be appropriate for the 

exercise of a function to be returned to the Authority, Commissioners will report this 
to the Secretary of State, setting out reasons, including clear evidence as to why 
the public could be expected to have confidence in the Authority exercising this 
function in compliance with the best value duty. The Secretary of State will carefully 
consider any such reports and, if agreed to, further Directions will be issued to this 
effect amending these Directions made on 22 March 2022. The Secretary of State 
has not ruled out the possibility that further functions might be brought under the 
control of the Commissioners. 

 

Page 185



This page is intentionally left blank



SANDWELL COUNCIL 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN

P
age 187



2 3

Foreword 
Leader of Sandwell Council - Cllr Kerrie Carmichael

My vision for Sandwell is a borough that is totally 
focussed on the needs of our residents, where everyone 
can fulfil their potential and be proud to live here. 

The council has been through significant changes 
and challenges over the past couple of years. I am 
immensely proud of the way the council, our partners, 
residents and businesses have worked together to rise 
to the challenge of the pandemic crisis. Sandwell has 
been nationally recognised for our community-based 
response: 

     We pioneered local contact tracing and data to aid 
the early identification of cases of new COVID variants  

     Our care home COVID response was a finalist in the 
Royal College of Nursing award for outstanding 
contribution to infection prevention and control 

      We won the Local Government Chronicle’s Public 
Health Team of 2021 for our work on reducing health 
inequalities from the pandemic through the COVID 
Vaccination Champions Project.  

     We supported thousands of our most vulnerable 
residents to access vital support through our Food 
Hub and by adapting our services to keep children 
and adults safe  

      Nearly £60m of grants and hardship payments 
distributed to businesses and residents when they 
needed it most  

     We were the lead authority that successfully 
established, managed and operated a regional 
mortuary at Birmingham Airport on behalf of seven 
other councils 

      We developed a £1.1m programme to meet 
increasing emotional wellbeing and mental health 
needs of children and young people. 

While we were supporting our community through 
the pandemic, we delivered other key achievements 
including: 

      Completing the Sandwell Aquatics Centre in time for 
the 2022 Commonwealth Games  

     Gaining national recognition for drug and alcohol 
services, and our partnership working around modern 
day slavery 

     Raising physical activity in children to the highest rate 
in the region 

      Helping raise £8.7m in welfare benefits  

      Completing external improvements to 3,500 houses 

      Progressing the £30m Birchley Island Transport 
scheme and £67.5m Towns Fund programme. 

The council has been hindered by ongoing governance 
issues, but we have been making changes. I was pleased 
that the progress has been recognised in external 
reviews. 

We know there is much for us still to do and we will 
work very closely with the Government and all our 
partners to continue to progress and maintain our 
focus on delivering high-quality services our residents 
can rely on. I am delighted that Kim Bromley-Derry 

will continue to work with us in his role as Managing 
Director Commissioner. He has been so important in the 
positive changes we’ve been making and will provide the 
continuity we need to carry on with the improvements 
we have already begun putting in place. 

I want to thank the council’s staff. They have gone above 
and beyond and have worked tirelessly for Sandwell’s 
residents, and I am immensely proud to work with such 
dedicated people on a daily basis.  

This Improvement Plan sets out our next steps on 
our improvement journey and I’m looking forward 
to continuing to progress and maintain our focus on 
delivering high-quality services our residents can rely on. 

 

Managing Director Commissioner  
- Kim Bromley-Derry
I am delighted to stay on at Sandwell as the Managing 
Director Commissioner. This is a different arrangement 
to Government intervention in local authorities in other 
parts of the country, in that the ‘Managing Director’ 
part of my role means I am retaining many of the 
same functions I held as Interim Chief Executive. This is 
recognition that we have already started to make the 
required improvements. 

The leadership team, together with the support from my 
Commissioner colleague, Jim Taylor, and staff team are all 
committed to the council’s improvement. 

This plan is a clear map of the journey the council 
needs to take and sets out how we will hold ourselves 
accountable for delivering what is required. 

Whilst our improvement journey is about changing the 
way we work, and our organisational culture, we will not 
lose sight of the underlying purpose of all this – to provide 
high quality services to our residents and businesses.  

Document Version 1 - June 2022. 

The online version of this document will be regularly updated.

P
age 188



4 5

Section 1 - Introduction 

Sandwell, a borough of vibrant towns, great 
opportunities and significant challenges…

Sandwell is a large metropolitan borough in the 
heart of the West Midlands. Home to a diverse 
population, Sandwell is made up of six historic towns 
and a patchwork of urban villages and localities that 
developed with industrialisation, each with a distinctive 
identity. People are very proud of, and very much 
identify with, their local community and although the 
borough is well known as an important part of the 
wider West Midlands region, it is also at the proud heart 
of the Black Country.

Looking forward, there are a significant number of 
exciting opportunities in the borough, including the 
new Midland Metropolitan University Hospital, a 5G 
pilot, town centre regeneration, the new Sandwell 
Aquatics Centre - which will host the swimming and 

diving events for the 2022 Commonwealth Games, 
the extension to the Midlands Metro line, and many 
planned new homes.  The council is using these new 
developments as a platform from which to put Sandwell 
on the map, shaping a borough where people are proud 
of their local area, have better paid jobs, increased skills 
and plenty of opportunities.

We acknowledge that, for a number of years, the 
Council has experienced ongoing governance issues 
that have hindered the organisation from both moving 
forward and seizing opportunities, despite the desire 
and ambition to do so. Historically, the Council’s 
inconsistent strategic approach and decision-making 
discipline, along with an unhealthy culture and 
inappropriate behaviours particularly at senior officer 
and senior member level, have been central causes of 
these governance issues. This has been compounded 
by the turnover of staff at senior management level and 
political instability at the senior level.

Governance and service issues have been stubborn 
to resolve, and a significant amount of time has been 
spent responding to allegations and complaints, 
distracting the Council from robust forward planning of 
its business.

At the same time, we have been responding to a global 
pandemic to provide the fourth emergency service 
locally. Council staff have been working round the clock 
to provide vital services, supporting local action and 
bringing partners together to respond rapidly in the 
crisis. It is important to acknowledge that throughout 
both the pandemic and organisational change, we 
have continued to deliver for our residents and that is 
something we are immensely proud of.

Our Improvement Journey 
Since May 2021, a number of key changes have moved 
us forward. We have refreshed our strategic framework 
in the light of the pandemic and our corporate plan 
reflects the needs of our community and provides a 
compelling vision for taking the borough forward. The 
appointment of an interim Chief Executive in August 
2021, a new Leader in November 2021, and a new 
permanent leadership team is now resulting in tangible 
strides forward and greater stability.

A series of external reviews conducted between August 
2021 and February 2022 have helped us prioritise the 
actions within this Improvement Plan, namely:

    Grant Thornton Value for Money Governance Review 
(December 2021)

  CIPFA Review of Financial Management and 
Governance (January 2022)

  LGA Corporate Peer Challenge (February 2022)

New Leader 
in place

Grant 
Thornton
Governance
Review 
Report

CIPFA Review 
of Financial 
Management 
and 
Governance 

LGA 
Corporate
Peer 
Challenge

Statutory  
Notice from 
Secretary of 
State

Appointment  
of 
Commissioners

Refresh of
Council’s
Corporate 
Plan

October 2021

Appointment 
of Interim 
Chief
Executive

August 2021 November 2021 December 2021 January 2022 February 2022 March 2022

New
Permanent  
Leadership
Team in place

Autumn 2021

P
age 189



6 7

Grant Thornton Value for Money Governance  
Review – December 2021

In December 2021, Grant Thornton issued their report 
following a Value for Money Review of the council’s 
governance arrangements. Within the report, three 
statutory and five key recommendations were made 
that relate to the overarching governance of the 
organisation. The report also identifies 37 further 
improvement recommendations which relate to the 
individual key lines of enquiry of the review.

The Grant Thornton report highlighted that there were 
‘green shoots’ of recovery in a number of areas, showing 
a commitment on the part of the council’s leadership to 
move the organisation forward. 

A Governance Improvement Plan has been in place 
since January 2022 setting out the actions to address 
all the recommendations made by Grant Thornton. 
These actions have been incorporated within this 
Improvement Plan.

CIPFA Review of Financial Management and 
Governance – January 2022

CIPFA were commissioned by the council to undertake 
a review of the financial management and governance 
arrangements using the Financial Management Model. 
The intention of the review was to contribute to the 
development of the Council’s financial management 
operation and arrangements. It assesses the Council’s 
financial management capability, its internal processes, 
and operations. It also examines how the Council plans 
its future financial management.

The report, received in January 2022 set out that 
the council at present is financially stable and in 
recent years has been able to contribute towards 
reserves through achieving a balanced budget or an 
underspend, but that the authority has previously 
lacked ambition and innovation and has a very 
traditional approach to financial management.

The scoring process generates an overall star rating 
between one and five, five being the highest. 
Sandwell achieved an overall rating of two stars and is 
considered to be a progressive two-star authority with an 
encouraging direction of travel.

CIPFA made 14 recommendations and the actions to 
address these are contained within this Improvement Plan.

LGA Corporate Peer Challenge – February 2022

The council invited the LGA to conduct a Corporate 
Peer Challenge focused around five areas which are 
recognised as critical to councils’ performance and 
improvement:
    Local priorities and outcomes
   Organisational and place leadership
   Governance and culture
   Financial planning and management; and
   Capacity for improvement

The Peer Challenge Team also took an in-depth look at 
children’s services and the place agenda. 

The review found that there is much to be excited about 
in Sandwell. It recognised that our local operational 
relationships are well developed, and that these have 
been reinforced and strengthened during our response 
to the pandemic. The review also emphasised the 
positive changes that had already been achieved.

The Peer Challenge report included nine 
recommendations, and raised a series of improvement 
points for longer term consideration which are 
addressed within this Improvement Plan. 

Statutory Notice – March 2022

In March 2022, Sandwell Council received Statutory 
Directions from the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities.
The Directions set out the requirement of the council to 
develop, agree and deliver an Improvement Plan that 
addresses:
    All the recommendations in the Grant  

Thornton Review
    Actions to deliver rapid and sustainable 

improvements in governance, leadership and 
culture in the Authority

    Actions to secure improvement in relation to the 
proper functioning of the scrutiny and associated 
audit functions

    Actions to secure continuous improvement in all 
services

As part of the intervention package a Managing Director 
Commissioner – Kim Bromley-Derry and an Assistant 
Commissioner – Jim Taylor have been appointed.
While the council was disappointed with the 
Secretary of State’s decision to intervene, the council 
has welcomed the Department’s support for its 
improvement journey and that Kim Bromley-Derry will 
be staying on as part of this work providing a continuity 
of approach.

Structure of Improvement Plan - Phased Approach 

Building on the recommendations from all three 
external reviews, and in line with the Minister’s 
Statutory Direction, the council has built this 
Improvement Plan around six key themes that prevail 
throughout all of the reports:
   Organisational Culture
   Corporate Oversight
   Strategic Direction
   Decision Making
   Procurement and Commercial
   Partnership and Relationships

Each theme has a clear set of deliverables and 
milestones – these will be used to track our progress 
against expected timescales and achievements.

We recognise that there are elements of activity that 
require more design before confirming our approach, 
and that there will be other issues arising that will 
feed into the Improvement Plan. For example, the 
council conducted an Employee Engagement Survey 
in February 2022, the results of which were not due 
until mid-May. The results of this survey need to be 
shared with staff to develop a collective approach to 
addressing the key issues. The local elections in early 
May has also meant that we have not had time to work 

with all members, particularly those newly elected, in 
the development of this Plan. 

Consequently, the council has taken a phased approach 
to developing this Improvement Plan. This is Phase One 
– capturing the known actions that can be addressed 
and delivered at this point. The Phase 2 Plan will identify 
additional areas for improvement that arise through 
Phase 1 activity.

P
age 190



8 9

Section 2 - Communication and Engagement 

Our ambition 
As the council continues its improvement journey, we 
will communicate our progress to our residents, staff, 
partners, businesses and stakeholders.

The council developed a communications strategy 
in 2021, and both the Grant Thornton Review, 
and the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge Team have 
recommended that this strategy is implemented. Work 
is now underway to deliver this, and a restructure has 
been completed to align the communications team to 
five areas that will best support the ambitions of the 
council: news, marketing, digital and creative services, 
internal communications and corporate affairs.

If we are to cultivate trust and effectively engage our 
residents, staff and all other stakeholders it is vital that 
we provide high-quality communication in the right 
format and at the right time. We want to proactively 
inform our community about the range of services 
provided by the council, both to connect people to 
services they may need, and to build confidence in the 
council’s ability to support residents.

We are also determined to put Sandwell on the map 
and create new opportunities for our residents and 
businesses. Sandwell doesn’t currently punch its weight 
– we’re the 34th largest authority by population, but the 
8th most deprived and only 72nd for gross value added 
to the economy. 

We now have an opportunity to change this. Working 
with our construction partner, the Sandwell Aquatics 
Centre has been delivered on time and on budget for 
the upcoming Commonwealth Games and will then 
be turned into a state of the art leisure facility for local 
residents. 

New infrastructure developments like the Midland 
Metropolitan University Hospital in Smethwick and the 
new Midland Metro line provide potentially massive 
catalysts for wider regeneration. Building relationships 
and communicating effectively, both at the local and 
regional level will be key to making the most of these 
opportunities.

Our approach
We will regularly report on the progress in delivering 
our Improvement Plan and will complement this with 
a communications plan to keep our staff, residents, 
partners, businesses and stakeholders informed.

Staff and Members
It is vital that we effectively engage our staff and 
members in our improvement journey to create and 
drive organisational cultural change. We want to have 
an open conversation with our staff and members 
about the values we need to adopt and embed to take 
the council forward. 

The council has more than 4,000 members of staff, 
many of whom work on the frontline, and our internal 
communications must support our staff to understand 
the relevance of our Improvement Plan to their day-to-
day work, and the connection it has to our Corporate 
Plan and priorities for our residents.

We will communicate with staff in a variety of ways, 
including regular video and email messages, staff Q&A 

sessions, manager briefings and staff panels. This will 
be a two-way conversation with the intelligence gained 
from staff throughout the organisation used to inform 
our Improvement Plan.

Residents
We are committed to becoming a listening, responsive 
council that enables our residents to influence the 
design of services. We are conducting a residents’ 
survey that will inform our priorities and our future 
communications with our community, to ensure that we 
are focussed on the issues our residents care about.

Partners and stakeholders
We are changing the way we work as a council, and in 
some cases reviewing our partnership arrangements 
as we continually strive to provide the best possible 
services. We want to build on the operational 
relationships with our partners that have been 
strengthened during the pandemic, and it is crucial that 
we keep them informed of our progress throughout our 
improvement journey. 

Engagement in Phase 1
In developing this Improvement Plan, we have engaged 
with staff and members, ahead of a more extensive 
engagement programme as we develop our plan 
further. We have held two events with staff (one with 
our co-production network and one with our staff 
panel), and a third event with members. We have also 
discussed the developing plan with Sandwell’s MPs.

Organisation culture has been identified as a key theme 
from engagement sessions and polls.  Staff feel the 
implementation plan needs to be steered in the right 
direction and that the correct foundations should be 
created to develop a better organisational culture.  Staff 
want to create a safe place to be heard, to generate a better 
understanding on what needs to change and the way in 
which it can be done, taking us away from silo working.

Staff felt there needs to be strong representation with 
our local partnerships and welcomed the directorate 
and corporate planning that is in place as a way forward 
to horizon scan, encouraging directors to share their 

P
age 191



10 11

plans on what each service area will be working on over 
the next three years. 

Feedback from MP’s is that they are happy with the 
approach and that customer experience should be a 
key priority.

In relation to the engagement approach for phase two, 
staff emphasised that they are aware there is a lot of 
work to be done. However, welcome the opportunity  
to engage and for their thoughts and ideas to be  
taken on board, but also be able to share and review 
ongoing improvement to acknowledge the change 
Sandwell deserves. 

Engagement Approach for Phase 2 
Through a series of engagement sessions, Members and 
staff will help shape the development of the Phase 2 
Improvement Plan.

The main strand of engagement will focus on the 
organisational change programme through wide-
ranging engagement to determine the desired culture 
of the council. We will use a blended approach of face 
to face and virtual methods, taking the conversations to 
where staff are. 

Our staff panel and Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 
networks will play a central role in testing the progress 
of our improvement journey and guiding the overall 
engagement approach with staff.

Initial Communication and Engagement Milestones

Staff Survey Results May 2022

All staff live event 26th May 2022

All Member briefing 26th May 2022

Engagement programme 
part 1: Starting the 
Conversation

June – July 2022

Engagement programme 
part 2: Developing the 
Desired Organisational 
Culture

August – December 2022

P
age 192



12 13

Section 3 - Governance and Assurance 

Effective programme management arrangements 
and robust monitoring processes will be key to 
Sandwell’s successful delivery of this Improvement 
Plan and achievement of sustainable change. This was 
highlighted as a gap in all three external reviews, and 
the council has taken steps to develop a corporate and 
consistent approach to programme management.

For the council to have oversight of the delivery of this 
Improvement Plan and achievement of the deliverables, 
we have established the following comprehensive 
governance arrangements. This will provide elected 
members and officers the mechanisms to manage the 
delivery of the plan, as well as ensuring that the desired 
impacts are being achieved. 

Role of the Commissioners
In his Directions to the council, the Secretary of State 
for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities appointed 
two Commissioners with powers to make sure that the 
council “has made sufficient improvement within the 
next two years to be able to comply with its best value 
duty on a sustainable basis”. These roles are: 

    Managing Director Commissioner, whose 
responsibilities include giving direction and 
leadership to deliver improvements that the council 
is required to take; and

    Assistant Commissioner, one of whose 
responsibilities is overseeing the cultural change 
necessary at the council.

The Commissioners will be providing six-monthly 
reports to the Secretary of State on the council’s 
progress in addressing the matters highlighted by the 
external reviews. There are several factors that will 
inform any decision by the Secretary of State to end the 
period of government intervention at Sandwell Council, 
and this decision will be based on reports received from 
the Commissioners. Some of these factors include:
    That the council can demonstrate sustainable 

improvements in governance and scrutiny of 
decision making

    That a permanent Chief Executive has been 
successfully appointed

    The Council has reached a decision on implementing 
a four-yearly election cycle

 

Ownership and Accountability
This Improvement Plan has six themes, each with clear 
objectives, milestones and deliverables. Supporting 
each theme is a detailed delivery plan setting out 
activity to achieve the deliverables, identify responsible 
officer, timescales, and measures of success. The 
delivery plan also sets out how specific actions 
address recommendations in the various external 
reviews, thereby enabling direct reporting for different 
audiences as required. 

It is vitally important to the success of this Improvement 
Plan to establish collective ownership and responsibility 
across senior political and officer leadership. This 
will contribute to the cultural change necessary for 
sustainable improvement, as set out elsewhere in this 
document. It is intended to establish a simple matrix 
mechanism across directors and Cabinet Members 
that will set out accountability and the ability for 
peer challenge. Due to the development of this 
Improvement Plan coinciding with local elections, these 
arrangements will be agreed at the earliest opportunity 
following the approval of this Plan.

Reporting Mechanisms
Ensuring that senior officers and members have 
oversight of delivery against this Improvement Plan 
is integral to the success of Sandwell’s improvement 
journey.  

Progress will be monitored by Leadership Team on a 
monthly basis. The Managing Director Commissioner 
will chair this meeting, with the Assistant Commissioner 
in attendance as an observer. In this way, both 
Commissioners will have up-to-date insight into the 
council’s progress in achieving the milestones and 
deliverables set out in this Plan. 

Members will have oversight of progress through 
monthly informal reporting and formal reporting to 
Cabinet quarterly. This will continue until all actions 
have been completed and government intervention 
has been lifted. Member-led committees will be used 
for decision making and to maintain oversight of 
implementation of the actions within the Improvement 
Plan. These will include Governance and & Constitution 
Review Committee, Audit & Risk Assurance Committee 
and Scrutiny Committees.

P
age 193



14 15

 Whilst this Improvement Plan has been developed to 
address specific recommendations, it is recognised that 
the Plan will need to evolve over time to address areas 
of improvement that are yet to be identified. Additions 
to the Improvement Plan will be monitored through the 
internal monthly monitoring and approved by Cabinet. 

As set out in the Communications Section, we recognise 
the need to improve how the council communicates 
progress with its staff, members, partners and residents. 
Not only does this communication need to be in the 
right format for the various audiences, it also needs 
to be at the appropriate time to provide meaningful 
information. Therefore, we will be sharing progress 
against the key milestones, deliverables and outcomes 
in this Improvement Plan on a regular basis. 

 

Corporate Plan 2021-2025
This Improvement Plan sets out what the council 
must do to improve its governance arrangements 
and embed that improvement to continue to deliver 
positive outcomes for residents. It does not cover 
everything that Sandwell Council is doing to deliver 
day-to-day services and service transformation required 
to improve outcomes for people living and working 
in the borough. Therefore, this Plan must be read in 
tandem with Sandwell’s Corporate Plan 2021-2025. The 
ultimate test of whether the improvements in how the 
council functions, as set out in this Improvement Plan, 
have succeeded will be the delivery of the improved 
outcomes within the Corporate Plan. 

 

Sandwell Children’s Improvement Board
Sandwell Council has in place an existing Statutory 
Direction from the Department for Education (DfE). This 
Statutory Direction included the establishment of an 
independently chaired Improvement Board, the role of 
which is to ensure sustainable improvements to quality 
of practice with the aim of improving outcomes for the 
borough’s most vulnerable children and young people. 
There exists a clear governance structure in place to 
facilitate reporting up to the DfE, and they will continue 
to run alongside the council-wide interventions. There 
will be scheduled updates between Sandwell Children’s 
Trust and the Commissioners through quarterly 
meetings with the independently appointed Chair of 
the Trust Improvement Board. 

 

External Assurance 
Member-led committees will receive progress 
reports on the Improvement Plan as part of their 
normal business. In order to provide the council, the 
Commissioners, the Secretary of State, and our residents 
with a further level of assurance on our progress in 
achieving the objectives of this Improvement Plan, 
Grant Thornton, CIPFA and the LGA Corporate Peer 
Challenge Team will be invited back to Sandwell 
Council to monitor our progress on addressing the 
recommendations of their reviews. These will provide a 
check point on our improvement journey and provide a 
steer on future areas of focus. 

The first review update is scheduled for Autumn 
2022, and further reviews may be arranged at agreed 
points throughout Sandwell’s improvement journey 
as required. It is noted that as the council’s external 
auditor, Grant Thornton may increase monitoring 
activity should they identify any concerns through their 
normal business activity. 

 

Programme Management Approach 

A dedicated team has been established to manage the 
development and delivery of the plan. The programme 
management office will provide assurance that the 
Plan is being delivered, identify variances to the agreed 
deliverables at the earliest opportunity and work with 
lead officers to ensure mitigating action is designed and 
implemented as appropriate.  

It will pull on key skills and expertise available across 
the organisation as necessary, such as communications, 
organisational development, employee engagement, 
risk management, democratic services, financial 
management and internal audit. By engaging with and 
involving staff across the council in the development 
and delivery of this plan, we will build the necessary 
skills and experience to ensure improvements are 
sustainable.  

P
age 194



16 17

Section 4 - Risk Management Section 5 - Resourcing the Plan  

 

Risk approach  

A risk register will be maintained for the duration of 
the Improvement Plan. This risk register will underpin 
the entry on the strategic risk register relating to the 
council’s Improvement Plan (59a 02/22)  

 An initial risk register has been populated with key risks 
and an assessment of their impact and severity. This 
will guide the development of action plans to provide 
further mitigation, where required.  

Risk monitoring  

Monthly report of the risk register will be made to the 
Improvement Review Meeting and quarterly to Cabinet.

  

Key Risks
The main risks are associated with:

    Resources – for delivery of key components of 
the plan including the performance management 
framework, asset management system 
implementation and culture change programme.  The 
financial resources required have been identified and 
will be put in place, subject to Council’s approval.

    Organisational Culture – if the organisational culture 
doesn’t change, this will limit the improvements that 
can be made.  A theme within the Improvement Plan 
focuses on organisational culture.  It includes our 
plans for a comprehensive engagement programme 
with staff and members to define a collectively owned 
culture.  We will then embed the conditions for this 
culture to thrive.

    Communication – our communications approach 
is set out within this Improvement Plan and a 
detailed communication plan will be developed to 
ensure effective and timely communication with 
stakeholders.

    Governance Policies and Procedures – Key corporate 
governance documents are being reviewed and once 
approved, will provide an important foundation for 
improvement.

    Performance Management Framework – to ensure 
that we can effectively monitor progress and 
evidence improvement.  Each theme includes an 
outline of how success will be evidenced.  Processes 
for monitoring progress and evaluating evidence 
of improvement will be developed within the 
governance arrangements.

    Historic Issues – if there is continued focus and 
resource directed to historic issues this will hinder 
progress on the improvement plan and corporate 
plan.  This Improvement Plan contains actions to 
bring historic issues to a conclusion and embed 
lessons learnt.

    Progress Monitoring and Risk Management approach 
– if assessment of progress and risk assessment 
contains optimism-bias this will prevent an accurate 
and realistic view of progress.  Assurance mechanisms 
will help manage this risk. 

Without directing the right resources to delivering this 
Improvement Plan, the council will not successfully 
achieve the necessary changes or embed the 
improvements made.

In developing the delivery plans for each theme, 
an assessment has been made on whether existing 
resources and budgets can be redirected or reshaped to 
carry out the activity required.  In most areas, existing 
resources have been allocated where available.

The council recognises that in order to ensure rapid 
and sustainable improvement, investment is required 
in core areas including; performance management, 
transformation and organisational development.  
These areas will enable the council to build on the 
improvements made over the life of this Improvement 
Plan and take advantage of opportunities to make the 
organisation more efficient and effective in the future.

Plans have been developed to address the resource 
gaps with appropriate levels of funding identified.  
Following Council approval of the allocation of these 
resources, these resource plans will be implemented.

 

P
age 195



18 19

Theme 1 – Organisational Culture 

Introduction 

Effective organisational culture is the collection of 
values, expectations and practices that guide and 
enable people to perform well and deliver improved 
outcomes for residents. The culture of the organisation, 
from member level through to front-line staff, affects 
the ability of the council to make the necessary changes 
across the whole of this Improvement Plan and succeed 
on its improvement journey. 

In their Value for Money Governance Review in 
Autumn 2021, Grant Thornton identified poor 
working relationships, lack of trust between officers 
and members, a culture of silo working and focusing 
on dealing with historical matters. Grant Thornton 
highlighted these challenges as central to the 
governance issues identified in their report and 
preventing the council from moving forward.

However, the Grant Thornton Review also recognised 
the ‘green shoots’ of progress made since the 
appointment of the Interim Chief Executive in August 
2021. The permanent appointment of the senior 
management team has brought stability, skills and 
experience to tackle key issues. These ‘green shoots’ 

were further recognised by the LGA Corporate Peer 
Challenge as being clearly visible within the culture of the 
council and the way it operates. The LGA commented on 
the tangible strength of leadership being provided by the 
current Leader and Chief Executive and the importance 
of maintaining this continuity of style and approach. 
Enabling the right organisational culture to thrive will be 
a key part of the recruitment process for the permanent 
Chief Executive.  

 The CIPFA Financial Management Review also highlighted 
the need for clarity on roles and responsibilities in relation 
to leadership, budget holders and finance specialists to 
ensure a modern financial management approach was 
taken.  

We recognise that changes to structures and performance 
management arrangements will not in themselves lead 
to organisational change without the right culture and 
individual behaviours in place. The plans we put in place 
can only succeed when everybody is determined to adopt 
the behaviours required and to live the new culture. This 
will require identifying and communicating clear roles and 
responsibilities and ensuring a consistent use of policies 
and procedures. To drive this change, we will improve the 

way we engage with our staff, members and residents by 
providing high-quality communications in the right way 
and in a timely manner. 

 Embedding this culture change will take time to achieve. 
We have the opportunity at this point in our improvement 
journey to pause, reflect and collectively determine what 
culture and behaviours we want to nurture as a whole 
organisation. Therefore, we will conduct a comprehensive 
engagement programme with staff and members to 
define a collectively owned culture and conditions for the 
right culture to thrive. This programme will be led from 
the top, maintaining stability and demonstrating the 
behaviours we expect to see.   

A healthy, inclusive culture underpins the successful 
delivery of the whole Improvement Plan. The work 
on embedding a positive culture has informed the 
sequencing of actions across the other themes of this 
plan. Without appropriate engagement and relationship 
building being the first step, there is a risk that the council 
will fail to successfully embed the necessary changes to 
policy and process. In turn, this will prevent the council 
making those improvements sustainable.  

Objectives  

The overall objectives of this theme are:  
    For Senior Leadership (Officers and Members) to 

work together effectively 
    That officers receive appropriate support and 

direction from Senior Leaders 
    For the council’s organisational culture to change, 

ensuring sustainable improvement through a focus 
on improving outcomes for residents, empowering 
staff to make decisions at the right levels, learning 
lessons and embedding customer focus throughout 
the organisation.

Workstreams and Aims  

    Establishing Organisational Culture – to 
collaboratively develop the desired organisational 
culture for Sandwell Council and create the right 
environment for it to thrive 

    Officer and Member Relationship – to improve 
the relationship between officers and members, 
particularly within the council’s senior leadership, 
enabling increased confidence and appreciation of 
each other.

    Officer Learning and Development – to provide 
clarity of expectations on officers, particularly 
leadership and managers, ensuring they have the 
appropriate skills to perform their roles effectively 

    Member Learning and Development – to provide 
clarity of expectations on members, particularly 
those with roles of special responsibility, ensuring 
they have the appropriate skills to perform their roles 
effectively 

    Internal Communication – setting out a clear vision 
for and tone of the organisation from the top, and 
improving internal communication across staff and 
members 

    Employee Engagement – to identify actions 
in response to the findings of the Employee 
Engagement Survey  

    Chief Executive Recruitment - To recruit a 
permanent Chief Executive and provide continuity of 
approach 

 

P
age 196



20 21

Key Deliverables:   
   Employee Engagement Survey  

   Member Development Programme 

    Document or statement setting out the desired 
organisational culture -  ‘Our Values: Our Behaviours’.

   Organisational Development Strategy 

   Corporate Governance Training Programme 

   Communications Strategy 

   Permanent Chief Executive in place 

Evidence of Success  
When we have made progress towards embedding an 
effective organisational culture, there will be evidence of: 
   Employee engagement results improving 
    Managers demonstrating expected behaviours (via 

employee engagement survey results) 

   Members demonstrating expected behaviours 

    Officers and Members have confidence in  
their decisions  

    Healthy and regular dialogue between Senior 
Leaders (Member and Officer) 

    Numerous examples of Members and Officers 
working effectively together 

    Improved take-up of Member development 
programme opportunities 

   Improvements in external review outcomes 

 

 

Budget Holder Role Profile Approved 

May 2022 
Employee Engagement Survey Report  

New Member Induction  

Employee Engagement Survey Results

Meeting structures to support regular dialogue between Senior Leadership (Officer and Member) confirmed for new  
Municipal Year June 2022 

Part 1 Engagement – Starting the Conversation June-July 2022

Scope of Corporate Governance Training approved June 2022

Member Development Programme approved July 2022 

Part 2 engagement – determining desired culture August – December 2022

Corporate Governance Training – Procurement for delivery partner August 2022

Corporate Governance Training Delivery 
Autumn 2022 

Approval of document / statement setting out desired organisational culture – ‘Our Values: Our Behaviours’  

Organisational Development Strategy and Plan Approved End 2022

Recruitment process for Permanent Chief Executive commences By early 2023

Appointment of Permanent Chief Executive By September 2023

Key Milestones:  

P
age 197



22 23

Organisational Culture Delivery Plan

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Organisational culture) Start Date Due date

Officer and 
Member 
Relationship

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 3 
Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
33

Director- Law & 
Governance
Chief Executive
Leader
Cabinet Members
Leadership Team

Continue regular weekly meetings between Cabinet Members and 
Leadership Team
    Regular meetings of Commissioners, Monitoring Officer, Section 151 

Officer and Chief Whips commence
    Meeting structures to support regular dialogue between Senior 

Leadership (Officer and Member) confirmed for new Municipal Year

May 2022

May 2022

May 2022

Jun 2022

Grant Thornton 
Improvement 
Rec1, 5

Director - Finance Continue to adopt star chamber approach for Cabinet Members and 
Chief Officers as part of budget setting approach

2021 Summer 2022

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 3
Corporate Peer 
Challenge Rec 4

Chief Executive Engage LGA to support Officers and Members to develop the 
relationship going forward including continuation of LGA Cabinet 
Member mentoring programme

 May 2022  Dec 2022

Corporate Peer 
Challenge (pg 24)

Director- Law & 
Governance 
Director- Business 
Strategy & 
Change

Ward and Casework Management
    Process and approach review –completed as part of customer 

feedback review

    Leadership Team conversation to identify mechanisms to embed and 
sustain the required approach and process forward and case work 
linked to desired organisational culture

 May 2022 Oct 2022

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Organisational culture) Start Date Due date

Establishing 
Organisational 
Culture

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 3

Director – 
Business Strategy 
and Change

Establish the desired organisational culture for Sandwell Council 
   Phase 1 Engagement: Starting the Conversation 
   Phase 2 Engagement: Determining Desired Culture
   Approval of document setting out the desired organisational culture

Create the right environment for that organisational culture to thrive
   Organisational Development Strategy and Plan Approved
   Other actions as a result of engagement phases

May 2022
Jun 2022
Aug 2022
Autumn 2022

 TBC

Dec 2022
Jul 2022
Dec 2022
Autumn 2022

End 2022
TBC

Officer 
Learning and 
Development

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 3 
Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
6, 20

Director- Law & 
Governance 
Director- Business 
Strategy & 
Change

Develop a clear programme of management development
   Management Development Programme Designed

     o Budget Holder Role Profile Approved
     o  Incorporate training on company roles and responsibilities in 

senior officer development plan 
   Management Development Programme Delivery 

Aug 2022

Aug 2022

2023

Dec  2022
May 2022
Dec  2022

2023 

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 2
Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
15
CIPFA 1.5, 1.6

Director- Law & 
Governance
Director - Finance

Design and deliver Corporate Governance Training for Officers
    Scope of Corporate Governance Training for Officers approved 

(including comprehensive finance and governance training tailored 
to those with different levels of financial responsibility)

   Revision of Corporate Induction
   Effective decision-making training
   Procurement of Delivery Partner
   Delivery of Corporate Governance Training
   Annual Refresher of Corporate Governance Training 

May 2022

Jun 2022
Jul 2022
Jun 2022
Autumn 2022
TBC 2023

Jun 2022

Jul 2022
Sep 2022
Aug 2022
Dec 2022
TBC 2023

P
age 198



24 25

Organisational Culture Delivery Plan

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Organisational culture) Start Date Due date

Member 
Learning and 
Development

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 3
Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
2, 7, 31, 32

Director- Law & 
Governance

Deliver Member Development Programme including Finance Training 
Programme
   Service Showcase 
   New Member Induction
   Approval of Member Development Programme
   Deliver Member Development Programme

May 2022
Jul 2022
Jul 2022

18 May 2022
Jun 2022
Jul 2022
Mar 2023

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 2

Director- Law & 
Governance
Director- Finance

Design and deliver Corporate Governance Training for  
Members  
   Scope of Corporate Governance Training for Members approved 
   Effective decision-making training
   Procurement of delivery partner 
   Delivery of Corporate Governance Training
   Annual Refresher and inclusion in new Member induction

Mar 2022
Jul 2022
Jul 2022
Autumn 2022
Sep 2022

Jun 2022
Sep 2022
Sep 2022
Dec 2022
Oct 2022

Grant Thornton 
Key Rec 7

Director – Law & 
Governance

Continue forward plan for all Member briefings based on themes of 
work / areas for development  
   Forward Plan for All Member Briefings in place for new Municipal Year
    Leadership Team Review of All Member Briefings to ensure they are 

meeting needs

May 2022
Mar 2022

Jun 2022
Ongoing

Grant Thornton 
Improvement  
Rec 29

Director – Law & 
Governance

Induction training for Leader and Cabinet Members on appropriate 
processes relating to the employment of Chief Officers, and in particular 
Statutory Officers

Jun 2022 Jul 2022

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Organisational culture) Start Date Due date

Internal 
Communication

Corporate Peer 
Challenge 2

Director- Law & 
Governance
Head of 
Communications

A clear and joint message from Chief Executive and Leader regarding 
Officer and Elected Member relationship delivered

Dec 2022 Dec 2022

Grant Thornton 
Improvement  
Rec 11

Director- Business 
Strategy and 
Change

Deliver the communications strategy to assist with more effective 
internal communications

Feb 2022 Ongoing

Employee 
Engagement 

n/a Director – 
Business Strategy 
and Change

Actions to respond to employee survey outcomes to be identified and 
embedded in improvement plan

May 2022 Aug 2022

Chief Executive 
Recruitment   

Grant Thornton 
Key Rec 5 
Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
30 

Commissioner Recruitment of Chief Executive  
    Decision on the timescale to go out for advert for the permanent 

Chief Executive 
   Recruitment process takes place  Dates TBC 

following Autumn 
decision

By Sep 2023
Autumn 2022

Dates TBC 
following 
Autumn decision

P
age 199



26 27

Theme 2 – Corporate Oversight 

Introduction 

The leadership of the council needs effective corporate 
oversight of the business to enable it to meet its overall 
objectives and to encourage a positive culture to thrive. 
This requires the council to work effectively together to 
respond to key issues and have the right tools in place 
to enable this to happen.  

The Grant Thornton Review identified a weakness in the 
council’s overall ‘corporate grip’ on a number of specific 
service issues. This has resulted in poor practices 
such as silo working, lack of corporate ownership and 
accountability, and an absence of intervention and 
decision making. The review particularly highlighted the 
lack of a clear performance management framework to 
provide strategic management and oversight. 

All the external reviews have highlighted the lack of a 
performance management culture being a contributing 
factor to the council’s ability to make effective decisions 
and moving forward. Having no framework that provides 
a single version of the truth has led to silo working and a 
lack of corporate ownership and accountability.

A corporate performance management framework 
has been approved by Council as the starting point 
for the culture change required. This framework will 
now be used to drive collective conversations around 
performance and accountability at all levels of the 
organisation. 

The LGA Corporate Peer Challenge highlighted the 
positive style and approach of the Leader and Chief 
Executive but also the need for greater joining up across 
the council, the opportunity for the council to be more 

outward looking, to actively learn when things don’t 
go to plan, and the importance of the corporate core in 
enabling modernisation.  

The CIPFA Financial Management Review’ also raised 
considerations to strengthen the corporate core of 
the organisation, including the delivery of a finance 
business partner approach and a programme of end to 
end finance process reviews.  

The council is already implementing strategies to 
address the service issues highlighted by the Grant 
Thornton Review, with decisions on a number of these 
already being taken by Cabinet. 

Objectives  

The overall objectives of this theme are to:  

    Take effective corporate oversight of long-standing 
service issues and the council’s overall improvement 
journey   

    Embed learning from service issues identified in 
external reviews 

    Provide a corporate approach to performance 
management and the delivery of programmes and 
projects  

    Ensure the role of the corporate core is strengthened 
to enable front line services and staff to focus on 
outcomes for residents  

Workstreams and Aims  

    Improvement Planning, Monitoring and Learning 
- To design, implement and monitor delivery of the 
Improvement Plan and a continuous improvement 
plan for the council  

    Performance Management - To implement 
the Performance Management Framework and 
ensure that it is utilised to support the council’s 
improvement journey 

    Organisational Structure and an Enabling 
Corporate Core – to complete Directorate level 
restructuring, and strengthen the enabling role of 
the corporate core  

    ERP - To implement Oracle Fusion within agreed 
timescales and budget 

    Programme and Project Management - To adopt 
a Corporate approach to programme and project 
management that will ensure effective information 
flow and decision making from Senior Leadership 

 

 

P
age 200



28 29

Establish Performance Management Framework Achieved April 2022 

Improvement Plan approved June 2022 

Procure new support provider to deliver Oracle Fusion  July 2022 

First Performance Management Report August 2022 

All Directorate-level restructuring completed December 2022 

Oracle Fusion Implemented  April 2023 

Key Milestones:  

Key Deliverables    

   Oracle Fusion   

    Performance management framework                 

    Performance management reports                  

   Single Improvement Plan                   

     Continuous Improvement Plan  

Evidence of Success  

When demonstrating effective corporate oversight, we 
will see evidence of: 

    Performance information being used by Leadership 
Team and Members to set strategic direction and 
respond to issues 

    Improvement in performance measures relating to 
One Council One Team 

    Improvement in employee engagement score 

    Improvement in views of external reviews 

P
age 201



Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Corporate Oversight) Start Date Due date

ERP Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 1
Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
28

Director- Finance
Director- 
Business Strategy 
& Change
Director- Law 

Implement Oracle Fusion   
    Cabinet approval for action plan to continue implementation of Oracle 

Fusion
   Terminate implementation partner contract with InoApps 
   Implement robust project management arrangements 
    Review operational team to ensure there are appropriate resources in 

place during implementation phase 
    Project management training for all of project team, including Project 

Sponsors 
   Procure new support provider to deliver Oracle Fusion 
   Support provider in place and delivery commences

Dec 2021

Jul 2022

Apr 2023 
Complete

Complete
Complete
Complete

Jul 2022

Jul 2022
Apr 2023

Improvement 
Planning, 
Monitoring and 
Learning 

Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
35
Grant Thornton 
Key Rec 4, 8
Corporate Peer 
Challenge 
Rec 9
CIPFA Rec all

Leadership Team Single Improvement Plan Phase 1   
   Council approval of Improvement Plan
   Commissioners Report prepared
   Commissioners Report to Secretary of State

Single Improvement Plan Phase 2
   Council approval of Improvement Plan Phase 2 

Mar  2022
- 

Jun 2022

Jun 2022
7 Jun 2022
by 22 Jun 2022

Jan 2023

Statutory 
Direction SN5 

Director – 
Business Strategy 
and Change

Continuous Improvement Plan 
   Develop a Continuous Improvement Plan   Autumn  2022 Spring 2023

Corporate Oversight Delivery plan Corporate Oversight Delivery plan 

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Corporate Oversight) Start Date Due date

Performance 
Management   

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 2,3
Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec  
3, 8, 9, 22, 36
Grant Thornton 
Key Rec 6

CIPFA 
Rec 3.3 
Rec 4.1

Director- Business 
Strategy & 
Change

Performance Management Framework  (PMF)
   Council approval of PMF 
   Q1 performance report 

Sep 2022 Ongoing
Complete
Aug 2022

Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
36
CIPFA
Rec 3.3
Rec 3.1

Director- Finance Budget Monitoring    
   Report format agreed by Leadership Team
   Q1 budget report to Leadership Team, Cabinet and Scrutiny
   Monthly Budget monitoring

Mar 2022 Ongoing
Complete
Aug 2022
Ongoing

30 31

P
age 202



32 33

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Corporate Oversight) Start Date Due date

Organisational 
Structure 
and Enabling 
Corporate Core   

Corporate Peer 
Challenge
Rec 8 , 19 

Leadership Team Restructuring     
   Directorate Level restructuring 

Dec 2021 Dec 2022

CIPFA 
Rec 1.1 
Rec 1.3 
Rec 1.4 
Rec 1.6

Director- Finance Embedding Finance Business Partner role     
    Restructure of financial services section to provide a greater focus on 

business partnering completed
   Expectations on financial services section established 
    Workforce development plan implemented for financial services section
   KPIs and standards developed for financial services section 

Jan 2022 Aug 2022
Jun 2022

Jun 2022
Sep 2022 
Aug 2022

CIPFA 
Rec 3.1
Rec 3.4

Director- Finance Reduction of financial transactional activity      
    Business process re-engineering resources approved 
   Review of internal charges 
   Review of corporate debt recovery processes completed
   Programme of end to end process reviews 

Jan 2022

May 2022

Mar  2023
Complete
Jun 2022
Jul 2022
Mar 2023

CIPFA
Rec 3.2 
Grant Thornton 
Improvement  
Rec 37

Director- Finance Resolve issues relating to the completion and sign off of final accounts.       
   External review of 2020/21 Statement of Accounts  
   New suite of working papers to support the 2021/22 year end process agreed 
   Additional resources in place for 2021/22 year end process
   Training for key members of the Finance Team complete

Jan 2022  May 2022
Complete 
Complete
Complete
Complete

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Corporate Oversight) Start Date Due date

Programme 
and Project 
Management

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 2
Grant Thornton 
Improvement  
Rec 28

Director- Business 
Strategy & 
Change

Programme and Project Management      
    Agree a Corporate approach to Project Management, including 

requirement of full business cases for major projects
   Suite of Programme and Project Documentation Agreed
   Corporate Transformation PMO established
   Programme and Project Management System Implementation

Dec 2021 Late 2022
Complete

May 2022
Late 2022
Late 2022

P
age 203



34 35

Theme 3 – Strategic Direction 

Introduction 

The objective of this theme is to build processes and 
mechanisms that help the council to stay focused on 
our longer-term goals and implement principles within 
the Corporate Plan. This is especially important during 
this period of rapid organisational change. 

The Grant Thornton Review identified the 
disproportionate amount of time spent in recent years 
on ‘fire-fighting’ which has limited the space to think 
clearly about the long-term plans and undertake 
the strategic thinking required. The Corporate Peer 
Challenge remarked on the huge potential to be 
unlocked in the Borough commenting that a key part 
of this is the regeneration agenda. The Regeneration 
Strategy and Pipeline received approval in March 2022 
setting out how future needs across housing, transport, 
education and skills will be achieved. 

Effective long-term planning across all areas of council 
business is essential. The refresh of the Corporate Plan 

was a significant milestone achieved in 2021 which 
provides a clear overall set of aims for the council.  
Central to achieving this is the review of the Medium-
Term Financial Plan which will ensure that resources are 
in place to enable us to meet our priorities, and a set of 
key strategies which will help to set out the route map 
to achieve our longer-term goals. 

This theme also includes actions to ensure that the 
budget setting process and our understanding of how 
we are performing considers the results from public 
consultation and engagement. The commitment to 
run a regular Resident Survey will provide a means to 
maintain ongoing engagement with the community in 
order to inform key decision making.

Good progress has already been made, with a series of 
key strategies approved in early 2022 which have now 
moved into the delivery phase.  

Objectives  

The overall objectives of this theme are to:  

    Ensure that focus is maintained on longer-term 
direction through effective strategies being in place 
to support our Corporate Plan outcomes 

    Ensure that sustainable financial planning is in place 
that is aligned to our priorities  

    Conduct consultation and use the findings to inform 
budget setting and our understanding of how the 
council is performing.  

 

Workstreams and Aims  

    Medium Term Financial Plan and Capital Strategy 
– to put in place a sustainable financial plan aligned 
to priorities 

    Strategy development and refresh – to develop or 
refresh key strategies in response to service issues 
and opportunities identified by the external reviews 

    Locality Working – to develop a model for locality 
working  

    Consultation and engagement – to utilise public 
consultation outcomes to shape the budget setting 
process, and inform our intelligence around how the 
organisation is performing 

 

P
age 204



36 37

Key Milestones:  Key Deliverables  

    Strategies: 

 • Regeneration Strategy and Pipeline 

 • Early Help Strategy 

 • Corporate Parenting Strategy 

 • Corporate Asset Management Strategy 

 • HRA 30 Year Business Plan 

 • Corporate Procurement Strategy 

 • Communications and Corporate Affairs Strategy 

 • Commercial Strategy 

 • Equality Policy 

 • Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 

    Medium Term Financial Plan 

    Resident’s Survey

    Public Consultation outcomes around budget setting 

    Model for locality working

 

Evidence of Success  

When we are maintaining focus on our long-term plans, 
we will see evidence of: 

     Improvements to the Corporate Plan outcome 
measures  

     Sustainable financial planning in place, aligned to 
priorities 

      Consultation and engagement, shaping strategic 
direction and financial planning 

      Examples of Sandwell’s national profile 
showcasing the good work of the council 

 

Approval of Communications and Corporate Affairs Strategy 

Approval of Regeneration Strategy and Pipeline 

Early Help Strategy approved and launched

Achieved March 2022

Review of Medium Term Financial Plan completed 

Corporate Procurement Strategy approved 

Commercial Strategy Approved 

Regular Resident Survey in place

Equalities Policy approved

July 2022

Public Consultation to be carried out as part of budget process

Approval of Medium-Term Financial Plan and Capital Strategy

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy approved

Autumn 2022  

Corporate Asset Management Strategy Approved 

Corporate Parenting Strategy Refresh Approved
September 2022

HRA 30 Year Business Plan approved Spring 2023

Model for Locality Working Approved Spring 2023

P
age 205



38 39

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Strategic Direction) Start Date Due date

Strategy 
development 
and refresh

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 1

Director- 
Regeneration & 
Growth

Regen Pipeline Development and Delivery    
   Cabinet Approval of Regen Strategy and Pipeline 2022-27
   Pipeline projects monitored on a 6-monthly basis
   Internal infrastructure established for delivery - 

     o  Programme and Project Management Structures in place 
     o  Programme Management Software Procurement 
     o  Project Management Software procurement 
     o   Microsite creation for information around priority projects for 

stakeholders 

Autumn 2021

Mar 2022

2027
Complete
Ongoing
Mar 2023

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 2
Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
15, 16

Director- 
Regeneration and 
Growth

Corporate Asset Management Strategy Development
       Work Place Vision   
   Confirmation of funding for remaining Workplace Vision components 

       Transforming Local Services
   Cabinet Workshop to provide steer
   Options for hub locations identified

       Asset Review
   Procurement of asset database 
   Implementation of new Asset Database 

       Surplus Assets & commercial estate
   Maximising Value out of surplus assets portfolio – Cabinet report 
   Corporate Asset Management Strategy Approved

Autumn 2021

Mar  2022
Jun 2022

May  2022

Sep 2022

Autumn ‘22 
linked to MTFP

Complete
Sep 2022

Complete
Dec 2022

Jul 2022
Sep 2022

Strategic Direction Delivery plan

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Strategic Direction) Start Date Due date

Strategy 
development 
and refresh

Grant Thornton 
Key Rec 5 
Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
11
Corporate Peer 
Challenge Rec 21

Director- Business 
Strategy and 
Change

Communications and Corporate Affairs Strategy Development  
and Delivery    
   Corporate Communications Strategy approved
    Communications Team restructure concluded to focus resources on 

key workstreams of Communications Strategy 

Autumn 2021 Ongoing

Complete
May 2022

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 2

Director- Finance Refresh and embed the Corporate Procurement Strategy  
   Procurement & Contract Procedure Rules approved
   Training developed
   Training delivered  

Autumn 2021

Autumn 2022

Jul 2022
May 2022

Dec 2022

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 2

Director- Finance Develop and implement the Commercial Strategy      
   Commercial Strategy Approved 
   Business Cases Presented for commercial workstreams 

Autumn 2021 Jul 2022
Jul 2022
Jun 2022

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 2

Director- Housing HRA 30 year Business Plan      
   Review of compliance and stock data  
   HRA Business Plan developed 
   HRA Business Plan approved (in line with budget approval 2023-24)

Autumn 2021

May 2022

Apr 2023
May 2022
Mar 2023
Apr 2023

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 1

Director- Children 
& Education

Refresh the Early Help Strategy 
   Launch of Early Help Strategy 

Autumn 2021 Mar 2022
Complete

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 1

Director- Children 
& Education

Refresh Corporate Parenting Strategy 
   Re-focusing of strategic priorities 
   Corporate Parenting Strategy approved 

Jan 2022 Sep 2022
Sep 2022

P
age 206



40 41

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Strategic Direction) Start Date Due date

Equality and 
Diversity

Corporate Peer 
Challenge Rec12

Director- Law & 
Governance

Equality and Diversity  
   Continue to embed Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) staff networks
   Establish Women’s network and Faith & Belief staff network
   Continue to deliver on Equalities Commission Board priorities
   Equality Policy reviewed
   Equality Policy approved
   EDI Workforce action plan review
   Approval of EDI Workforce plan
   Review approach to Equality Impact Assessments
   Review of Council EDI decision making process
   Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy approved
    Embed equalities, diversity and inclusion within Member and Officer 

Development Programmes

Autumn  2021
Ongoing
Jun 2022
Ongoing
May 2022
Jul  2022
Jun 2022
Mar 2023
Summer 2022
Summer 2022
Autumn 2022
Early 2023

Ongoing
Ongoing
Dec 2022
Ongoing
Jun 2022
Jul 2022
Dec 2022
Mar 2023
Autumn  2022
Autumn 2022
Autumn 2022
Early 2023

Locality 
Working

Corporate Peer 
Challenge Rec 18

Director – 
Housing
Director – 
Business Strategy 
and Change

Developing a model for locality working
   Cabinet Workshop to provide steer on community hubs model
   Pilot of Town Co-ordinator role commences
   Customer Access Strategy Development Commences
   Business Cases for hub locations progressed, as appropriate

Mar 2022
Complete
Summer 2022
Sep 2022
Sep 2022

TBC
Complete
Summer 2022
Sep 2022
Spring 2023

Strategic Direction Delivery plan

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Strategic Direction) Start Date Due date

MTFP & Capital 
Strategy

CIPFA 4.3 Director- Finance Fundamental review of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP)  and 
Capital Strategy     
   Review concluded 
   Approval of MTFP and Capital Strategy 

Jan 2022 Autumn 2022
Jul 2022
Autumn 2022

Consultation 
and 
Engagement

CIPFA 4.4 Director- Finance 
and Director 
Business Strategy 
and Change

Public Consultation to be carried out as part of budget process for 
2023/24     
    Procurement concluded to provide capacity for a regular  

Resident’s Survey
   Public Consultation undertaken 
   Public Consultation outcomes inform budget setting 

Jan 2022

Autumn 2022

Autumn 2022

May  2022

Autumn 2022
Autumn  2022

Corporate Peer 
Challenge 5, 
Grant Thornton 
Key Rec 6

Director -  
Business Strategy 
and Change

Incorporate Public Consultation Results into Performance 
Management Framework    
    First Resident’s Survey conducted 
   First report from Resident’s Survey
    Survey results embedded within PMF and used to inform insight into 

how the Council is performing

Autumn 2022

Autumn  2022
Autumn  2022
Autumn  2022

May 2023

Autumn  2022
Autumn  2022
May  2023

P
age 207



42 43

Theme 4 – Decision Making 

Introduction 

Effective decision making covers many strands and 
impacts on every aspect of the council’s business. 
Fundamentally, our structure and how we are governed 
and managed needs to be transparent and fit for 
purpose and we must be clear how our communities 
inform the decisions we take. Delivering improvements 
to our decision making processes will ensure that the 
right checks, balances and internal challenge is in place 
whilst at the same time ensuring that the systems in 
place do not hinder or stifle progress. 

The Grant Thornton Review highlighted a perception 
of poor progress in resolving service and governance 
issues, a lack of trust between key individuals charged 
with governance and of reviews being reopened, 
such as the reopening of previous standards reviews. 
The Review stated that these issues had clearly 
impacted upon the council’s ability to focus on service 
improvement. It went on to suggest that the scheme 
of delegation and the involvement of senior members 

in key decision making had resulted in a lack of 
empowerment of officers and a lack of agility to enable 
the council to make prompt decisions when required. 

 The LGA Corporate Peer Challenge stated that a review 
of the Constitution was required and stressed that this 
must be fundamental in nature, drawing on experienced 
external input with extensive engagement of managers 
across the council and elected members. They also 
recommended that the Scheme of Delegation should be 
a key component of this review. In addition, the Corporate 
Peer Challenge identified the valuable contributions to be 
gained from an effective scrutiny function. 

The CIPFA Financial Management Review identified 
that the budget setting process had historically 
lacked member engagement and did not focus on 
key authority objectives within a good governance 
framework that included an adequate check and 
challenge process at a political and operational level. 
They also recommended that financial governance 

and decision-making arrangements are reviewed 
and strengthened from both a political and officer 
perspective. 

 Work is already underway to address the issues 
highlighted by these external reviews. For instance, 
a Governance Review Project is being delivered 
which looks to review decision making structures 
and constitutional arrangements. This includes the 
review of corporate governance documents policy 
and procedures to ensure alignment with national 
best practice and the Council’s Corporate Governance 
Framework. Our approach to this project has been 
strengthened by taking on board the comments 
in these external reviews. Recognising the need to 
develop a good organisational culture, we will engage 
with members on roles and expectations so that our 
decision making framework reflects the new culture. We 
are also exploring moving to a four-yearly election cycle 
with options due to be considered by Leadership Team 
in June 2022.  

Objectives  

The overall objectives of this theme are to:   

    Review and refresh key corporate governance 
documents laying the foundations for robust 
decision-making audit and scrutiny and culture 
change 

    Create a clear and strong role for scrutiny and audit 
and embed in practice 

   Explore options around a four yearly electoral cycle 

 

 

 

Workstreams and Aims  

    4 yearly election cycle- Explore options around a 
four yearly electoral cycle 

    Constitution and Governance Framework - Review 
and revise corporate governance documents 

    Role and Function of Scrutiny and Audit - Refresh 
the roles of scrutiny and audit bringing them to 
the fore of the council’s governance assurance, and 
policy development framework 

 

 

  

P
age 208



44 45

Key Deliverables   

   Decision on election cycle 

   Updated Key Governance Documents  

   Revised Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules  

   Revised Financial Regs  

   Revised scheme of Delegations  

   Revised Council Procedure Rules  

   Revised Sale of Land and Buildings Protocol  

   Scrutiny Work Programme 

  

Evidence of Success  

When demonstrating clear and effective decision-
making, we will see evidence of:  

    Decision reports written which set out options and 
an assessment of their impact on outcomes for 
residents 

    Evidence of effective scrutiny work through robust 
scrutiny review / input into priority areas 

    Audit input driving assurance and improvement 

    Commissioners’ role embedded and understood 
across the Council 

 

 

 

Review of scrutiny arrangements  April 2022 

Approval of any changes to scrutiny (if required following review) May 2022

Options Paper to Leadership Team for 4 yearly election cycle 

Scrutiny work planning event 
June 2022  

Council Decision on options for alternative election cycle  Date TBC following options paper to 
Leadership Team in June 2022

Revised Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules agreed 

Revised Financial Regulations agreed 

Revised Council Procedure Rules 

July 2022

Revised Sale of Land and Buildings Protocol  August 2022

Implementation of Scrutiny Recommendations for SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disability) Transport and Waste September 2022

Completion of ARAC report and recommendations in relation to governance issues raised (SEND Transport, Waste Contract) 

Revised scheme of Delegations agreed
October 2022

Key Milestones:  

P
age 209



46 47

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Decision making) Start Date Due date

4 yearly election 
cycle

Statutory 
Direction 

Director-  Law 
Governance

Implement 4-yearly election cycle     
   Options Paper to Leadership Team 
   Council Decision to implement 

May 2022 Sep 2023
June 2022
TBC

Constitution 
and Governance 
Framework 

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 1, 2.
Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
15,19, 21, 27
CIPFA 4.2, 
Corporate Peer 
Challenge Rec 6 

Director-  Law 
Governance

In-depth review and revision to Corporate Governance Documents   
   Effective Decision Making Training
   Revised Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules agreed 
   Revised Financial Regs agreed 
   Revised Council Procedure Rules 
   Revised Sale of Land and Buildings Protocol 
   Revised Scheme of Delegations agreed 

Dec 2021

Jul 2022

Oct 2022
Sep 2022
Jul 2022
Jul 2022
Jul 2022
Aug 2022
Oct 2022

Grant Thornton 
Improvement  
Rec 19, 20

Director-  Law & 
Governance

Refresh existing arrangements for arms-length companies
    Identify existing arms-length companies, company directors and 

company administration
    Conduct review to ensure appropriate resources are allocated to 

these organisations
    Implement annual reporting arrangements

Jan 2022

Apr 2022
May 2022

Jul 2022

Apr 2022
Jul 2022

Jul 2022

Decision Making Delivery plan 

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Decision making) Start Date Due date

Role and 
Function of 
Scrutiny and 
Audit

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 1
Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
4, 12, 17, 22

Director-  Law 
Governance

Refresh decision making-arrangements including the role of Scrutiny   
   Review of scrutiny arrangements  
   Scrutiny Work Planning event 
   Approval of any changes to scrutiny (if required following review) 

Dec 2021 July 2022
Complete
Jun 2022
Jul 2022

Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
17, 22

Director-  Law 
Governance
Director- Children 
&  Education
Scrutiny

Implementation of Scrutiny Recommendations relating to key issues     
    SEND Transport recommendations relating to procurement 

concluded 
    Recommendations relating to Waste Contract concluded

Dec 2021
Early 2022

Sep 2022
Sep 2022

Dec 2022

Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
34

Chief Executive
Director- Law & 
Governance

Manage position on historic issues through work with ARAC chair    Dec 2021 Ongoing

Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
4,  17, 34

Director- Law & 
Governance

ARAC report and recommendations in relation to SEND Transport     
    Completion of report and recommendations

Dec 2021 Oct 2022
Oct 2022

P
age 210



48 49

Theme 5 – Procurement and Commercial 

Introduction 

Effective procurement, commercial decisions and 
contract management are important to the council to 
make sure that value for money is achieved and that our 
commercial decisions focus on outcomes for residents. 

Procurement and commercial decisions have been a 
factor identified in many of the key issues facing the 
council - in relation to major contracts (such as Sandwell 
Leisure Trust, Serco and Sandwell Children’s Trust), 
procurements (including SEND Transport) and property 
related-issues (including Lion Farm). 

The Grant Thornton Review identified common themes 
around procurements that had been either poorly 
specified, had insufficient timescales, or decision-
makers had not been fully aware of context and detail. 
In addition, key contracts were found to have been 
impacted by: 

   A lack of clear contract management responsibility  

   Poorly defined approaches to contract management  

    A lack of appropriate focus on performance 
indicators, service quality or outcomes.  

Immediate steps have been taken following the Grant 
Thornton Review and decisions have already been 
made by Cabinet to resolve the specific procurement 
and contract issues raised. This includes decisions being 
made around Lion Farm, SEND Transport, Sandwell 
Leisure Trust and the Oracle Fusion delivery contract.  

Actions now need to focus on concluding delivery 
of some these issues, embedding changes, and 
conducting effective procurement around systems that 
will support delivery of the Improvement Plan. 

Objectives  

The overall objectives of this theme are to:  

    Conclude procurement and commercial matters in 
relation to key legacy issues 

    Ensure that learning in relation to issues around 
commercial decisions, procurement and contract 
management are understood across the council  

    Ensure corporate ownership and effective contract 
management of major contracts 

    Ensure that major contracts have an effective focus 
on service quality and outcomes 

    Conduct effective procurement for the new systems 
that are needed to support the delivery of the 
council’s improvement plan 

 

Workstreams and Aims  

    Leisure Contract - to plan for the future delivery 
of leisure facilities that will enable increased 
participation in leisure activities 

    SEND Transport – to award the contract within 
timescales to ensure focus on service quality and 
flexibility of provision meets the needs of children 
and young people 

    Lion Farm – to implement agreed action plan to 
provide a future for the site 

    Waste Contract – to implement effective 
contract management arrangements that enable 
improvements in street cleansing and bin collections 

    Performance Management System – to assess 
options and procure, as appropriate, a Performance 
Management System that supports the council to 
manage performance effectively 

    Asset Management System – to procure and 
implement a system that delivers the required 
information to improve asset management and 
financial reporting 

P
age 211



50 51

Termination notice for SLT contract approved by Cabinet February 2022 

Revised contract governance arrangements in place for Serco contract 

Asset Management System Procured 
March 2022

SEND Transport procurement published May 2022

Waste and Recycling recovery plan – Implementation complete June 2022

Option appraisal for future leisure management options Summer 2022

Street Cleansing Recovery Plan: 
•  Approved; and  
•  implemented 

July 2022  
March 2023

Serco contract performance reporting embedded in PMF August 2022

Review of Serco contract completed 

New SEND Transport contract in place 

SEND Transport Contract Monitoring arrangements in place 

Implementation of Asset Management System 

September 2022

Lion Farm report to Cabinet on determination of position of developer Dec 2022  

Arrangement in place for future delivery of leisure services May 2023  

Fleet replacement complete  Mid 2023  

Key Milestones:  

Key Deliverables   

    Options appraisal for future delivery of Leisure 
Services 

    Contract Governance Arrangements for Serco 
contract 

    Review of Serco Contract 

    SEND Transport Contract 

    Asset Management System 

    Performance Management System 

    Lessons learnt around procurement, commercial and 
contract issues  documented 

 

Evidence of Success  

When we have robust systems and processes around 
procurement, commercial matters and contracts, we will 
see evidence of: 

   Key contracts being effectively managed 

    Improved outcomes from key contracts and 
commercial decisions as demonstrated by 
performance indicators for leisure, and waste 

   Lessons learnt documented 

  

P
age 212



52 53

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Procurement and Commercial) Start Date Due date

Waste Contract Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 1 

Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
23

Director - Borough 
Economy

Introduction of a more focused framework for contract monitoring    
   Contract Monitoring Framework agreed 
    Contract Management framework in place and embedded in PMF 

reporting – (in line with Q1)

Autumn 2021 Aug 2022
Complete
Aug 2022

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 1

Director - Borough 
Economy

Review of the contract to refocus our communications and contract 
monitoring in areas of poor performance and to ensure the council 
receives the full provisions within the contract from Serco    
   Procurement of support to review contract 
   Review of contract completed 
   Recommendations reviewed 
   Recommendations adopted, as appropriate 
   Delivery of recommendations – as appropriate

Autumn 2021 Jan 2023

May 2022
Sep 2022
Oct 2022
Jan 2023
TBC

Grant Thornton 
Improvement  
Rec 22

Director - Borough 
Economy

Waste and Recycling Recovery Plan – completion and 
implementation    
   Implementation Complete 

Jun 2022

Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
22

Director - Borough 
Economy

Street Cleansing Recovery Plan – completion and implementation    
   Recovery Plan approved by Waste Management Board 
   Recovery plan implemented

Autumn 2021 Mar 2023
Jul 2022
Mar 2023

Grant Thornton 
Improvement  
Rec 24

Director - Borough 
Economy

Manage the delayed Serco Fleet replacement programme in line with 
the requirements of the contract    
   Fleet replacement schedule in place
   Fleet replacement complete 

Autumn 2021 Mid 2023

Complete
Mid 2023

Procurement and Commercial Delivery plan 

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Procurement and Commercial) Start Date Due date

SEND Transport Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
17, 18

Director – Children 
& Education
Director- Finance

Plan in place to ensure new contract commences prior to expiry of 
current arrangements and appropriate records in place    
   Cabinet approval 
   Procurement commenced 
   Contract Review with DfE 
   Procurement published for framework 
   Expiry of current arrangements – end of 2021-22 Academic Year 
   New contract in place 
   Contract Monitoring Arrangements in Place 

Jan 2022 Sep 2022

Complete
Complete
May 2022
May 2022 
Jul 2022
Sep 2022
Sep 2022

Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
17

Director- Law & 
Governance
Scrutiny
Director – Children 
& Education

Implementation of recommendations from Audit and Scrutiny in 
relation to SEND Transport  
    Scrutiny Recommendations embedded in plans for new arrangements 
   Update to Education Scrutiny 
    Recommendations related to procurement embedded in 

procurement process 
    ARAC recommendations implemented 

Autumn 2021 Sep 2022

Complete
Complete
Sept 2022

Oct 2022

P
age 213



54 55

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Procurement and Commercial) Start Date Due date

New system 
procurement

Grant Thornton 
Key Rec 6

Director- Business 
Strategy & Change

Explore implementation of a corporate performance management 
system  
    Options Appraisal 
   Business Case and Implementation Plan Considered 

Jun 2021

Sep 2022

TBC based on 
selected option 

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 2
CIPFA Ref 2.1

Director – 
Regeneration & 
Growth

Procurement of new asset management system  
   Market Research 
   Procurement Concluded 
   Implementation 

Autumn 2021 Dec 2022
Complete
Complete
Dec 2022

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Procurement and Commercial) Start Date Due date

Lion Farm Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 1
Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
25, 26

Director – 
Regeneration & 
Growth

Action plan to agree way forward and resolve matter  
   o  Brief Cabinet on options
   o   Presentation of proposal by developer to Cabinet
   o   Options appraisal report to Cabinet for approval of way forward
   Implement approved way forward
    Responsibilities of both council and developer clarified within  

action plan

Dec 2021

 
Feb 2022

TBC
Complete
Complete
Complete

Est. Dec 2022

Leisure Contract Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 1
Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
14

Director - Borough 
Economy

Governance arrangements to manage, develop and support the 
current and future delivery of leisure services across the borough, 
including the new Aquatic Centre    
   Governance arrangements in place 
   Termination of existing Contract 
   Step-in provider in place
    Option appraisal for future facility management options–  

Cabinet report  
   Arrangement in place for future delivery of leisure facilities 

Autumn 2021 May 2023

Complete
Complete

Summer 2022

May 2023

P
age 214



56 57

Theme 6 – Partnerships and Relationships 

Introduction 

The council needs strong effective working 
relationships with all its partners in Sandwell and 
the region to deliver the best possible outcomes for 
residents and the whole borough.  This theme is seeking 
to further develop our connections and strengthen our 
relationships so that they are sustainable over time and 
are built on mutual respect and trust. 

The LGA Corporate Peer Challenge praised the council’s 
relationships at a local level stating that these had 
been consolidated and strengthened during the 
pandemic.  The review also recognised that the council’s 
relationships and related governance arrangements 
with Sandwell Children’s Trust were strong and that 
the council was working hard with schools and 
many partners across the Borough to improve early 
intervention arrangements. 

The LGA recommended simplifying the governance and 
partnership arrangements across both the children’s 
and adults’ spheres along with a “clear and creative 
whole-system plan” to address health inequalities. In 
regard to the voluntary sector, the LGA suggested that 

the authority and the voluntary and community sector 
undertake a joint project to develop a clear strategic 
view of the role of that sector going forward and mutual 
expectations within this.  

Sandwell has made good progress on its improvement 
journey in respect of partnerships and relationships 
so far. The council has now established joint strategic 
planning meetings with Sandwell Children’s Trust which 
is strengthening the constructive working relationship. 
The Sandwell Health and Social Care Partnership (SHCP) 
has been established for agencies to come together 
and agree practical approaches to delivering services. 
There is a clear relationship in place between the SHCP 
and the Health & Wellbeing Board to ensure that these 
two partnerships work in tandem to focus on improving 
outcomes for Sandwell’s residents.  

In terms of Sandwell’s ambitious economic agenda, 
the Sandwell Aquatics Centre has been delivered on 
time and on budget for the upcoming Commonwealth 
Games. New infrastructure developments such as the 
Midland Metropolitan University Hospital and the 
new Midland Metro line provide catalysts for wider 
regeneration. 

The LGA stated that the council needed to become 
much more “visible and engaged at the sub-regional 
and regional level with partners across the Black 
Country and the West Midlands” but recognised that the 
council is becoming more active at this level. The CIPFA 
Financial Management Review suggested that the 
council needed to clarify its offer to and ask of partners 
to be more effective.

The council will re-establish itself as an active partner 
in key regional and sub regional partnerships such as 
West Midlands Combined Authority, West Midlands 
Growth Company and Black Country Local Enterprise 
Partnership. Sandwell is actively participating in the 
trailblazer devolution deal with a clear set of ‘asks’ 
now in place so that Sandwell can benefit from the 
devolution of powers, responsibilities and resources 
from central government especially in relation to 
achieving net carbon zero.

The council is taking staff, residents, partners and 
members with it on this improvement journey and 
this will build trust and confidence in its joint ability to 
deliver. 

Objectives  

The overall objectives of this theme are to:   

   I mprove Sandwell Council’s standing with key 
partners and professional bodies at national, 
regional and local level 

   Improve corporate approach to partner relationships 

    Determine the future relationship between Sandwell 
Council and the VCS and the approach to funding 

 

Workstreams and Aims  

    Sandwell Children’s Trust – to establish a corporate 
approach to working with SCT on shared issues and 
continue with robust governance arrangements 
ensuring accountability of SCT to deliver improved 
outcomes for children and young people.  

    Regional and Sub-regional presence – continue to 
develop relationships with regional and sub regional 
bodies in order to raise Sandwell Council’s profile. 

    Effective Local Structures – to review partnership 
structures within the ‘People’s sphere’ and use a 
whole-system approach to working on shared issues 
with partners.  

    VCS relationship – to review the relationship with 
VCS including the funding approach  

 

  

 

P
age 215



58 59

Key Deliverables   

   Revised KPI suite for SCT contract  

   SCT contract review  

   CRSTS allocation 

   Trailblazer devolution deal  

   Health and Wellbeing strategy 

   VCS Strategy 

    Revised partnership structures in children’s area of 
People’s sphere  

Evidence of Success  

When we have effective partnerships and relationships 
at all levels, we will see evidence of:  

   Improved outcomes for children and young people 
in Sandwell evidenced in KPIs 

   Improved external review outcomes 

    Regular and active presence at regional and sub 
regional meetings resulting in more opportunities 
linked to Sandwell’s priorities (e.g. Sandwell’s 
financial asks realised) 

    Improved performance in outcomes on the impact of 
health inequalities on individuals  

    Clear understanding of the relationship between the 
Council and the VCS that is embedded in practice – 
evidenced by feedback from VCS 

  

 Regular cross-SMBC/SCT Leadership meetings in place Achieved Feb 2022

City Region Sustainable Transport Scheme approved by CA Board

Sandwell asks of trailblazer devolution deal agreed

Officer representation agreed to key regional and sub-regional meetings and clear 

Achieved March 2022 

VCS Grants review update report to Leadership Team May 2022

Member representation to key regional and sub-regional meetings agreed June 2022

Health and Wellbeing Strategy July 2022

SCT Contract performance reporting embedded within Council PMF August 2022

Review of SCT Contract concludes Summer 2022

Quarterly system-wide deep dives conducted for health inequality March 2023

VCS Strategy formation commences 2023

Key Milestones:  

P
age 216



60 61

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Partnerships and Relationships) Start Date Due date

Regional and 
Sub-regional 
presence

Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
10
Corporate Peer 
Challenge pg13

Director- 
Regeneration & 
Growth

Cabinet

Chief Executive

Continue to develop the relationship with and actively participate in 
regional and sub-regional bodies (e.g. WM Combined Authority, Black 
Country LEP) to maximise opportunities for Sandwell

    Officer representation agreed to attend key meetings and a clear agenda 
set for each forum 

   Sandwell asks of trailblazer devolution deal agreed 

   Participation in Investor Conference

   CRSTS allocation (transport) approved by CA Board

    Member representation to attend key meetings agreed and agenda 
for each forum shared

Jan 2022

Complete

Complete
Complete
Complete
Jun 2022

Effective Local 
Structures

Corporate Peer 
Challenge Rec 3

Director – 
Children and 
Education
Director-Adult 
Social Care
Director- Public 
Health

Review partnership structures within the ‘People’s sphere’

    Partnership structures in relation to transition from children’s to adults in 
place

    Initial scoping of work with partners around partnership structures in 
the children’s sphere 

Mar 2022

In place

Sept 2022

Corporate Peer 
Challenge Rec 14

Director-Adult 
Social Care
Director- Public 
Health

    Develop Health & Wellbeing Strategy that builds on existing whole 
system approach to addressing health inequalities

    Test adequacy of partnerships and integration through Health 
Outcomes Framework and system-wide thematic deep dives

Apr 2022

Apr 2022

Jul 2022 

Jul 2022

VCS relationship Corporate Peer 
Challenge Rec 11

Leadership Team Relationship with Voluntary & Community Sector (VCS) and Funding to 
Voluntary & Community Sector.

   Corporate review of grant funding 
   VCS Strategy formation commences

Mar 2022

Mar 2022

2023

2023

Sep 2022

2023

Workstream Reference Lead Actions (Partnerships and Relationships) Start Date Due date

Sandwell 
Children’s Trust

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 1
Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
13

Director Children 
& Education

Continue with robust governance arrangements in place ensuring the 
accountability of SCT to deliver improved outcomes for children and 
young people in Sandwell in line with the contract
    Performance reporting embedded within Council PMF 

    KPI Suite reviewed
    Revised KPI suite agreed
    Review of Contract concludes

Autumn 2021 
 
 
Jan 2022

Mar 2022
Summer  2022

Ongoing

Aug 2022 and 
then quarterly
Summer 2022
Summer 2022
Summer 2022

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 1
Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
13

Director Children 
& Education

Establish and maintain positive relationship between SMBC and SCT at 
senior officer and member level
•  Continuation of regular cross- SMBC/SCT Leadership meetings in  

place (including Chair of Trust Board, Lead Member, CEO of the Trust 
and DCS)

•  Confirm Member participation in Governance Arrangements for new 
Municipal Year 

 Autumn 2021 Ongoing

Ongoing

Jun 2022

Grant Thornton 
Statutory Rec 1
Grant Thornton 
Improvement Rec 
13

Director Children 
& Education

Establish corporate approach to working with SCT on shared issues, 
such as corporate parenting and delivery of Early Help service
     Continuation of arrangements for strategic priorities to be shared 

across the partnership and include a series of joint work. Initial focus 
areas are corporate parenting and early help.

     Assurance that approach to working together is effective through 
regular programme of performance reports

Autumn 2021 Ongoing 
 
Ongoing
 
 
Aug 2022 and 
then ongoing

Partnerships and Relationships Delivery plan 

P
age 217



P
age 218



 

 
 
 

Improvement Plan Risk Register   
    

June 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
1. Best start in 
life for children 

and young 
people 

     
2. People live 
well and age 

well 

3. Strong resilient 
communities 

4. Quality homes in 
thriving 

neighbourhoods 

5. A strong and 
inclusive 
economy 

6. A connected 
and accessible 

Sandwell 

      

Page 219

Agenda Item 7



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Current 
risk score 

(May 
2022) 

Target risk 
score 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

IP1 Improvement Plan objectives 
and member / officer 
engagement in those 
objectives 
If programme objectives are not 
clearly defined to ensure they 
are within scope, deliverable, 
understood and agreed then 
the programme will proceed 
with no clear direction and may 
become unmanageable and/or 
scope creep may take place. 

6 
(Green) 

3  
(Green) 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Engagement as part of the development of the 

Improvement Plan - sharing themes and 
workstreams with staff and members 

• Communications Plan implemented for 
governance review, CPC and Statutory Notice 

• Communications Approach set out in 
Improvement Plan 

• Objectives for each Theme within the 
Improvement Plan identified 

• Set of key messages for stakeholders in place and 
issued to all Directors 

• Council approval of Improvement Plan 
• All Member briefing held (incl. newly elected 

Members) 
 

Further Actions 
• Communications Plan delivered 
• Staff and member engagement through 

Organisational Culture change programme 

Across all risks, 
sources of 
assurance are: 
• Leadership 

Team 
Improvement 
Review 
Meetings 

• Cabinet  
• Audit and Risk 

Assurance 
Committee 

• Scrutiny 
• Commissioners 
• PMF indicators 
• External 

Assurance –
Grant 
Thornton, 
CIPFA, LGA 
Peer Challenge 

 
As noted in risk IP4 
below roles of 
Cabinet, Scrutiny 
and Audit to be 
agreed with Chairs.  

 
IP2 Programme management 

arrangements 
If appropriate programme 
management arrangements are 
not put in place then there is a 
risk that: 

8 
(Amber) 

4  
(green) 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Improvement Plan approved by Council 07/06/22 
• PMO support being provided by existing 

experienced resources within Service 
Improvement 

As above 

P
age 220



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Current 
risk score 

(May 
2022) 

Target risk 
score 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

• The project will not be 
delivered to scope 

• The required 
improvements will not 
be made within the 
necessary timescales 

• The government may 
lose confidence in the 
council's ability to 
improve and 
intervention may be 
extended 

• The borough's 
residents may lose 
confidence in the 
council ability to deliver 
effective services 

• Inefficient use of limited 
resources 

• Continued reputational 
damage 

 
 

• Processes around progress monitoring and 
change control established for Governance 
Improvement Plan 

• Risk register in place and will be reported to 
Leadership Team monthly and Cabinet quarterly 
 

Further Actions 
• Establishment of dedicated Programme 

Management Office 
• Terms of Reference for internal Improvement Plan 

Review Meeting updated to reflect government 
intervention, single Improvement Plan and 
assurance framework 

• Approach and processes for change control, 
issues, and escalations to be agreed and 
embedded 

 
 
 

IP3 Allocation of sufficient 
resources to project 
management and project 
delivery/ maintaining 
Business as Usual while 
delivering the Improvement 
plan 
If sufficient resources (capacity 
and capability) and where 
necessary additional resources 
are not allocated to the 
management and delivery of 
the improvement plan then this 

8 
(Amber) 

4  
(green) 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• PMO support being provided by existing 

experienced resources within Service 
Improvement 

• Resource gaps / pressures associated with 
actions within the Improvement Plan have been 
identified 

• Council on 07/06/22 approved Use of 
Improvement & Capacity Reserve and 2021/22 
underspend allocated to Improvement Plan 
actions 

 

As above 

P
age 221



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Current 
risk score 

(May 
2022) 

Target risk 
score 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

may result in officer fatigue, 
loss of motivation and the 
programme will fail to deliver all 
of its objectives. 

Further Actions 
• Establishment of dedicated Programme 

Management Office 
• Recruitment to posts following allocation of 

funding 
• Resource issues and risks associated with the 

Improvement Plan to be reviewed regularly by 
Leadership Team and Register maintained 

IP4 Project and risk governance 
assurance arrangements 
If a robust assurance 
framework is not put in place to 
in respect of project assurance, 
including detailing roles and 
responsibilities of various 
stakeholders (eg Cabinet, 
Scrutiny, ARAC, partners, IB, 
etc) then the council may be 
unable to effectively monitor 
and evidence the improvement 
required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 
Green 

3 
(green) 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Terms of Reference for Improvement Plan Review 

Meeting in place 
• Governance approach included within Council 

report 07/06/22 
• Risk identification has taken place 
• Agreement for Grant Thornton, LGA and CIPFA to 

review progress regularly 
• Improvement Plan Risk Register in place 

 
Further Actions 

• Update Terms of Reference for internal 
Improvement Plan Review Meeting following 
agreement of Cabinet/Scrutiny/Audit 
arrangements 

• Roles of Cabinet, Scrutiny and Audit agreed with 
Chairs 

• Reports to Cabinet, Scrutiny and Audit 
• Review update visit by Grant Thornton arranged 

for Autumn 2022 
• Review update visits by CIPFA arranged for 

Autumn 2022 
• Review update visits by LGA Corporate Peer 

Challenge arranged for Autumn 2022 

As above 

P
age 222



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Current 
risk score 

(May 
2022) 

Target risk 
score 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

 
 

IP5 Communication Strategy 
If a robust communications 
strategy is not put in place 
detailing how, when and what 
information is shared with the 
various internal and external 
stakeholders, then not 
everyone will be aware of their 
respective roles and 
responsibilities for delivering 
the improvement plan and 
effective service delivery. In 
addition, the DLUHC may lose 
confidence in the council's 
ability to improve resulting in 
extended/ additional 
intervention. 

8 
(Amber) 

4 
(green) 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Communications Approach set out in 

Improvement Plan approved by Council 
07/06/22 

• Key messages document for stakeholders in 
place 

 
Further Actions 

• Communications plan prepared including 
specific activities e.g. Live event, 
Improvement Plan briefings 

• Communication with stakeholders to share 
details of Improvement Plan 

As above 

IP6 Investment and Financial 
Resources 
If sufficient/ additional financial 
resources are not made 
available, and the IP is 
expected to be delivered from 
existing budgets then the IP 

12 
(Red) 

8 
(Amber) 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Resource gaps / pressures associated with 

actions within the Improvement Plan identified 
• Council on 07/06/22 approved use of 

Improvement & Capacity Reserve and 2021/22 
underspend allocated to Improvement Plan 
actions 

As above 

P
age 223



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Current 
risk score 

(May 
2022) 

Target risk 
score 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

may not be delivered within the 
necessary timescales or to 
scope. 

 
Further Actions 

• Recruitment to posts following allocation of 
funding 

• Resource issues and risks associated with the 
Improvement Plan to be reviewed regularly by 
Leadership Team and register maintained 

IP7 Organisational Culture 
If the organisational culture 
does not change including 
improvement of member and 
officer relationships and 
political relationships, then this 
will impact the delivery of the IP 
objectives and the timescales 
within which delivery is 
achieved and may result in 
extended government 
intervention. 

8 
(Amber) 

4 
(green) 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Specific theme in place within Improvement 

Plan 
• Corporate Governance Theme timescales 

revised to allow for additional engagement 
activity around Corporate Governance 
changes 

 
Further Actions 

• Actions agreed for organisational culture 
theme 

As above plus 
Employee 
Engagement 
Survey 

IP8 Impact of Covid 19 on the 
Project Resources 
If there is a continued impact of 
Covid 19 on resource 
availability, then this will impact 
the programme delivery plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6 
(Green) 

3 
(green) 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• PMO resourcing in place from within Service 

Improvement 
• Resource gaps / pressures associated with 

actions within the Improvement Plan are being 
identified 

 
Further Actions 

• Single dependencies to be identified within 
resourcing plan 

As above 

P
age 224



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Current 
risk score 

(May 
2022) 

Target risk 
score 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

 

IP9 Governance Policies and 
Procedures 
If key council policies and 
procedures (such as the 
Financial Regulations, Land 
and Asset Disposal Policy, 
Procurement and Contract 
Procedure Rules, Scheme of 
Delegation, Code of Corporate 
Governance, etc) are not 
reviewed and updated to reflect 
the changes required then 
foundations for change will not 
be in place and progress will be 
limited. 

9 
(Amber) 

3 
(green) 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Key corporate Governance Documents are 

being reviewed and are scheduled for 
approval in July 2022 and Autumn 2022 
 

Further Actions 
• Engagement with Members around proposed 

changes 
• Sequencing of activity to be confirmed in light 

of engagement plans for organisational culture 
theme 

As above 

IP10 Performance Management 
Framework (PMF) and Data 
Quality 
If a robust PMF is not put in 
place and appropriate quality 
data captured then the council 
will be unable to effectively 
monitor and evidence 
improvement, delivery of the 
Improvement Plan and delivery 
of the Corporate Plan resulting 
in a failure to achieve the 
Council's objectives. 

12 
(Red) 

8 
(amber) 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Performance Management Framework approved 

in April 2022 
• Evidence of success outlined within each of the 

Improvement Plan themes focusing on outcomes 
for each theme 

• Improvement Plan Monitoring approach approved 
by Council 

• Resources approved by Council to address 
staffing resources required to sustain PMF 

 
Further Actions 

As above 

P
age 225



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Current 
risk score 

(May 
2022) 

Target risk 
score 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

• Q1 Performance Report made to start to 
consolidate and embed PMF 

• Performance Management System options 
appraisal and procurement to provide capability 
for performance management 

• Recruitment to posts 

IP11 Continued focus and 
resources allocated to 
historic issues 
If the council does not focus on 
the Improvement plan and 
corporate plan priorities and 
continues to focus and allocate 
resources on historic issues, 
then this will impact the timely 
delivery of both the 
Improvement Plan and 
Corporate Plan. 

8 
(Amber) 

4 
(green) 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Improvement Plan contains activity to be 

concluded, and lessons learnt embedding from 
historic issues 

• Cabinet and Leadership Team approach to 
historic issues 

 
Further Actions 

• Lessons learnt framework to be introduced. 
Lessons learnt to be collated relating to historic 
issues and shared across organisation 

• Regular monitoring of improvement plan to ensure 
that issues have been addressed 

As above 

IP12 Risk approach and progress 
monitoring (optimism bias):    
If the approach taken to risk 
scoring and/or progress 
monitoring against the delivery 
plans is unrealistic (e.g. being 
overly optimistic around 
progress and timescales or 
likelihood and severity of a risk) 
then there will be a failure to 
appropriately manage the 

9 
(Amber) 

6 
(Green) 

Current and Ongoing Controls  
• Corporate risk scoring definitions applied 
• Definition in place for progress monitoring 

Red/Amber/Green progress monitoring for 
Improvement Plan 

 
Further Actions 

• Assurance to be provided through monitoring 
approach (including consistent use of RAG 
rating) to ensure that progress monitoring is 

As above 

P
age 226



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Current 
risk score 

(May 
2022) 

Target risk 
score 

Progress to Date  
(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further 

actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key Sources of 
Assurance 

programme and a loss of 
confidence in its delivery. 

presenting a realistic view and reflecting risk 
associated with actions as well as progress 
against plans 

 

P
age 227



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Strategic Risk Register Update Report
	1 Recommendations
	2 Reasons for Recommendations
	3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?
	4 Context and Key Issues
	5 Alternative Options
	6 Implications
	7. Appendices
	8. Background Papers
	4a - Appendix 1 – Strategic risk register summary as at June 2022

	6 Council Improvement Plan
	1. Recommendations
	1.1. That Audit and Risk Assurance Committee receive the Improvement Plan agreed by Council on 7 June 2022 and the accompanying risk register as a basis for work planning during 2022-23.
	2. Reasons for Recommendations
	3. How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?
	4. Context and Key Issues
	4.1. Background
	4.1.1. For a number of years, the council has experienced ongoing governance issues that have hindered the organisation from both moving forward and seizing opportunities, despite the desire and ambition to do so.
	4.1.2. As well as successfully responding to the COVID-19 pandemic to support our residents and businesses, the council has continued to deliver high quality services over the period leading up to the Grant Thornton Value for Money Governance Review a...
	4.1.3. Since May 2021, a number of key changes have moved the council forward on its improvement journey including the refresh of the strategic framework in the light of the pandemic, the appointment of an interim Chief Executive in August 2021, and a...
	5 Implications
	6 Appendices
	7. Background Papers
	05a - Appendix 1 - Sandwell MBC Governance Review - FINAL 031221
	05b - Appendix 2 - CIPFA Financial Management Report January 2022
	05c - Appendix 3 - Sandwell LGA Corporate Peer Challenge Report - Final
	05d - Appendix 4 - Sandwell Directions 22 March 2022
	05e - Appendix 5 - Sandwell Directions Explanatory Memorandum
	SANDWELL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL DIRECTIONS UNDER SECTION 15(5) AND (6) OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1999

	05f - Appendix 6 - Sandwell Improvement Plan 7 June 2022 Council

	7 Improvement Plan Risk Register



